

University of Huddersfield Repository

Akbar, Ayema

An exploration of non-native parents' experiences of the UK education system

Original Citation

Akbar, Ayema (2017) An exploration of non-native parents' experiences of the UK education system. Masters thesis, University of Huddersfield.

This version is available at http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/34455/

The University Repository is a digital collection of the research output of the University, available on Open Access. Copyright and Moral Rights for the items on this site are retained by the individual author and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full items free of charge; copies of full text items generally can be reproduced, displayed or performed and given to third parties in any format or medium for personal research or study, educational or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details is credited in any copy;
- A hyperlink and/or URL is included for the original metadata page; and
- The content is not changed in any way.

For more information, including our policy and submission procedure, please contact the Repository Team at: E.mailbox@hud.ac.uk.

http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/



An exploration of non-native parents' experiences of the UK education system

Ayema Akbar U1254797

A thesis submitted to the University of Huddersfield in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science by Research (Human and Health)

> The University of Huddersfield December 2017

Acknowledgement

In the name of God, the Most Gracious, the Most Merciful.

Dedicated to my inspirational grandfather Mohammad Nawaz.

To my parents and siblings; thank you for your unconditional love and support. I would also like to express my gratitude towards Romessa and Zara, I am truly blessed to have you in my life!

Finally, to my supervisor Dr Jane Tobbell, I cannot thank you enough for all of your guidance, support and encouragement throughout this process.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
PROLOGUE	5
SUMMARY OF THESIS	8
LITERATURE REVIEW	9
METHODOLOGY	35
ONTOLOGY	35
EPISTEMOLOGY	35
METHOD	37
SAMPLING TECHNIQUE	37
PARTICIPANTS	38
DATA COLLECTION TECHNIQUE	40
INTERVIEW GUIDE	42
INTERVIEW PROCESS ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS	43 44
DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION	46
ABOUT THEMATIC ANALYSIS	46
HIGH PARENTAL ASPIRATIONS	47
EFFECTIVE PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT	56
BARRIERS TO INCLUSION	62
NAVIGATING ISSUES WITHIN SCHOOLS	74
CONCLUSION	79
KEY FINDINGS & IMPLICATIONS	79
ADDRESSING THE RESEARCH QUESTIONS	82
LIMITATIONS / RECOMMENDATIONS	83-85
REFERENCES	86
APPENDICES	103

Abstract

This study aimed to explore the experiences and histories of non-native parents' and their navigation of the UK education system. Framed on sociocultural understandings of human behaviour, the research employed an interpretative epistemology. An interview re-interview process was carried out with a sample of South Asian mothers. A comprehensive thematic analysis revealed a number of key themes which contribute to a greater understanding of diverse-heritage parental aspirations and involvement. Cultural differences and barriers to inclusion were explored with emphasis on implications for schools and policymakers. The research suggests that it would be highly beneficial in promoting interaction between the community and schools if more attention is paid to helping both parents and teachers alike.

Prologue

In the final year of completing my undergraduate Psychology degree I undertook the Psychology of Education module, which had a lasting impact on my interest within this field. Throughout the module, I developed a passion for challenging existing practises and promoting change. I carried out a case study and interviewed my mother about her 'learning story'.

Some may describe my mother and her 6 siblings as 'Generation 1.5'; an obscure term used to label those who relocated at a young age. They are neither first generation immigrants, nor were they born in the country in which they reside. (Asher, 2011). The literature, however, does not differentiate between labels; the general consensus is that children of immigrants will suffer academically. However, this did not ring true for my family. My aunties, uncles and older cousins had achieved high academically and established careers in a number of respectable fields.

This did not happen by chance. My grandfather, Mohammad Nawaz, migrated to the United Kingdom in 1964. He left behind his job as a science teacher with a BSc (Hons) in Chemistry to work in a factory in order to support his own family and his orphaned nieces. This is a common pattern that characterizes the migration of men in developing countries (Desai & Banerji, 2008). He was also seeking greater opportunities in education for his children. In those days, girls in Pakistan were not encouraged to pursue higher education, and boys were destined to become labourers in order to financially support the household. My grandfather was staunchly opposed to either of these outcomes for the future of any of his children. He therefore moved to England alone and began this new journey. Again, this was the norm as state policies worldwide encouraged solo male migration (Desai & Banerji, 2008). Yabiku, Agadjanian & Sevoyan (2010) explain that in many situations, men's labour migration is a 'purposeful family strategy'. My grandmother joined him in 1966 and came to live in England alongside him. She found the weather too harsh and the food too bland. It wasn't home, and it wasn't comfortable. She returned to Pakistan briefly but relocated to the UK permanently in 1979. This

marked a point in the Nawaz family's story that would have a lasting effect on the generations to come.

Of seven children, all but one (due to age) attended compulsory education upon arrival. Following this, five completed various qualifications which propelled them into careers of their choice. Three of the siblings reached higher education, to the family's delight. All of them managed their varying levels of education whilst juggling cultural expectations, such as getting married and having children. These children formed 'Generation 2' of the Nawaz family.

The literature review I conducted during the case study provided me with an insight into the dispiriting trends concerning immigrant parents and the academic achievement of their children. I am a part of generation 2 in the Nawaz family along with 20 of my first cousins. Every single one of my cousins (of age) have attended university, obtained a degree and achieved a career in a field they love. Such educational and career outcomes contrasted the general trends I was finding within the literature. Therefore, the aim in interviewing my mother was to understand the reasons behind the academic success of families such as mine. This piece of research identified a number of contributory factors to the notable achievements of so many members of my family. My mother and her extended family were found to have created an enabling community of practice within their new society and they also established a culture of success. The research challenged the view of diverseheritage families and the effect on achievement; showing how influential the practices that these families employ can be.

Rationale

The current thesis aims to build upon these findings by exploring the experiences of other parents navigating the UK educational system. A synthesis of various subtopics will first provide an enhanced understanding into the area of diverse-heritage parents and their experiences, practises, involvements and understandings of the educational system. The research will then study the histories and accounts of these parents, interpreting meaning and exploring their accounts from a sociocultural

perspective. This rationale provides the justification for the following research questions.

Research questions:

- How do non-native parents understand the UK education system?
- How do these parents interact or otherwise with the education system?
- How do these parents view education and their children's participation in it?

Summary of Thesis

Literature Review

The literature review covers various factors that immigrants face, which may influence parental involvement. Socioeconomic status is characterised by a number of dimensions, such as parental education and deprivation (APA, n.d.). These elements are discussed in relation to diverse-heritage student's attainment. The achievement gap, parental involvement, aspirations and inclusion within schools are all topics covered in the literature review; explored using sociocultural explanations for human behaviour.

Methodology

The methodological approach for the research emerged from sociocultural understandings of human behaviour; with such ontology demanding an interpretivist epistemology. This allows exploration and meaning interpretations of rich datasets. (Packer & Goicoechea, 2000; Dieronitou, 2014). The methodology chapter outlines the interview process, with reference to ethical considerations and the interconnection of method with methodology.

Analysis

The analysis chapter presents the findings of the current study. Four key themes emerged, which are presented using direct quotes from the data. Meanings are interpreted using previous research, reference to Bronfenbrenner's (1977) Ecological Systems Theory and sociocultural theoretical frameworks for explaining behaviour.

Conclusion

The final chapter, the conclusion, summarises the findings and analysis. Limitations of the research are discussed, whilst recommendations for further research are provided. The conclusion also highlights implications for parents, educational professionals and policymakers with regards to diverse-heritage parents.

Literature Review

In the following chapter, relevant literature surrounding the UK educational system will be reviewed. Issues in areas such as immigration, achievement, socio-economic status, parental involvement and aspirations, inclusion and linguistic barriers will be explored in relation to diverse-heritage communities. This literature is important to the current study, as they are all factors that influence human development and learning. The topics that were chosen to be explored in this literature review interact with each other on different levels. Immigration can lead to education-related issues surfacing, socio-economic status can help explain educational disadvantage and parental involvement/aspirations can influence positive achievement and school success (Rogers et al., 2009; Fan, 2001). Sociocultural frameworks can also provide explanations for differences in behaviour between parents and the educational achievement of diverse-heritage children.

Immigration

International migration flows continue to expand simultaneously alongside the benefits and complexities for governments and policymakers (Hochschild & Mollenkopf, 2009). Relocation can be a traumatic experience for those experiencing it, with a number of theories outlining the processes that may transpire during the shift. However, there seems to be an anti-immigrant rhetoric in the post 9/11 political climate. Negative treatment of immigrants has been found to result in damaging outcomes and harm integration. Such interaction within the ecological system of an individual, according to Bronfenbrenner's theoretical framework, can impede educational achievement and psychological wellbeing (Jensen, 2007). The following section will discuss, in depth, the issues immigrants may face within their new society.

Immigration is a complex phenomenon, defined as "the movement of non-native people into a country, in order to settle there" (Yakushko, 2009; Dictionary, 2012). This process can be a life crisis for people experiencing it (Choudhry, 2001). As of 2011, there are 7.5 million foreign-born/non-native residents in the United Kingdom (ONS, 2015). This equates to 11.9% of the population, a percentage that has only

increased since then. Official statistics reveal that 1 in 4 births in the UK are to foreign-born parents, which highlights the large part of society that 'immigrant' families truly are.

Researchers have studied the lives of individuals who are relocating and experiencing contact with culturally dissimilar influences. Intercultural contact leads to cultural change in one or both of the groups that come into contact with each other (Aretakis, 2011). This process has been termed 'acculturation' (Schwartz, Unger, Zamboanga & Szapocznik, 2010). Assimilation may also take place, whereby an individual that is migrating will give up their cultural values in order to align their identity with the new, dominant culture (Aretakis, 2011).

The complexity of immigration is not to be underestimated; it is clear that various processes can transpire and influence those facing upheaval. The 'melting-pot' theory suggests that both the new and existing culture will adapt, with people from all cultures mixing or melting together in one big cultural pot (Shaull & Gramann, 1998). The metaphor came about in the early 20th Century, just as immigration in America was booming (Gloor, 2006). However, in later decades it was attacked, as it became apparent that the existing American public had no real regard for 'melting' with other races/cultures (Gloor, 2006). Following this, immigration policies in America adjusted and became more restrictive, which some labelled as state sponsored racism. Nevertheless, the melting pot theory has persisted, and for some it exemplifies the ideal model of immigration for America (Gloor, 2006).

Another philosophy defined as 'cultural pluralism' embraces and encourages cultural differences (Shaull & Gramann, 1998). However, researchers have found that in Britain, there seems to be very little support for multiculturalism and the preservation of different cultural customs (Heath & Tilley, 2005). They also discovered that their sample population were more favourable towards assimilation, whereby new members change their culture and customs to that of the new society. This is alarming, as it may loosely fit in line with the post 9/11 political climate, which has been exacerbated in recent times according to Krieg (2015). There was a 37% increase in hate crimes reported to the police in the fortnight within which the United Kingdom's European Union membership referendum took place (Katwala, Rutter &

Ballinger, 2016). In addition, Mark Potok, a senior fellow who monitors hate in extremism in the US claimed that he has witnessed a spike in hate crimes. The crimes included racist graffiti and attacks on women who were wearing the hijab (Sidahmed, 2016). Potok's opinion is that this sharp increase is 'absolutely, clearly' a result of Donald Trump's election win (Sidahmed, 2016).

An atmosphere filled with hostility and undertones of xenophobia can only influence the discourse on immigration in one direction (Yakushko, 2009). Great Britain has the longest history of diverse-heritage immigration and encompasses one of the largest and most ethnically diverse populations (Dustmann, Machin & Schönberg., 2010). However, in recent times the repertoire used within the immigration debate has a more sinister undertone. Parker (2015) found that in UK print media, asylum seekers were portrayed as unwanted invaders and criminals through use of various metaphors. Reicher (cited in Amer, 2015) calls out the potentially dangerous narrative that creates an "us" vs. "them", immigrant/non-immigrant group discourse.

With the immigration debate raging on, Dunt (2014) acknowledges that a voice you rarely hear from is that of immigrants, referencing a statistic that claims only 12% of all relevant articles actually contain quotes from immigrants. Karlsen and Nazroo (2013) found evidence for the political and social marginalisation of Muslims in Europe, which they themselves claim seriously affects their ability to feel at home in their new society. The researchers did not find evidence of self-segregation by these Muslims, who migrated to Europe from their home countries (Kalsen & Nazroo, 2013). The feelings of these immigrants can be somewhat explained by the way in which, linguistically, the media deals with the debate. There is a common consensus that immigration will only work if integration also works (Katwala et al., 2016). However, Dunt (2014) describes the irony within media coverage that seems to stress the importance of integration, but uses tone and language that pushes immigrants away and subsequently makes them feel 'less at home'. In addition, Katwala et al., (2016) believe that insufficient attention has been paid towards the way in which everyone, of all cultures, can live together. This may lead to 'separation', a strategy which negates integration, being employed by immigrants. If this happens, individuals retain their own culture completely reject any others (Leon, 2014).

Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory is a widely accepted theoretical framework for studying development (Neal & Neal, 2013). This theory places children's development in an ecological perspective, within the nested systems of their environment (Neal & Neal, 2013; Paquette & Ryan, 2001). The interaction between biology, immediate family environment and the 'societal landscape' will influence development, with changes or conflict in any layer of environment affecting the rest of the layers (Paquette & Ryan, 2001). In light of the literature concerning immigration in Western society, this theoretical perspective spells disaster for any children involved. Drawing upon Bronfenbrenner's theory; ethnicity, acculturation and societal influences are all part of the macrosystem of a child. Encounters with the different ecological systems will be shaped by the individuals' cultural and familyrelated differences (Paat, 2013). This suggests that their experiences will somewhat be influenced by factors completely out of their control, such as societal expectations and cultural roles (Stebleton, 2011). The consequences of this are not to be overlooked; Yakushko (2009) insists that the circumstances surrounding relocation carry repercussions, especially for immigrants arriving from third world countries. For example, Leon (2014) claims that acculturative stress, which is a risk factor related to immigration, has been linked to anxiety in both young people and adults. Furthermore, Yakushko (2009) notes that negative treatment of immigrants has been found to result in their increased vulnerability to anxiety-related disorders. In relation to education, the effects of acculturative stress have been observed in international students in higher education. Issues such as sleep deprivation, depression and academic failure as a result of acculturative stress are 'commonly seen' amongst this population; as they have no choice but to adapt in order integrate with the host culture (Luong, 2015). In this case, macrosystem influences have interacted with the individuals' microsystem, but rather than creating an environment that will 'mold' developmental pathways for them, the interaction has instead impeded their educational outcomes and psychological well-being (Luong, 2015; Jensen, 2007).

This section has introduced the issues that immigrants of all cultural backgrounds may face. The following section will briefly focus on South Asian parents in particular and their conceptualization of education.

South Asian Parents

This research aims to explore the way in which South Asian mothers navigate the UK educational system. Little existing literature focuses on these women and the experiences with the school system in England. Early research acknowledges the role that 1st generation South Asian women played in the 'reconstruction' of cultural traditions and their contributions towards the household economy (Ahmed, 2001). Such reports directly challenge stereotypical views of 'secluded, passive Asian women' (Ahmed, 2001). Another preexisting perception of South Asian women is that they are 'uninterested in education' (Bagguley & Hussain, 2016). However, this may not be a fair representation as Ahmed (2001) finds South Asian families to place a significant importance on the acquisition of academic qualifications. Participation rates of South Asian Muslim women are also steadily increasing (Ahmad, 2001). Dale et al. (2002) note a desire that South Asian parents have to ensure their children's success. There seems to be 'cultural value' to education amongst Asian groups, which has been considered an explanatory factor for high aspirations that these parents hold (Dale et al., 2002). Ijaz and Abbas (2010) consider the impact of an inter-generational change in attitude by South Asian Muslim parents on the education of their daughters. Regardless of generation, social class and ethnicity, there is a universal belief between Muslim parents of the importance of education for young women (Ijaz & Abbas, 2010). This may be due to the dynamism of family values and effort of parents socialising their daughters to construct 'British Muslim' identities (Basit, 1997). However, as the following section will explore, ethnic minority pupils have consistently been found to perform less well than their White peers (Bhattacharrya, Ison & Blair, 2003). The next section will therefore focus on the achievement of diverse-heritage children, and investigate the various factors that can influence it.

Achievement of Diverse-Heritage Children

The literature that focuses on diverse-heritage and 'immigrant' children provides a stark picture of their educational success. The achievement gap, though on the decline, still exists and can be explained using the ecological systems theory, by understanding the various contexts that can affect achievement.

It is commonly suggested that youth who transition from one society to another, or have parents who were born elsewhere, will often experience education-related issues (Levels, Dronkers & Kraaykamp., 2008). This population will likely face various barriers to both enrolling and succeeding in higher education, according to Baum and Flores (2011). In support, Lin and Lu (2014) found significant educational differences between pupils with 'immigrant' and 'native' mothers, claiming that children with non-native parents may experience problems with achievement, without intervention. This research was conducted in Taiwan, where the experiences and achievement of immigrants will undoubtedly differ to those in the UK, which therefore poses problems for the generalizability of the results. However, it is still worthwhile noting that the narrative concerning immigrants and the achievement of their children is dispiriting worldwide.

Bhattacharrya et al. (2003) found that, on average, Bangladeshi, Black and Pakistani pupils 'perform less well' than their White peers during compulsory education. Pakistani children's numeracy scores in particular are said to deteriorate towards the end of primary school whilst for Bangladeshi pupils, both their numeracy and literacy scores decline (Ford, 2014). Furthermore, Pakistani and Bangladeshi adolescents have been found to achieve the fewest qualifications at the Further Education stage (Tackey, Barnes & Khambhaita, 2011). With regards to Higher Education, ethnic minority students are 'less likely' to achieve a first/upper second-class degree than their White counterparts (Bhattacharrya et al., 2003). Not only are there differences in the achievement of ethnic minorities versus 'Whites', Lymperopoulou (2015) notes that there is also a large difference in attainment between 'younger and older members' of ethnic minority groups. Specifically, Pakistani and Bangladeshi women aged 50+ are more than seven times as likely to have no qualifications than women of the same heritage in the 16-24 age bracket (Lymperopoulou, 2015). This is

understandable, as some of the older South Asian population may have migrated once they were past the compulsory school leaving age, but their children will have attended school from entry age. These adults, overall, are the most likely to possess no qualifications and they are also the least likely ethnic groups to participate in adult learning (Bhattacharrya et al., 2003).

There have been some changes to the ethnic inequalities in education, and the educational disadvantage of Pakistani and Bangladeshi groups did decline somewhat in the past two decades (Lymperopoulou & Parameshwaran, 2014). However, they admit that the disadvantage was still present and apparent in 2011. A similar sentiment is echoed by Ford (2014) who states that although progress in attainment of ethnic minority children has been made, these groups still face substantial disadvantages in further education and even employment. This raises an important question – why are diverse-heritage children facing disadvantages and consistently performing less well than their peers?

The ecological model may offer an explanation for such differences in achievement, and help with understanding the various contexts that can affect achievement (Becker & Luthar, 2002). As discussed, the child's environment consists of different layers or systems that interact and affect development. The macrosystem represents a distal level of the environment and encompasses core cultural beliefs and values of society (Stivaros, 2007). Becker and Luthar (2002) note that this level of the environment can exert influence over individuals in different ways. An example they provide is that of disadvantaged children potentially believing hard work and effort in school to be irrelevant to their academic outcomes, due to a history of experiencing prejudice and discrimination.

With regards to diverse populations, research suggests that children from ethnic minority communities, immigrants and refugees are much more likely to be unfairly characterized as being disaffected and are subsequently poorly served by their schools and teachers (Osler & Starkey, 2005). In line with theory, such treatment may influence this population's beliefs about their potential, and widen the achievement gap further. The implications for schools are clear; achievement gaps

between groups that are 'ethnically different' have the potential to cause social disruption and segregation (Dustmann et al., 2010).

The findings in this area highlight the multitude of factors that can affect achievement and result in the achievement gap. Educational disadvantage is seen as multidimensional, relating to issues within the home, school and community (Hanlon & Hayes, 2006). These are all factors concerning the socio-economic status of an individual. The following section will therefore address the different influences that may lead to a disadvantage for certain children and not others.

Socio-Economic Status

Educational disadvantage is multi-dimensional, and may be explained by the influence of socio-economic factors. Parental education and poverty; circumstances which children have no control over, are highly influential as determinants in their academic achievement. Bronfenbrenner's theoretical framework can provide an explanation for perceived deficiencies in diverse-heritage children's learning and achievement; instability within the microsystem.

Bronfenbrenner views instability within the 'family life' microsystem as the most destructive force to children's development (Addison, 1992). Instability in family life can be caused by a number of stressful events or strains, which Eamon (2001) believes are triggered by economic deprivation. Varying levels of poverty are a factor of socio-economic status (SES). The SES of a family will influence children's developing macrosystem, and the impact may trickle through to the microsystem. SES is conceptualized as the class of an individual or group. It tends to be assessed as a combination of factors, such as education, income and occupation (APA, n.d.). SES is 'relevant' to education as a realm of social science and it is therefore unsurprising that a vast amount of research has focused on the influence of SES and educational achievement. A positive correlation between SES factors and children's educational achievement has been well established according to Dubow, Boxer and Huesmann, (2009). Furthermore, research has consistently linked lower SES to lower educational achievement and 'slower rates of academic progress', (APA, n.d.). However, Dubow et al., (2009) acknowledge the importance of differentiating between SES factors, rather than considering them as one, because some may be stronger predictors than others.

Parental Education

First generation immigrants decide to shift their entire lives for different reasons (Glick, Walker & Luz, 2013). They have varying levels of resources and qualifications/education when they arrive (Glick et al., 2013). Lee and Bowen, (2006) and Davis-Kean (2005) found that parental education is important in predicting children's achievement. Not only that, but they suggest that highly educated, middle-

class parents are more active in encouraging their children to develop their own aspirations (Dubow et al., 2009). Maternal education has been scrutinized in the literature, and it is reported to affect the 'reading readiness' of children (Raag et al., 2011). Long before this, Brooks-Gunn and Duncan (1997) established a link between maternal education and their children's subsequent 'intellectual outcomes'. They controlled for various other SES factors but maternal education was the only indicator with a significant link (Dubow et al., 2009). A mother without higher education is therefore commonly associated with lower academic achievement of their children. However, there is contradictory (albeit dated) evidence related to the effects of maternal education (Bornstein & Bradley, 2014). Rosenzweig and Wolpin (1994) found that an extra year of maternal education had a positive and marginally significant effect on children's achievement. A criticism of the research into parental education is that it is largely correlational, which does not necessarily prove causation (Magnuson, 2003).

Poverty

Poverty is a 'big impediment' and stumbling block in the way of educational attainment (Awan, Malik & Sarwar., 2008). Low income strongly predicts the educational outcomes of children facing this disadvantage (Hirsch, 2007). An example of the effect that poverty can have is shown in government statistics of GCSEs. Only around 25% of children that qualify for free school meals (FSM) will gain 'five good GCSEs/equivalent' (DfES, 2006, cited in Hirsch, 2007). However, this is an outdated statistic. Looking at the national 2015 GCSE results, achievement of 5+ A*-C (including English and Math) for FSM eligible children was 33.1% (DfE, 2016). This is an increase, however the sizeable achievement gap between this group and all other pupils still exists.

Family poverty is intertwined with a number of other 'co-factors', which may be determinants or mediators (Yoshikawa, Aber & Beardslee, 2012). A key factor in determining child poverty is the lack of opportunity available to parents with low qualifications/skillset (Hirsch, 2007). Such parents are unlikely to work and if they do, earnings will also be low (Hirsch, 2007). This is described as a co-factor of poverty by Yoshikawa, Aber and Beardslee (2012), who find that low attainment increases

the chances of raising children in poverty. This 'passing of traits' through generations goes a long way in explaining the persistent and unrelenting disadvantage that deprived children face in education (Goodman & Gregg, 2010). Much research has focused on the link between poverty and education and education has been found to reduce poverty in populations (Awan et al., 2011). In Pakistan, for example, the level of education achieved by the head of the household is the 'critical determinant' of poverty in that home (Awan et al., 2011).

Aside from the effects on attainment, there are a number of other ways in which disadvantaged children will be affected. For example, Hirsch (2007) argues that these children will have their attitudes to education shaped differently due to their deprived background. They are also more likely to feel 'anxious and unconfident' about school (Hirsch, 2007). Such findings provide implications for policy makers. Goodman and Gregg (2010) suggest that children from deprived backgrounds should be given help to develop the belief that their 'actions and efforts' can lead to higher education and better attainment. This outlook focuses more on what can be done to combat the effects of poverty from a young age, rather than accepting that the fate of these children has already been sealed.

However, they argue that disadvantaged children's aspirations and expectations for higher education should be raised from primary school, onwards. In recent times, Goodman and Gregg (2010) find that programmes proposing to raise educational aspirations will typically begin during secondary school. One popular programme in the UK was 'Aimhigher'; a university access scheme, which sought to increase the participation of students from lower socio-economic backgrounds. It is worth noting that this particular scheme worked with young school children as well as university-age students (Boffey, 2011). The scheme was scrapped in 2010 by the government, with the Universities Minister announcing that there would be a £150m National Scholarship programme to replace it (BBC, 2010). In the same year, the Educational Maintenance Allowance was also removed. This was a grant that was paid to the poorest students at sixth forms/colleges (BBC, 2010). By 2012 the increase in tuition fees in the UK was implemented and maintenance grants were abandoned in 2016. These cuts and potentially sizeable debts may put off disadvantaged students

(Boffey, 2011) and therefore jeopardize aspirations and undoing the work that the schemes were accomplishing.

Income poverty rates vary, but are high amongst ethnic minority groups. Kenway and Palmer (2007) note that for Bangladeshis the rate is 65% and for Pakistanis it is 55%. These statistics, though increasingly outdated (2001 census: Kenway & Palmer, 2007) highlight the disadvantage that a large majority of minority groups have long faced; low income. Very few Pakistani and Bangladeshi families are on an average income, let alone an above average one (Kenway & Palmer, 2007). Such economic strain may lead to discord within the microsystem. This is because stressful life events appear to have an effect on the 'socioemotional functioning' of children within families that experience them. Those suffering will need to modify their behaviour in the face of such adversity, which may consequently produce psychological distress, erode parental coping strategies and even contribute to marital discord between parents (Eamon, 2001). This theoretical perspective suggests stresses the importance of parental involvement. The following section will therefore explore the numerous dimensions of parental involvement, with reference to cultural differences.

Parental Involvement

Parental involvement is a contentious area of research when discussing achievement, as there are conflicting findings and some misconceptions in relation to diverse-heritage parents and their involvement. From the ecological systems perspective; proximal and distal influences within the layers of an individual's environment will affect their parenting style and overall involvement. There are implications for policymakers in highlighting the importance of the role of parents in children's development.

There is research to suggest that effective parental involvement is linked to higher achievement levels (Rogers et al., 2009). In promoting achievement, parental involvement (amongst other factors) is emphasized (Hill & Tyson, 2009). It is seen as an important strategy for advancing the 'quality of education' (Driessen, Smit & Sleegers, 2005). The concept has been an 'important element' of effective and successful education for over 40 years (Hornby & Lafaele, 2011). It is defined as a cluster of different 'behaviours and practices' (Georgiou, 2007). This includes the parents' attitudes, opinions, expectations and aspirations concerning their children's education (Georgiou, 2007).

Epstein et al. outlined the five dimensions of parental involvement (Unicef, n.d.):

- 1. Parenting
- 2. Helping with homework
- 3. Communication with school
- 4. Volunteering at school
- 5. Participating in school decision making

Georgiou (2007) acknowledges that though the concept and meaning is intuitive, the use of it within research has been 'vague and inconsistent'. Issues with the generalisability of the findings will therefore arise when different researchers use varying definitions, dimensions and methods to measure parental involvement (Georgiou, 2007). Nevertheless, in line with the dejecting narrative of low-SES, diverse-heritage parents; South Asian parents in Britain have been described as

being uninterested, having unrealistic educational expectations and having little to no relationship with schools (Crozier & Davies, 2006). They also found that educational professionals, including teachers and head teachers, labelled South Asian parents as 'hard to reach'. This is a phrase that the researchers admit holds negative connotations and is associated with difficult/obstructive behavior. In addition, it has been widely claimed that non-middle class parents are 'less effective' in intervening with school matters than middle-class parents (Cucchiara & Horvat, 2009).

One frequent explanation for this is parents' own level of education, as discussed earlier. It has long been linked to more effective parental involvement within the literature. However, Finders and Lewis (1994) argue that there are a multitude of obstacles that may hinder involvement. In lieu of parental education, influential factors include cultural differences with the teachers, 'psychological barriers' due to their own academic failure (Georgiou, 2007) and their beliefs about themselves as parents (Georgiou & Tourva, 2007). These difficulties are all related to SES and are largely out of their control (Georgiou, 2007).

Katz, Corlyon, La Placa and Hunter (2007) suggest that the ecological model is a key theoretical advancement in the study of parenting. Bronfenbrenner's framework may therefore provide an explanation for ineffective involvement by diverse-heritage parents. The model, from a systems perspective, describes the influence that moves from distal 'societal' factors, to proximal 'familial' factors (Katz et al., 2007). For example, as a direct consequence of economic deprivation Eamon (2001) claims that parenting will be affected. It will result in inconsistent and harsh parenting style; with parents seemingly less involved and more emotionally 'unresponsive'. Eamon's (2001) suggestion highlights how influential the interaction between ecological systems can be on development. Such change or strain occurring within the macrosystem can seriously threaten harmony within the microsystem.

On the other hand, research has found that parents who possess enough money to feel comfortable raising their children are more likely to show an increased amount of warmth and affection (Driscoll & Nagel, 2010). Furthermore, Driscoll and Nagel (2010) note that these parents have greater communication with their children and are more democratic when dealing with them. They also placed more emphasis on

the development of creativity and independence, which are fundamental characteristics stressed by schools in the West. Not only do middle-class parents utilize their financial advantage and social capital to guarantee their children access to the best schools, but they also make use of the 'networks of acquaintances' they have built, and draw upon their knowledge in order to make sure their children are profiting from the most advantageous resources available to them (Katz et al., 2007).

Insight into parenting, and why style and involvement may differ between parents, can only be achieved once the interacting and interdependent factors within the ecological system are explored (Katz et al., 2007). Although parenting styles have been categorized by researchers and are seen to apply across cultures and classes, research has shown that lower-class parents are more likely to employ 'authoritarian' styles of parenting. According to Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1982), lower-class parents view their children's behaviour with a focus on the immediate consequences rather than investigating the motives and attitudes behind the behaviour, in the way that middle-class parents do. As discussed earlier, a financially difficult situation, which may be coupled with depression, anxiety and/or marital strain, has been found to result in harsher, less supportive parenting (Ryan, Fauth & Brooks-Gunn, 2006). These challenging circumstances are faced by parents of lower socio-economic status and Driscoll and Nagel (2010) argue that it is therefore understandable that their behaviour and parenting style may differ to those in a more financially comfortable position.

Researchers such as Kohn (1977) and Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1982) put forth an explanation for this crucial difference in parenting. After investigating the variances, Kohn (1977) connected them to the same characteristics that are also linked with level of parental occupation (Driscoll & Nagel, 2010). In line with this, Bronfenbrenner and Crouter (1982) place particular emphasis upon the effect of the workplace on parents, claiming that it can affect both their perception of life and the way in which they interact with members of their family (Driscoll & Nagel, 2010). The direct consequence of this is that parenting styles will 'reflect' or mirror aspects of parents' work life (Driscoll & Nagel, 2010). These findings further illustrate the highly influential effect of interaction between distal and proximal layers of the environment.

The issue of parental involvement is therefore not as easy to solve as concluding that some parents are interested and others not due to their own education level. All parents are not the same, nor do they share the same 'needs'; which is a blanket assumption that researchers and policy makers of parental involvement seem to jump to (Crozier, 2001). Huss-Keeler (1997) found that Pakistani parents would demonstrate their interest and involvement in their child's education in a culturally different way than middle class parents would. The teachers misinterpreted this as a 'lack of interest' from the parents involved. As a consequence of this misunderstanding, the children were underestimated with regards to their learning and their achievement (Huss-Keeler, 1997). Parental involvement policies are known to fail in recognising the ethnic diversity between parents (Crozier, 2001). The nature of ethnic minority parental involvement differs (Kim, 2009), which we have seen can be misconstrued as disinterest (Huss-Keeler, 1997). Kim (2009) points out the numerous school-related barriers that can hinder involvement, such as teachers' perceptions and beliefs about minority parents, school friendliness/positive communication and school policies. Adjusting policies in line with all of this will lead to an improved mesosystem relationship between home and school, and guarantee the success of minority parental involvement (Kim, 2009). To strengthen this argument, Bronfenbrenner also argued that it would be in the best interest of society to promote both political and economic policies that highlight the importance of parent's roles in their children's development (Paquette & Ryan, 2001). Eamon (2001) agrees, arguing that the practices of parents, their relationships and their coping strategies will aid with selecting the most appropriate interventions for different families.

The literature overwhelmingly agrees on the importance of parental involvement. Fan's (2001) findings highlighted the long-term effect on academic development and growth that parental involvement produced. Parenting style is, according to the ecological framework, influenced by different factors within the environment. Although there are different explanations and findings relating to parenting, the concern lies where policymakers address these differences and tailor strategies to suit different parents. The following section will therefore explore inclusion within schools.

Inclusion

Inclusive education is a concept that cannot be detached from the notion of quality education. This signifies that education simply cannot be deemed 'good quality' unless it meets the needs of every single learner (Pinnock & Lewis, 2008). However, research has found that schools may not be meeting the needs of diverse-heritage parents with regards to their inclusion.

There is legislation in place in the UK that prohibits discrimination within education, and promotes inclusion. There are also regulations under international human rights law regarding inclusive education, which the UK must abide by (CSIE, 2013a). The Equality Act 2010 stipulates that it is unlawful for any education provider to discriminate against or between pupils on the grounds of disability, race, religion or belief, sex, pregnancy and maternity, or gender reassignment (CSIE, 2013b). Schools and other educational institutions must therefore work hard to be inclusive of people from all walks of life.

Research conducted in the area of inclusion within schools has brought interesting findings to light. Capper and Pickett (1994) found that pupils attending an inclusion-based school, seen as actively advocating the principles of inclusion, demonstrated increased acceptance, understanding and tolerance of individual differences. On the other hand, the students attending a 'non-inclusive', traditional structured school had the tendency to engage in stereotyping others, and held negative views of diversity and about pupils with disabilities. (Dyson, Farrell, Polat & Hutcheson, 2004). This highlights how crucial school policies and structural differences are, as they can have considerable influence over pupils and their perceptions of others.

There is research to suggest that schools may not be fulfilling diverse-heritage parent's needs when it comes to inclusion. Crozier and Davies (2007) argue that South Asian parents are not 'hard to reach', but rather they did not understand the education system and found it difficult to get involved. There are interventions in place that may have the right intentions behind them, but actually do more harm than good. An example is a recent intervention, which utilizes an A-D grading system for parents. These grades are based on parent's support of their children's education.

The strategy was formulated through the head teacher's 'frustration with parents' reluctance' in supporting their children (Ough, 2016). An aspect of the grading system that stood out was the fact that in order to achieve a 'B', parents' must 'work effectively with the school and understand its' work' (Ough, 2016). We have touched upon the struggles that ethnic minorities face in communicating with and understanding the school system, which is something that the intervention seems to ignore.

Research into interventions has almost always ignored 'broader contextual variables' that prevent minority parental involvement (Kim, 2009). However, such research would benefit from considering parents' connectedness with the local community and ease of access to local services (Katz et al., 2007). Furthermore, Katz et al., (2007) argue that research should address the way in which mainstream society can exclude these populations. The charitable organisation 'Save the Children' (Pinnock & Lewis, 2008) put together a report on making schools inclusive and conclude that much of the responsibility regarding inclusion and parental involvement lays with the education system. The main requirement of achieving inclusion in schools, they claim, is for schools/authorities to 'remove the barriers' that some children may experience. One of these barriers is, as previously discussed, lack of involvement from parents.

There has been little research into different strategies to encourage involvement of diverse-heritage parents. However, Abley, Jaffar and Gent (2004) investigated different initiatives to raise achievement amongst Pakistani and Muslim pupils. During their research, Abley et al., (2004) found that a lack of communication between the school and parents had an undesirable influence on the achievement of Pakistani pupils. This is in line with the ecological theory, which would cite a weak mesosystem link. The finding highlights the importance of a strong relationship between the two microsystem influences (home/school). The school in the research began holding gatherings/support sessions for diverse-heritage parents', in order to give them access to the school, the chance to discuss any concerns they may have had, and details of their child's progress. The meetings were fronted by bilingual teaching assistants so that the parents had an environment in which they could communicate in their 'home language'. (Abley et al., 2004). This was well received

by parents and showcases the type of inclusive practices that may be beneficial in helping struggling parents communicating more effectively with schools. Such outcomes strengthen the mesosystem parent-school link, which is vital as may support student success (Witte, 2015).

As discussed above, lack of inclusion is a factor that may result in a diminished mesosystem link, which would reduce home-school communication and parental involvement in school matters. Interventions have been seen as both successful and contentious. An obstruction in the way of progress in improving relations could be the linguistic barrier; an issue that will be explored in the following section.

Linguistic Barriers

Lack of communication and inclusion of diverse-heritage parents may obstruct home-school mesosystem relationships. Research has shown that the linguistic barrier can affect communication and inclusion within school environments, which may be extremely frustrating for parents and educational professionals. In line with the ecological systems theory, there are strong implications for school policymakers: it would be beneficial for everyone involved if positive home-school relationships were maintained in the face of linguistic barriers.

The statistics that show 'traditionally' lower levels of attainment for Pakistani and Bangladeshi pupils, can be attributed not only to poverty/low SES, but also linguistic barriers (Runnymede Trust, 2012). There does, however, appear to be some sort of link between SES and degree of English skills. When visiting Pakistani families, Barron (2007) found that mothers often spoke 'little English' in the least affluent homes. 'Better English', on the other hand, was spoken by the more affluent mothers who wore clothes made out of richer fabrics (Barron, 2007). The consequences of linguistic difficulties on attainment have been made clear; educational trajectories for some children are at risk of being impeded by parental language barriers (Glick et al., 2013). This issue might actually affect more children than initially thought. DfE (2016) class children's 'First Language' as the one they are initially exposed to throughout early development and continue to be exposed to within the home. People within settings of the child's microsystem, such as immediate and extended family and members of the local community, may all speak this language. The government's definition of a first language does not necessitate that these children are fluent in this language or that they cannot speak English. With this in mind, the finding that the achievement of pupils with English as an additional language (EAL) was lower than those with English as a first language (DfE, 2016) is alarming. It highlights the effect that the first language may have on achievement.

An explanation for this can be found within sociocultural understandings of human behaviour. Vygotsky widely claimed that children learn as they interact with people, objects and events within their environment (Haenen, Schrijnemakers & Stufkens, 2003). Development is 'embedded in and mediated by' relationships with peers

(Haenen et al., 2003). This is because cognitive development is said to occur in social interaction, with opportunities for learning being influenced by cultural norms and the behaviour of others. Naturally, the main influencers tend to be those most frequently interacting with the children, such as caregivers, siblings, teachers, extended family and peers. Prior to starting compulsory education, children within linguistically isolated households will mainly experience their mother tongue, and likely interact with their immediate family the most frequently. Linguistic isolation is defined by the U.S Census Bureau as all individuals in a household over the age of 14 speaking a 'non-English' language and having difficulty with English (Link, Mokdad, Stackhouse, Flowers, 2006). Instead, they speak their native tongue at home and to their children.

Barron (2009) carried out a field study focussing on White-indigenous and Pakistaniheritage children in a nursery. During instances of the children engaging in role-play, Barron (2009) noted that Pakistani-heritage children lacked the language or skills to participate, and therefore watched on as the other children played. If they did join in, they managed to 'upset' the both the White-indigenous children and members of staff by exhibiting offensive behaviour such as taking items without asking anyone for them (Barron, 2009). The researcher noted that this lead to these children being 'othered' as incapable of understanding the correct way to behave. The children of Pakistani-heritage did not model the behaviour expected of them by the staff, and were therefore considered 'inappropriate' by both staff and other White-indigenous children (Barron, 2009). The issue, as Barron (2009) perceived it, was that unlike the White-indigenous children, very few of the Pakistani-heritage children could 'access and engage' with both English as a language and the expected behaviour of the nursery. Barron (2009) found that even where language did not prove to be a difficulty, there were still instances of experiences being culturally specific, and consequently not understood by Pakistani-heritage children.

There is further research that outlines the consequences of language barriers. Collins and Cook (2001) detail the case of a Bangladeshi mother with children attending a school with a third of its children hailing from Bangladesh. This school had only 1 Bengali-speaking teacher, no dual-language books and no classes to accommodate Bangladeshi natives. Collins and Cook (2001) state that a combination of these factors strained the home-school relationship and made communication between home and school particularly difficult. The one Bengalispeaking member of staff did write targeted, individual letters home in Bengali; however, all of the general school letters were sent in English. Other ethnic minority parents at this school noted feelings of alienation and indicated feeling that the school was unaware and uninterested in their concerns and opinions. Collins and Cook (2001) deem this to be a high level of institutional neglect of issues relating to ethnicity, which was felt by the parents and mirrored in their perception of the school and its attitude to culture and religion.

Both family and school are two major structures within the microsystem of a child. Bronfenbrenner places a significant amount of importance on microsystems, as they are the layer closest to the child and encompass structures that they have direct contact with (Paquette & Ryan, 2001). Lack of meaningful linkages between microsystems distinguishes an impoverished mesosystem link from a rich one; in which individuals in all systems work together effectively for the benefit of the child (Stivaros, 2007). Research has found that barriers and limited communication may lead to a disconnect of the mesosystem link between parents and teachers (Witte, 2015). Maintaining positive home-school relationships is therefore crucial, as Witte (2015) argues that it may encourage student success. These findings have undeniable implications for schools and the practice of teaching, according to Paquette and Ryan (2001). Schools and teachers have a responsibility to create and maintain an environment that is supportive and nurturing of all families (Paquette & Ryan, 2001).

Although they may have difficulty communicating with schools, diverse heritage parents do not necessarily lack educational aspirations for their children's achievement. The following section will explore their aspirations and the influence, if any, on the subsequent academic success of their children.

Parental Aspirations

The more encouraging and positive findings relating to ethnic minority children are very rarely highlighted. Parents have been found to hold high aspirations for their children and place a significant amount of emphasis on education. Regardless, members of ethnically diverse groups have still been found to underachieve. Further research is required to establish whether there is an inverse link between high aspirations of diverse-heritage parents and their achievement of their children.

Asthana (2010) reports that the Asian community had the lowest permanent exclusion rates from school than any other group. Similarly, Bhattacharrya et al. (2003) found that out of all permanent exclusions in 2001/2002, the lowest percentage ethnic group was Asian (including Chinese). These statistics are remarkable when viewed in relation to the explanations of permanent exclusions and why they take place. Experiencing injustice, inequality and unfair treatment may lead pupils (or groups) to participate in violence against peers or the institution (Osler & Starkey, 2005). Furthermore, Osler and Starkey (2005) note that disaffection (loss of motivation) is a consequence of underachievement that leads to this reactive behaviour. With the low rates of exclusion seen in the Asian group, this implies that in spite of their treatment and underachievement, they have not become disaffected or unmotivated in school.

An explanation may lie within sociocultural understandings of familial factors and cultural norms. Vygotsky's (1978) theoretical framework accounts for differences in valued cultural activities and tools. Lightfoot, Cole and Cole (2013) found marked cultural differences in planning during a problem-solving task. Navajo children spent 10 times longer planning their route within a maze than European-American children did, because the Navajo culture places more emphasis on completing tasks thoughtfully rather than quickly. On the other hand, within European-American culture, speed in relation to mental performance is a mark of intelligence. The thoughtful planning carried out by the Navajo children resulted in them making significantly less mistakes than their European-American counterparts. (Lightfoot, Cole & Cole, 2013). This noteworthy example illustrates the way cultural values can both shape behaviour, whilst also providing concepts and tools to help navigate

society. In relation to the lack of disaffection in Asian pupils, there is research to suggest that a lot of emphasis is placed on education by immigrant parents. In a case study of Turkish/Kurdish refugees arriving to the country, it was found that the parents knew little to no English, had been here less than two years and on arrival knew virtually nothing about schools, jobs and housing (Collins & Cook, 2001). These parents, although completely inexperienced with the educational system, 'stressed the importance of education for their children', and had high aspirations for them (Collins & Cook, 2001). This would suggest that their culture encourages and values success in education; with children developing tools, such as high motivation, in order to try and achieve this.

Fan (2001) found that parent's aspirations concerning their children's educational achievement had a positive effect on their subsequent academic growth. Furthermore, Basit (2012) claims that aspirational capital is a 'strong motivating force' in cultivating and improving the life chances of ethnic minority youth living in Britain. It is therefore no wonder that diverse-heritage parents have high educational aspirations for their children, and tend to see higher education as a way to achieve social mobility and promotion (Shah, Dwyer & Modood, 2010). An example of this is the case of a Pakistani father who encouraged his children to pursue higher education because he did not want them to endure the 'deprivation' and manual labour that he suffered through (Shah et al., 2010). He was using his own experiences to form his attitudes toward education and his aspirations for his children (Shah et al., 2010). Furthermore, Shah et al., (2010) found that all Pakistani parents had aspirations for the high educational achievement of their children, regardless of their SES circumstances, such as their own education or income. Similarly, Abrahamsen and Drange (2015) found that ethnic minorities in Norway hold higher career ambitions than 'majority students'. They attribute the strength that minority students have in the development of their ambitions, and their efforts in pursuing educational qualifications, to ethnicity. They see it as a resource that can also undoubtedly be an obstacle at times (Abrahamsen & Drange, 2015). The extent of diverse-heritage students' motivation and aspirations is stressed by Bagguley and Hussain (2016), who found that young, South Asian women were successfully tackling influential obstacles on their path to studying their choice of course at university. Not only were they resisting 'wider community expectations', they were

also contesting their parents' desires and aspirations for them (Bagguley & Hussain, 2016).

However, members of ethnic minority groups have been found to underachieve, regardless of their 'high motivation and commitment', according to Strand, (2013). Children of Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Black African descent are reportedly not satisfying the expectations of achievement at age 14, when considering the 'advantageous factors' they are reported to have. These valuable factors include the commitment to education by their families, students' educational aspirations, elevated levels of motivation and positive attitudes to school (Strand, 2013). This trend is not limited to children of Pakistani, Bangladeshi and Black African descent. Research conducted in Belgium by D'hondt et al., (2016) found that students of Turkish and North African heritage convey 'optimistic attitudes toward education', but are still underachieving. This discrepancy is highlighted when their achievement is compared to their peers with Belgian parentage (D'hondt et al., 2016). The researchers find that these diverse-heritage children hold more positive and optimistic attitudes toward schooling than their Belgian parents do.

The issue of underachievement for those with high motivation has not been widely researched. However, Shah et al., (2010) found that Pakistani parents held educational aspirations for their children but struggled with actualizing ethnic capital, or using ethnicity as a resource, in order to fulfil these aspirations. For working-class parents, although education is important to them, they were not as proactive in establishing rules for study and leisure or evaluating important issues such as secondary school preference (Shah et al., 2010). On the contrary, middle-class parents were successful in actualizing ethnic capital (Shah et al., 2010). They managed to influence their children's aspirations and achievements through mobilizing both their economic and cultural capital (Shah et al., 2010). Their households were structured in a more accommodating manner for the demands of school and boosting educational performance (Ball, Bowe & Gerirtz, 1995).

This chapter explored literature regarding an array of topical factors in relation to diverse-heritage families. The overall narrative relating to immigrant parents finds that they may suffer from deficiencies and their children may be at a disadvantage.

Research into the achievement of these children has established the existence of an achievement gap and linguistic barriers, which has implications for governments and school policymakers. Although the review highlighted progressive practices within the UK educational system, it also flagged issues with existing practices. It has been suggested that more can be done to enhance the inclusion and involvement of diverse-heritage backgrounds in school environments. In line with Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems framework, such practices would aid with maintaining rich mesosystem links. The perspective of diverse-heritage families who may have experienced and overcome difficulties whilst navigating the educational system may be beneficial to explore in future research. The reviewed literature therefore underpins the justification for the current study. A voice will be given to incoming mothers from South Asian backgrounds whose children successfully reached and completed higher educational system.

Methodology

The methodological approach for this research emerges from sociocultural understandings of human behaviour. Such ontology demands an interpretivist epistemology, which allows for the exploration of participants' experience, and meaning interpretations. An interview and re-interview process was used here to collect rich and meaningful data. This chapter aims to explore all of these factors whilst demonstrating the interconnection of method, with methodology.

Ontology

There are vast differences between qualitative and quantitative research and their corresponding methodology. Ontological and epistemological standings are the determinant of which methodology and research design should be used. Therefore, prior to conducting any research, researchers should identify their ontological and epistemological position. (David & Sutton, 2004).

The ontology of the current study stems from sociocultural perspectives on learning and understandings of human behaviour. This ontological position views learning as an integral part of broader changes resulting from participation in a community (Packer & Goicoechea, 2000). Learning and growth occurs through social practices and interactions with others (Packer & Goicoechea, 2000). When conducting educational research, this ontology provides an interpretative framework attending to cultural and historical contexts, and the details of social interaction (Packer & Goicoechea, 2000).

Epistemology

Epistemology will address how reality is known and reached. It is concerned with study of knowledge and the relationship between the 'knower' and the 'known' (Maxwell, 2011). An example of a question epistemology might pose is: how do we know what we know? Methodology will answer this question, by drawing on and utilising specific practises in order to acquire knowledge of the 'reality' (Krauss, 2005).

Interpretivism is an epistemological paradigm for conducting qualitative research (Dieronitou, 2014). Research grounded in this epistemology seeks to analyse the deeper meaning and unmeasured characteristics of data, rather than quantifying elements of data that are physically present (Dieronitou, 2014). This stance is widely considered to place more of a focus on "culturally derived and historically situated interpretations of the social life-world" (Crotty, 1998: 67). Such qualitative methodology is also accommodating for change and transformation as new information emerges (Anderson, 2010).

Current Study

This research adopted a sociocultural ontological and interpretivist epistemological position. This approach most-appropriately aligned with the research aims, the theoretical framework for the research and the researcher's desire to explore individual differences and contextual variation (Smith, 2015). In line with the ontology and epistemology of this research, an interview and re-interview process was carried out to collect the data. This ensured that the participants could give a full account of their experiences, and the researcher had the opportunity to ask further questions to clarify any points if necessary. Evaluating social interaction between home and school was an aspect to explore within the study. To achieve this, participant's experiences were collected and then analysed. Details pertaining to participant's cultural contexts, such as their beliefs and backgrounds were acknowledged during the interview process and participants were asked to elaborate where necessary. For example, the interview guide begins by the researcher probing for factual information about the participants, and opens with a statement rather than a question: "Tell me about your family". Furthermore, the guide introduces statements such as "Tell me about a time you went into school". The rationale behind this was finding out about participant's experiences and social interactions, through their own voice and point of view. The rich dataset that was subsequently collected allowed for a deeper meaning to be analysed from a sociocultural perspective.

Method

Sampling Technique

Within qualitative research, sampling choices enable a deeper understanding of the phenomenon being studied (Blackstone, 2012). There are two main methods of sampling; probability and non-probability. In a probability sample, inclusion/exclusion is a matter of chance, as every single member of the wider population has an equal opportunity of being selected (Cohen, Manion & Morrison, 2007). For research projects with aims pertaining to in-depth understanding, non-probability sampling is more commonly used as it is more suitable than random sampling techniques (Blackstone, 2012). In a non-probability sample, certain members of the population will 'definitely' be included or excluded, based on particular criteria for selection (Cohen et al., 2007). It has been argued that such samples are not generalizable to the wider population. However, population representation is not at the top of the agenda for qualitative studies and Blackstone (2012) notes that non-probability samples are not obtained arbitrarily. Typically, these samples have a specific purpose in mind. This leads us onto the sampling technique employed in the current study.

The current study is an exploration of non-native parents' experiences with the UK education system. A non-probability sample is therefore more appropriate for the research aims. Participants were recruited through purposive sampling, whereby the researcher chose participants in order to build a sample satisfactory to the specific needs of the research. According to Cohen et al., (2007) purposive samples are deliberately selective and have been described as being biased. However, this technique is utilised by researchers aiming to acquire detailed information from those in an appropriate position to provide it, which justifies the selection process (Cohen et al., 2007).

According to Blackstone (2012), a researcher will start with specific ideas in mind. They will have inclusion/exclusion criteria evolving from previous research that highlights perspectives they wish to cover. In the current study, the literature review illustrated the dispiriting trends concerning immigrant parents, the effect of maternal

education and involvement in school matters and the academic achievement of their children. Therefore, the researcher's inclusion criteria were as follows:

Criteria for inclusion

- Non-native mother living in the UK
- South Asian heritage
- At least one child entering, enrolled in or completed higher education

Initially, the researcher's family members that fit the criteria were offered the opportunity to take part in the study. Following their own participation, subjects were asked if they knew of anyone else that may be interested in taking part in the study. This is a form of chain referral sampling. According to Atkinson and Flint (2001), this strategy is most commonly used to find potential participants for qualitative-based research in which interviews are conducted. The sampling technique used worked well in finding suitable participants who were happy to take part and also met the inclusion criteria.

Participants

Participant 1

Participant 1 was born in the UK but stayed in Bangladesh (her parents place of birth) during her childhood and adolescence. She did not complete compulsory education in England as she relocated in her mid-20's. Participant 1 did not attend college or university in the UK, however she did obtain GCSEs and NVQs as a mature student. She is in full-time employment, follows the Islamic faith and is married with two children. The youngest is in primary school and the eldest will be entering university upon receipt of her results.

Participant 2

Participant 2 was born in the UK but spent her entire childhood in Pakistan before relocating at the age of 12. Upon arrival, she attended a reception centre for new arrivals to learn English. Following this she went to middle school briefly and then attended high school; attaining O Levels and CSE. She then married and had her first child before returning to Further Education and completing a BTEC qualification in nursery nursing. She is in full-time employment, follows the Islamic faith and is the mother of two children. Both of her children attended university; the eldest has achieved a degree and the youngest is in her final year of university.

Participant 3

Participant 3 was born in Kenya. Her father was also born in Kenya as his father moved there from India for employment purposes. Participant 3 self-identifies as South Asian (Indian) and her cultural influences are South Asian. She lived within a South Asian community and predominantly spoke Punjabi at home whilst living in Kenya. She completed O Levels, A Levels and training there before starting work as a teacher in a college. When she relocated to the UK at the age of 26 or 27, she got married and did not pursue higher education, but looked for a job instead. She is in full-time employment, follows Sikhism and is married with three children. The youngest is considering an apprenticeship, whilst the older two girls have graduated from university.

Participant 4

Participant 4's family relocated to the UK from Pakistan when she was young. She completed her O Levels and is currently in full-time employment. She follows the religion of Islam and is married with three children. The eldest child has conditional offers for university, the middle child is completing A Levels and the youngest is still in primary school.

Participant 5

Participant 5 was born in Pakistan and her family migrated during her childhood. She completed her education and went on to study two different diplomas (childcare,

counselling). She is currently in full-time employment and was a governor at her child's primary school. She follows Islam and is married. She has one son, who completed GCSEs, A Levels and then begun to work. He is now in the process of applying to universities.

Data collection technique – semi-structured interviews

The ontological and epistemological position of this research demanded a data collection technique that would provide data full of meaning which is open to interpretation. Although in-depth, unstructured interviews have more flexibility and exploratory benefits, semi-structured interviews are more directional and allow for focus on the domains of interest (Schensul, Schensul & Lecompte, 1999). The data produced by semi-structured interviews can be 'reliable, comparable qualitative data' (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006). They make use of interview guides; which are formed and used by interviewers in order to aid with covering essential questions/topics. Interview guides also provide the interview with structure and direction. Although the interviewer will follow the guide, they can ask further open-ended questions and also pursue topical trajectories that arise, if appropriate. The opportunity to understand core issues in new ways arises through use of this style of interview, due to its flexible and adaptable nature. (Cohen & Crabtree, 2006; Alshenqeeti, 2014).

As with most data collection techniques, there are limitations to semi-structured interviews. Semi-structured interviews are acknowledged for their ability to give participants the freedom to offer their experiences in their own terms. However, 'interviewer effects' may take place during the interview. This bias will occur if the researcher guides the participant in a 'special direction' and/or does not put aside their personal views. If this were the case, the reliability of the data would understandably be compromised. Fortunately, this is something that can be controlled through awareness of the effect and effective training of the interviewer. (Opdenakker, 2006). The researcher in the current study had previous experience of using interview guides and during their final year project, had some informal training in the Cognitive Interview Technique. Previous experiences with interviewing should therefore limit interviewer effects.

The interviewer will typically take notes during the course of the interview. However, for ease and accuracy of transcription, audio can also be recorded with the permission of the participant (Opdenakker, 2006). Following the collection of interview data, researchers spend a considerable amount of time transcribing the recorded data. Bryman (2001) estimated that an hour long interview takes five to six hours to transcribe.

Not only can these interviews be time consuming but they may also be costly. The interviewer could possibly need to travel to destinations further afield in order to secure interviews with the required sample, on multiple occasions (Opdenakker, 2006). Utilising focus groups could limit costs from increasing, as the researcher can raise multiple topics for discussion by groups of participants (Smithson, 2000). However, an individual voice may dominate, deterring others from sharing their thoughts and opinion. In the current study, individual accounts and experiences are highly valued and so focus groups would not be suitable.

Telephone interviews are also less costly and can aid in contacting difficult populations and gain wider geographical access (Opdenakker, 2006). However, the issue with asynchronous communication of place is the lack of social cues such as body language and facial expressions. These social cues can be useful as added information for the interviewer to work with (Opdenakker, 2006). In addition, rapport building and 'interpretation of responses' is compromised (Novick, 2008).

The research aims in the current study necessitate a rich dataset in order to achieve the depth of understanding desired by the researcher. Although lengthy, semistructured interviews can provide 'deeper insight' and familiarity with the data (Corden & Sainsbury, 2006). Individual, in-depth semi-structured interviews were therefore the preferred method of data collection. The same interviewer conducted all interviews using the same guide. Issues concerning bias and validity can be minimised this way (Bryman, 2008).

The Interview Guide

The interview guide was split into three different topics. This provided the element of structure to the interview and made sure that the domains of interest were covered:

Topic 1: Factual information

- Tell me about your family.
- When did you arrive in this country?
- To what level is your education?
- To what level is your child's education?

The guide begins with basic, factual information about qualifications, family and heritage. The reason behind this was so that the researcher could gage appropriate questions to follow based on the answers received. It was also to ease the participants into the interview and build rapport with them. According to DiCicco-Bloom and Crabtree (2006), rapport is an essential component of the interview. This is because it creates a safe and comfortable environment for the participant to share personal experiences and attitudes; which was crucial in the current study.

Topic 2: The education system

- When did your children start in school?
- How did you get them into school?
- Tell me about when they were in primary school
- What activities did your child take part in?
- Tell me about a time you went into the school
- Did you meet any of the teachers?
- Do you remember if your child was given homework?
- Does school in the UK differ to the system in your country of birth?

Questions in the second topic related to navigation of the education system by the participants. In the literature review it was highlighted that South Asian parents'

involvement in school matters can sometimes be misunderstood. The guide therefore focuses on parental involvement and communication between parents/school.

Topic 3: Ambition and motivation

- Was the education of your children particularly important to you? Why?
- When you looked at your children, what did you want them to be?
- Did you have any desires for your children as they were growing up?

The motivation and high aspirations of South Asian parents was prominent from the literature review. The final topic therefore aimed to explore each participant's ambitions and desires for their children as they grew up and passed through the education system.

All of the questions in the guide were open-ended and allowed for participants to offer their thoughts, feelings and experiences freely. The guide also ensured that all participants were asked the same questions, which would provide comparable data and therefore support the analytical process later on in the study. The range of questions that the interview guide encompasses will ensure that the research aims are addressed.

Interview Process

Participants were emailed the information sheet for the study so that they could read and decide whether or not they wished to participate. Interview dates, times and venues were confirmed with each participant well in advance. Before each interview commenced, participants were invited to reread the information sheet, in order to refresh their memory over what the study entailed. Following this, they were given the opportunity to ask questions. Participants were then asked to read and sign the consent form. Initial interviews lasted around an hour, with the researcher following the interview guide. Following the interviews, participants were debriefed and given the opportunity to ask any further questions. They were then thanked for their time and given the researchers email address to contact in case any issues arose. The second set of interviews were shorter as they were conducted over the telephone, lasting 20-30 minutes. All interviews were recorded for ease of transcription and later analysis.

Ethical Considerations

Before data collection could begin, ethical approval was required from the University of Huddersfield's School Research Ethics Panel (SREP). This panel assesses applications, ensuring that they meet ethical standards for research. A research proposal, supervisor report, risk analysis and management form, along with documents made for use within the research (information sheet, consent form, debrief) were all sent to the panel for review. The study was granted ethical approval and the researcher endeavoured to conduct the research in accordance with the terms of approval outlined by the SREP.

The BPS (2009) Code of Conduct was adhered to throughout the entire study. It was made clear to all participants that their participation was voluntary and they were also made aware of their right to withdraw at any point up until analysis. In line with ethical guidelines, all data was kept confidential. To maintain anonymity, transcripts were labelled using numbers (1-5), instead of names. Names mentioned by participants during the interview were either removed or replaced with alternative pronouns such as 'he/she'. Recorded data from the transcripts of all interviews was only ever discussed with the researcher's supervisor and destroyed following completion of the study.

The obligation to manage any ethical issues that emerge due to differences in methods, participant populations and the nature of relationships with participants, lies with the researcher (Stivaros, 2007). Throughout the current study, the researcher was uncompromising in their respect for all participants. The researcher acknowledged the individual, cultural and role differences between participants and strived to not only respect these differences, but also embrace them. Integrity was

also of paramount importance to the researcher, and in line with the BPS Code of Conduct (2009), everyone involved in the study was treated with fairness and all interactions were honest and accurate.

An ethical dilemma that arose for the researcher was personal/emotional involvement due to sharing the same ethnic and religious background with the majority of participants in the study. Such close interest, according to Stivaros (2007) shapes elements of the research; from formation of research aims to interpretative accounts. It is inevitable that all researchers will possess characteristics that affect research activities. These characteristics will immediately, eventually or maybe never become apparent (Stivaros, 2007). Rather than be discouraged, subjective involvement should be embraced through reflexivity. Stivaros (2007) claims that reflexivity demands 'immediate, continuing and dynamic' self-awareness on the researcher's behalf, in order to understand how their subjectivity has impacted on the research process. The researcher in the current study therefore utilised a reflexivity diary, which would be completed after each interview and reviewed before the next. Reflexive logs are useful to enhance learning and thinking; allowing for self-evaluation of practice (Barry & O'Callaghan, 2008).

This chapter discussed the ontological and epistemological underpinnings of the current study. The most appropriate method, an interview process, was chosen in order to meet the aims of the research and collect rich data for meaning interpretation. The next chapter will detail the key themes that emerged through the thematic analysis carried out on the data. The themes will be interpreted using research and sociocultural explanations of behaviour.

Data Analysis, Findings and Discussion

The following chapter will explore the way in which the thematic analysis was carried out and the various themes that emerged from the dataset, considering previous literature and theories of development relevant to the epistemology and ontology of this research. The first theme is parental involvement, and further analysis of this theme identifies several influential factors to also be investigated; cultural differences, religious influences and pressures on children.

About Thematic Analysis

Once the data had been collected and transcribed into Word documents, thematic analysis could begin. There are numerous qualitative analytic approaches, but Braun and Clarke (2006) argue that thematic analysis is the foundational method. They state that this method is used to identify, analyze and report patters or themes within data. It is also said to provide core skills, beneficial when conducting other forms of qualitative analysis. Thematic analysis is a flexible approach, independent of theory and epistemology. This means that unlike techniques such as Interpretative Phenomenological Analysis, it is not limited in the way it is applied nor is it tied to any specific theoretical frameworks (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

Critics may argue that anything goes during thematic analysis. However, the same has been said for qualitative research as a whole, with added claims of it being 'airy fairy' and not 'real' research (Laubschagne 2003). Therefore, the same response used to defend qualitative research can also apply to thematic analysis. Theory and method should be used rigorously and there is a checklist of criteria that can be used in order to determine if a good thematic analysis has been produced or not (Braun & Clarke, 2006). There are also suggestions that those who lack the skills or knowledge to perform more sophisticated methods conduct thematic analysis. However, Braun and Clarke (2006) dismiss this by advocating that a rigorous thematic approach can provide an insightful analysis and has every potential to present a rich, detailed and complex account of the data. This technique is widely used within qualitative research and is effective in interpreting various aspects of the research topic. (Braun & Clarke, 2006).

High parental aspirations

A prominent theme that emerged from the dataset was the high aspirations that all of the mothers possessed for their children. This is in line with previous research, as Shah et al. (2010) found that Pakistani parents had aspirations for the high educational achievement of their children, regardless of SES circumstances. In the present study, every participant disclosed their aspirations they held for their children:

Participant 1:

[...] all I ever wanted her to do was experience college life [...] I want them to achieve in whatever field they want

Participant 2: I wanted them to do well [...] and be successful [...] my goal was for my son to get to university. Because that was the reason I came to England, that was the sole purpose

Participant 3: I wanted more for them...

Participant 4: I wanted them to have more of an education than I did...

Participant 5: *I really did want him to go to university… I wanted him to […] achieve high*

Cultural differences

Such high parental aspirations have long been associated with a subsequent positive effect on children and their academic growth (Fan, 2001). From a sociocultural approach to parenting, parents will develop goals that emphasise their children attaining culturally valued skills and characteristics (Yamamoto & Holloway,

2010). Inevitably, these goals will differ culturally and may range anywhere from academic success and financial circumstances to religious affiliation and marriage. In the West, one measure of success is academic achievement and career opportunities, with 76% of parents in a sample of 1006 finding it very important that their child obtains their dream job (OneFamily, n.d.). In addition, a study of 1000 parents in the UK found that their top concern was their children's academic progress. A lower percentage of these parents raised issues such as bullying and unhappiness as a high priority concern (Heath-Abbott, 2016). On the other hand, from a sample of parents and grandparents belonging to the Samburu tribe in Kenya, the most frequent response to questions about parental aspirations related to their daughters getting married (Swadener, Kabiru & Njenga, 2000). Furthermore, in South Asian culture, although higher education and professional employment is encouraged, professional women are still expected to manage domestic tasks (Butt, MacKenzie & Manning, 2010). This balance between work and family life is termed 'superwoman syndrome' and is an aspiration that South Asian parents hold for their daughters (Butt et al., 2010).

The mothers in the current study, although of South Asian heritage, did not fully conform to any specific parental aspiration norm. One participant acknowledged the usual perceived narrative of South Asian parents pressuring their children in pursuing advanced degrees (Thakore, 2016):

Participant 1:

[...] there was a phase in our area where everyone was like 'my daughter's gonna be a doctor, my son's gonna be a lawyer'.

Nevertheless, she went on to distance herself from this popular cultural parental aspiration, in favour of placing emphasis on the happiness of her children:

Participant 1: But I'm not fussed really as long as they're happy and they're doing what they want This was the case for the majority of the participants, as they all shared similar sentiments regarding their aspirations for their children. Each mother mentioned a desire for their children to pursue what they want:

Participant 1:

[...] just whatever they wanted to be. I just thought 'as long as they get to uni and have good jobs, and can stand on their own two feet... that's it'

Participant 2:

[...] I never, you know forced them to do something they weren't really confident in. I just let them decide what they wanted to do

Participant 3:

[...] When I see them all going through school I will notice what they're doing well in but it is down to them. With my eldest his teachers always told me that his strengths were in the sciences so [...] I kind of like steered him that way and told him to stay focussed and think about what he wants to do and what he enjoys. [...] you know like kind of guide them but leave them to the open choice

Participant 4: Yeah, just... just... I wanted him to be happy and achieve high

Sociocultural theory emphasises both the influence of culture on development and the differences that exist between cultural norms. Not only do the women in the current study acknowledge their 'own' cultural norms; explaining them and understanding that they exist, they similarly seem to have adapted to the norms within their new society. They mention having aspirations that are typically linked to varying cultures; academic achievement, career opportunities and happiness. This could be due to the interconnection of cultures these women face. According to Lim and Renshaw (2001) the intermixing of cultures is a result of globalisation. As cultures continue to adapt and change, an increased amount of focus may need to be placed on what it means for development. In this case, it seems to have resulted

in the creation of an open-minded view of success and the generation of goals that fit in line with both their existing and new cultural norms.

Actualising ethnic capital

Existing literature does not dispute that non-native/immigrant parents have high aspirations for their children's academic achievement. However, it has been claimed that they are unable to actualize ethnic capital in order to fulfil these aspirations. This is reportedly because they are not as proactive in establishing rules for study or evaluating important school issues, e.g. secondary school choices (Shah et al. 2010). The current study reveals findings to the contrary. One mother detailed the continual struggle she faced with her daughter when trying to speak to her/give her advice. She was having little luck in persuading her daughter to enroll in college, and eventually decided to bring in reinforcement:

Participant 1:

[...] so what I did was I brought my sister and my nieces, family wise, I got them involved and I said 'individually, can you all speak to her...

This strategy worked, as her daughter took the advice from her cousin and accepted an offer to study at the college her mother initially suggested. In another instance, this daughter refused all help from her mother in trying to devise a revision timetable before her exams:

Participant 1: If I tell her to set a timetable, do this, do that, she's a bit like 'no, I know what I'm doing'.

The parent did not give up her pursuit of establishing rules for study and was successful through involving other members of family:

Participant 1:

I got my sister round and said, you put your foot down. And she did. They looked at a revision timetable together and put in specific times for everything This somewhat challenge the conclusion made by Shah et al., (2010) that non-native parents cannot fulfil their aspirations through actualizing ethnic capital. The above example illustrates one case of a parent successfully establishing rules for study through realizing the need for and organizing an intervention by family members. The desired outcome was reached and the child benefitted academically. However, Shah et al. (2010) did find that working-class families could mobilise some other aspects of economic capital. A combination of factors which reinforce norms and values relating to education are employed by these families, which can support their children's achievement. Although participants in the research conducted by Shah et al. (2010) were Pakistani and participant 1 is Bangladeshi, this may go some way in explaining the difference in findings.

Religious influence on aspirations

An interesting angle that emerged which ties in with parental aspirations is the religious influence that the parents feel. This influence surfaces through the language used by participants; almost always uttered in conjunction with aspirations, expectations or expressions of perceived success:

Participant 1: *"Insha'Allah she will get her results and get into university."* - (God willing)

Participant 2:

"my target was just to educate him and make him a good person. [...] Only Allah (God) will be the judge of how I've done."

Participant 5: "He was always a good boy Alhamdullilah and I'm not just saying that because he's my son."

- (Praise be to God)

The reoccurrence of religious phrases highlights the importance of religion for these parents. Although some may consider culture and religion as completely separate, Cohen (2011) proposes that religious groups are cultures in their own right. Religion is argued to shape cultures and contribute to cultural universals (Cohen, 2011). From a sociocultural perspective religion is seen as a source of moral and ethical values (Paquette & Ryan, 2001). The intensity of religious beliefs varies between families; with some adhering to their beliefs more casually than others (Paquette & Ryan, 2001). Religious orientation, values and beliefs fall under the domain of the macrosystem within the ecological systems theory. This is the largest sphere of influence upon cultural groups (Weinberger-Litman et al., 2007). Furthermore, Bronfenbrenner (1977) claimed that the macrosystem maintains a vast influence in shaping lives. Collier (2005) interviewed Senegalese-American women entrepreneurs in their hair-braiding shop in Philadelphia. The women used the following phrase when discussing their hopes for work; InshaAllah, today there will be work. Collier's research has clarified that phrases such as InshaAllah (God willing) can serve as a plea for desired outcomes. The findings in both the current study and Collier's research demonstrate how religion functions fully as a macrosystem within their environment. Religious beliefs influence various aspects of parents lives, including approaches to parenting (Howarth et al., 2008). They surface in times of hope for achievement, reflection on their parenting and in relation to their children's educational success. Only one parent followed a religion other than the Islamic faith (Sikhism) and she did not touch upon religious influence throughout the course of the interview.

Though it is within a small sample, this finding suggests that there may be an overlooked link between Islam and aspirations for educational success. There is little research on religious terminology and its use in an educational context, however Coles (2008) is clear that the achievement of Muslim pupils in the school system is reliant on the recognition of faith as a 'key determinant' of their lives and identities. Religion and education are both integral parts of life for these participants and their language seems to be an illustration of this. Psychologically, it serves as another demarcation between White British and Muslim South Asian culture, as the schools in the UK are predominantly secular. It may therefore be valuable for schools to

implement practices that represent diverse populations, such as those families who hold religious beliefs. Teachers can be advised of the integration between education and religion, in order to fully support pupils and parents with such beliefs. It may also help teachers to create a more open and understanding line of communication with these parents if they understand their belief system and identity better. Further research into the area is required in order to establish whether religious beliefs, surfacing through the use of phrases/terminology, may influence aspirations or serve as tools for navigation of the educational system by parents of faith.

Pressure on children

It was encouraging to find that all of the mothers relentlessly encouraged educational success, whilst simultaneously underlining the importance of choice, enjoyment and happiness. This may be the ideal balance in terms of parental aspirations for academic achievement. Too much pressure and emphasis on academic outcomes/grades has been argued to cause stress, anxiety and low self-esteem (Mohan, 2016). Research has found that children may perform better and have higher self-esteem if they are reassured that failure is a normal part of learning and if there is less pressure to succeed at all costs (Mohan, 2016). Although the majority of parents did not mention their children being stressed or anxious in relation to school or university outcomes, there were instances of tension recalled:

Participant 3:

Oh yeah, she used to be upset all the time. We used to say, you know 'don't be upset. If you wanna further your education, go study something. If you feel that this is not for you, go into something completely different' [...] we didn't want her to feel as though, you know, she doesn't have a job and feel depressed. So we just said to her, 'what are you worrying for? You don't have to pay the mortgage, it's fine, we're not asking you for anything'

On this occasion, there was no evidence of pressure from the parents. However, successful academic/career choices are claimed to influence one's self-esteem and confidence and so the upset felt in this case may have arisen from high self-expectations or unachievable societal expectations (Powell, 2009). This graduate

was deeply upset about their unsuccessful job search and this highlights the career and success-based pressures that can be felt by students. In another case, participant 1 details her daughter's disappointment at not receiving a place at the sixth-form she wished to attend:

Participant 1:

And then when she came back she was like really deflated. She was like completely like 'no I'm not doing it – I'll get an apprenticeship' [...] Yeah it brought her down, completely brought her down [...]. I think she just looked at herself to be a complete failure

The sixth-form refused participant 1's daughter a place to study as she did not achieve her predicted grades. In both cases, neither of the parents applied pressure on their children. However, the weight and importance placed on children's educational outcomes is naturally accentuated by schools as they are predominantly evaluated by standards of achieved grades (Heath-Abbott, 2016). This pressure felt by schools has implications for their relationship with both parents and children. It can be said that communication between schools and parents tends to be achievement-oriented. However, Heath-Abbott (2016) argues that schools have a responsibility in ensuring they do not subsequently apply direct pressure on parents. Such pressure will likely have an effect on parent-child interaction; which could potentially disrupt the child's microsystem. For harmony in the microsystem and a rich mesosystem link, discussions centred around children's happiness and limiting pressure placed on them may be beneficial (Heath-Abbott, 2016). In agreement, Mohan (2016) notes that a direct implication of increasing amounts of stress on children is the need for parents and teachers to communicate more effectively with each other and the child. Although the requirements used for acceptance into academic institutions are unlikely to change, for the welfare of all, the manner in which the staff communicate with parents and students may benefit from being addressed. Andersson (2002) found a relationship between children experiencing problems in school and subsequent discord with the home-school mesosystem link (communication issues). This highlights the importance of the welfare of students and the knock on effect that functioning in school can have on the harmony of different levels within the ecological system.

To summarise, high parental aspirations are held by South Asian parents, however the nature of the aspirations were not in line with any specific cultural norms. The parents in the current study also employed strategies to realise these aspirations; strategies which may have been mediated by their cultural beliefs. The religious influence they face presented itself when discussing aspirations for their children which may highlight a need to represent different populations properly within schools. The parents' acknowledged pressures felt by their children and this poses implications for schools regarding the wellbeing of students.

Discussion of parental aspirations and parent-school interaction sets the tone for the next theme that emerged from the dataset; effective parental involvement. Parental involvement is a predominant topic for discussion which surfaces where academic achievement is concerned. Analysis of this theme will explore the involvement of these parents and whether or not it was effective.

Effective parental involvement

There is evidence to suggest that non-native parents are less effective in intervening with school matters. More specifically, South Asian parents have been described as being uninterested and having little to no relationship with school (Crozier & Davies, 2006). However, a key theme that emerged from the data was the effective parental involvement in school matters that the parents all demonstrated. All of the interviewees expressed overwhelming interest in their children's education and actively sought to intervene if necessary. In relation to the five dimensions of parental involvement, all of the parents demonstrated effective involvement:

1. Parenting

Participant 5:

[Education] was really top priority for me... But unfortunately, I think as the years progressed, partly due to his illnesses, he wasn't that academically inclined. He struggled a lot at school and I think, you know I even got him a maths tutor and tried to support him as much as possible but he just didn't seem to catch up

2. Helping with homework

Participant 3:

Yeah I always helped them with their homework [...] I think most of the time they got on with it themselves, but if they needed help they would come and ask. I think it was just Maths and English. Then we would work through it together

3. Communication with school

Participant 1:

He didn't need the help. But, since I didn't help him I would always ask the teacher how he's doing. Because I think that if he's not doing it or doing it to a certain standard then they need to tell me.

4. Volunteering at school

Participant 5:

I was a governor at that school [...] just to support the school

5. Participating in school decision-making Participant 4: [On researching potential schools] I did, and I looked at the Ofsted reports for both schools, yeah

This evidence directly challenges previous research that seems to downplay immigrant parental involvement. Crozier and Davies (2006) acknowledge the perception of South Asian parents in Britain as uninterested and having little to no relationship with schools. However, is clear to see that school matters are of paramount importance to these parents; demonstrated through unrelenting communication with their children's schools. In relation to the research aims, the parents navigated the educational system engaging in involvement and interaction with their children's schools. Furthermore, they executed it in the effective manner which the literature implied was reserved for native, middle-class parents.

Prolonged parental involvement

In all cases, parental involvement by parents in the current study surpassed primary and high school, reaching college/university level and beyond:

Participant 1:

so I took her to college... We had a chat and I said 'look, we can get you a place in here, this, that and the other'. She said "no, I don't want to do it" and she walked out'. And then I left her. [...] She wanted to do something apprentice-based so I said 'right – here are the websites, here are the places, go'

Participant 2:

Then he went to college and he had bad company there but I was always on his back. I always went to see his tutors and said 'if he ever misbehaves you've got to call me' before he even started. Participant 3: that's what I'm like with my eldest, I will send her any jobs I come across

Participant 5: We had to drag him through A Levels

Such involvement is typically unheard of in Western culture, with parents usually allowing their children to find their way and become independent. Ascher (2015) argues against parents stepping in and rescuing their children from academic failure. Instead, Ascher (2015) believes that dealing with the consequences will develop resiliency in students; a skill which is crucial to them launching successfully. 'Failure to launch' is a popular way to describe the difficulties that young adults may face during the transition into a phase of development involving increased development and responsibility (Rudloff, 2017). If they have failed to launch, students will find themselves back at home, unsuccessful in navigating college and lacking the skills needed to become independent (Ascher, 2015). However, not all cultures value the interview data that parents in the current study preferred to stay involved and rescue their children from academic failure; "we had to drag him through A Levels".

There are striking, marked cultural differences with regards to human development, across communities. For the benefit of current and future generations Rogoff (2007) places importance on understanding cultural bias of our communities. For example, Efe Pygmies live in the Democratic Republic of Congo, and children as young as 11 months are trusted and skilful in using machetes. Parents in the United States, on the other hand, would not trust a 5-year-old with a knife (Rogoff, 2007). However, the needs of the Efe Pygmies demand the use of knives for hunting across rivers and foraging through the forest (Wilkie, Morelli & Gilda, 2000). It is therefore clear there is no catchall way in which children of different cultures develop (Rogoff, 2007). The parents in the current study extended support for their children beyond typical Western norms, but this does not necessarily mean that the children have failed to launch. It is simply a cultural difference; whereby independence is valued at varying levels and times.

There are regularities or patterns that are consistent across a variety of cultures. Rogoff (2007) uses age-segregated institutions to illustrate this point. Children are usually organised by age in communities and spend their time partaking in childfocussed activities (Rogoff, 2007). This pattern can be seen in both nomadic and settled communities, but specific norms will still vary between cultures. For example, hunter-gatherer children have immense freedom to play and their childhood is 'easy and playful'; but adolescents are expected to hunt for food (Christakis, 2013). In Western communities, children participate in a level of education based on their age and adults are expected to provide financial support. In both communities, the sociocultural concept of guided participation will occur. Hunter-gatherer adolescents will be instructed and assisted with hunting before internalising the activity and being afforded independence. Similarly, in the West, the skills practised in schools may closely relate to those required for subsequent participation in the economic/political establishments within their society (Rogoff et al., 1993).

These examples illustrate the differences in expectations between communities; with each community defining their own normal stages of development. In South Asian culture, family is extremely important. It is anticipated that elderly relatives are cared for at home as placing them in care/nursing homes is viewed negatively and generally frowned upon. This stems from the sense of duty that children of this culture feel towards their parents (Manzoor, 2014). For South Asian parents, their goal in life is to get their children educated and wed. Unmarried children, regardless of age, will usually live with their parents (South Asian Concern, n.d.). Manzoor (2014) finds this to be common among South Asians but relatively rare for White Britons. As we have established, living at home after college/university is typically classed as dependency and a failure to launch in the West. However, in South Asian culture, reliance on family members and strong familial values seem to be more important than self-reliance related skills.

An explanation for the prolonged involvement of these parents may therefore lie within the cultural differences between South Asian and Western norms. Pakistani parents' interest and involvement in their child's education has been identified as culturally different than White middle-class parents (Huss-Keeler, 1997). Furthermore, South Asian parenting style is often misunderstood and seen as

controlling (Navsaria, 2012). However, Navsaria (2012) found that South Asian mothers had goals pertaining to the success of their children and did not seek to dominate them. Their goals and values simply differ from Western norms, as they are heavily guided by their own cultural upbringing and sense of identity (Navsaria, 2012). Naturally, they rely on the personal concepts they retain from their South Asian heritage and culture. They will apply their beliefs within various contexts and define what is appropriate based on their culture (Navsaria, 2012). An interconnection between cultural parenting norms and the alternate beliefs values regarding independence may therefore explain the finding of prolonged parental involvement. Parents in the current study demonstrated involvement from primary school through high school to university and beyond.

Marginalisation

Another dimension of the parental involvement theme was marginalisation felt by the parents whilst they were navigating school matters. Two participants in particular experienced this within school settings:

As a parent at a school parents' evening meeting

Participant 4:

I thought... she opened my eyes actually, that, you know... she viewed me as somebody different... you know... lower than her... that I didn't know anything. And I felt as though I was brainless.

Communicating with a teacher about a school matter Participant 5: She just wasn't culturally sensitive at all. I wish I had been stronger and stood up to her now but it's hindsight. [...] She was just horrible

These experiences support the research findings where non-native parents have reported feeling alienated by schools (Collins and Cook, 2001). This may constitute a level of institutional neglect of issues concerning ethnicity within schools, according to Collins and Cook (2001). There are clear examples of this in school regulations today. Standardised testing calls for emphasis on rote learning in English, which

disregards children's native languages (Tamer, 2014). This is the case in the majority of compulsory schools in the UK and US, regardless of the fact that immigrant youth are best supported when schools adopt bicultural identities. This enables the children to navigate multiple cultural worlds effectively and encourage positive race-relations within schools (Tamer, 2014). Though beneficial, schools have not yet established strategies in favour of this cultural straddling/crossing of cultural boundaries (Tamer, 2014). An implication of this finding is the need for development of an educational programme that would serve to reduce the alienation of parents and promote their support of school efforts (Chavkin, 1993).

In summary, this theme highlighted evidence for effective parental involvement during navigation of the educational system by all participants. Involvement by these parents surpassed high school and continued on to university and beyond, which could be due to differing cultural norms and values. Parental involvement has found to have a positive influence on achievement so it may be worthwhile for schools to recognise where varying cultural beliefs cause a difference in behaviour and implement strategies which work to encourage them regardless. The mesosystem link between microsystems will only strengthen if cultural differences are celebrated and parents are encouraged to support school efforts.

The next theme addresses challenges faced by non-native parents in relation to inclusion. Factors ranging from language difficulties to cultural and religious insensitivity will be investigated, with implications for policymakers.

Barriers to inclusion

Religious sensitivity

Another theme that emerged from within the data was that of inclusion, and the different barriers the parents faced. Although the question of inclusive practices within their children's schools was not on the interview guide, it was a topic of conversation that arose in the majority of interviews regardless.

Parental involvement helps to establish continuity across the many aspects of students' lives (Sacramento, 2015). However, this can only occur if there are no direct barriers in the way of inclusion (Sacramento, 2015). Barriers lead to marginalisation, which is something that diverse-heritage families face within schools. McCreery, Jones and Holmes (2007) found that overall, Muslim women interviewed believed state schools to be insensitive to the needs of Muslim children. Participant 5 reiterated this feeling when she recounted an incident with her son's primary school teacher:

Participant 5:

All he was doing was just reading about pigs [...] and it just got a bit tiresome. [...] Isn't there anything else he can progress to? And erm, I spoke to her and she said 'if he doesn't read this he's not gonna learn to read' you know, basically saying that if he didn't read that he can just pack up and go home, it was that book or nothing.

[...] I was really upset about it, because it was like pig, pig, pig all the way through

[...] She just wasn't culturally sensitive at all.

According to sociocultural theory infants are 'cultural apprentices' who are guided by their caregivers (Rogoff et al., 1993). Naturally, caregivers influence infants' development and growth with information that is deeply informed by their own personal cultural knowledge. In this experience, participant 5 raises her issue with her son being exposed to a book concerning pigs, which she found forced and repetitive in nature. To non-Muslims, this may not seem so much of an issue, aside

from perhaps concern over progression to more complex reading material. But for Muslims who abide by the rulings of their religion and have developed under historic cultural understandings and sensitivities it is likely to cause discomfort. The Quran, the central religious text in Islam, stipulates that the flesh of the swine is impure and therefore prohibited from consumption by Muslims (Stacey, 2009). A cultural misconception that has arisen, predominantly from South Asia, is that this animal is forbidden in all forms (Wainwright, 2003). This may include books, pictures, TV programmes about the animal, and even uttering the word 'pig'. Sociocultural theorists explain that individuals participate in activities and maintain concepts that are common practice and valued within their cultural community (Siegler & Alibali, 2005). The mother's feelings of discomfort are therefore understandable, with such frequent exposure to the animal. Although the view is of cultural significance rather than an official Islamic ruling, a member of the Muslim Council of Britain recommends that sensitivity is respected and parents are not mocked (Wainwright, 2003).

Andersson (2002) claims that one condition for teachers to be successful in their role is to have good relations with the parents of their students. Parents and teachers see different sides of their child and by working together, can get a more complete picture (Andersson, 2002). Maylor, Read, Mendick, Ross and Rollock (2007) found that the main challenges for teachers in developing shared understanding was their knowledge, experience and confidence dealing with certain discussions. In participant 5's experience, the teacher's approach was not particularly flexible to the child's needs or sensitive to their cultural background and beliefs. She felt the teacher was insensitive and left her feeling 'angry, drained and upset' over the situation. It resulted in feelings of marginalisation and leaving her unable to voice her opinion further; 'I wish I had been stronger and stood up to her'. Had the parent and teacher worked together to identify the child's needs, participant 5 may have felt less angry at the situation and a more positive outcome could have been achieved, with the mesosystem link staying intact.

An implication of this finding is the need for policies that address religious and cultural sensitivity within schools. Policies and programmes of the government are macro-level factors (Gardner, 1981). The education system as a macro level

influence encompasses regulations, legislation, training and strategies (Hadjitheodoulou-Loizidou, 2012). At this wider level, teachers have been encouraged to use materials which reflect cultural differences and diversity (Maylor et al., 2007). There is one piece of research that investigates the use of culturalsensitivity training courses in medical schools. This research was conducted by Lum and Korenman (1994) across the US; they found some use of such courses and suggest the need for more widespread training. They also stress the importance of further research in this area as the population changes and different beliefs and values emerge.

An example of an education-based resource that is intended for use by the whole school community is provided by the Department for Education and Skills (Great Britain, 2005). Arslan (2009) places the responsibility of working collaboratively with staff, parents and the wider community in order to create a culturally sensitive school setting. However, some schools may be more successful than others in supporting inclusion and achievement (Black-Hawkins, Florian & Rouse, 2008). Research into the implementation of inclusive policies may therefore be beneficial (MacBeath, Galton, Steward, MacBeath & Page, 2006).

Reading schemes are devised in conjunction with literacy experts. Children learn to read at different rates and there are a variety of texts to develop their reading range at each stage (Dimbylow, n.d.). The advice from the teacher in the situation mentioned above; that a book about pigs was the only way the child would learn to read, is therefore contradictory to the very nature of reading schemes. It is a Piagetian way of thinking that stages of development cannot be skipped and must be passed through in order to progress. This does not align with the sociocultural approach as Vygotsky (1978) rejected claims that maturation was enough to allow for progression to higher thinking and activity. Instead, the interaction of children with peers and caregivers within the zone of proximal development will provide progressive understanding (Vygotsky, 1978). Furthermore, not all schools implement reading schemes, with one head teacher of a primary school in London arguing real books to be more 'stimulating' than those used in the schemes. He argues that reading ability will flow when children enjoy reading (Dimbylow, n.d.). Participant 5 recalls seeing a difference in her son whilst he was in this class:

Participant 5:

if you compare my son's school photographs from when he was in different classes he's bright-eyed, perky, he's got a smile on his face... the picture in her class... erm he just looks terrible, he looks sad and like he's gonna cry

"Happiness is the soil in which intelligence grows" (Pond Park Primary, 2013: 1). The UK's Department for Education spokesman claims that good schools will recognise the importance of children's wellbeing on their subsequent attainment and promote both mental and physical development (Donnelly, 2015). Not only is Britain behind other Western countries in terms of academic standards, studies have also suggested that child development is also languishing (Donnelly, 2015). There is a gap in the literature investigating cultural insensitivity and mental health problems within schools. However, perceived social exclusion from important groups may contribute to anxiety (Leary, 1990). The ecological approach emphasises the importance of social inclusion and institutions within communities as essential to development (Pierson, 2009). This framework implores schools to consider factors across both the community and family level (Pierson, 2009). Failure to do so may result in the feelings of anger expressed by the parent and upset seen within the child in this situation. This could be classed as a negative encounter which disrupts home-school co-operation and affects the mesosystem link. On the contrary, children experiencing positive encounters within school have been found to 'learn easily' and enjoy school, which lead to good relations and close contact between parents and teachers. (Andersson, 2002). This is definitely something for parents and teachers to strive towards, and for policymakers to take note of.

A school which may have been more successful in its inclusion strategy was the primary school that participant 1's son attended. She spoke about the differences between her children's primary schools:

Participant 1:

I am happy with my son's primary school [...] they do extra things like on Eid and Diwali which goes a long way in making parents feel a bit more included. It helps. When discussing her son's primary school, participant 1 highlights the celebration of religious festivals as a reason she was 'happy' with the school. There is a gap in the literature considering the influence of cultural and religious celebration, however, participant 1 claims that it facilitates parents feeling 'more included'. This further illustrates the importance of religious observance as discussed in the first theme and highlights the benefit of implementing practices that work towards properly representing different populations within schools.

The Anti-Defamation League states that holiday celebrations of any kind are an excellent opportunity to offer insight into different cultures and provide understanding about different groups of people (ADL, 2014). These celebrations can also reinforce and encourage the diversity of everyone and their experiences. However, there are implications for schools to consider when organising celebrations of holidays and festivals. The ADL suggest that public schools remain neutral; being careful to avoid endorsing or promoting specific customs over others. To refrain from offending any students or parents and their beliefs, the opportunity to decline participation can be offered in a way that prevents marginalisation. (ADL, 2014).

Importance of communication

Participant 1 goes on to recall that her son's school also had bilingual members of staff working there, though her daughter's primary school did not:

Participant 1:

They have bilingual staff there so if I did need that it would be there. Whereas my daughter's primary school didn't offer that, and back then is when I would have maybe needed that more so than now.

Participant 1 feels as though she would have benefitted from being able to communicate with bilingual staff when her eldest child was at school. As discussed in the literature review, a lack of communication between the home-school microsystems has been found to have an undesirable effect on the achievement of Pakistani pupils (Abley et al., 2004). This could, in turn, weaken or disconnect the

mesosystem link. The addition of bilingual staff could help with inclusion, but may not always be possible in every school or go far enough in combatting the issue entirely. Again, it may be beneficial if teachers are provided with resources in preparation for dealing with culturally diverse classrooms and families. Skerrett (2006) conducted a reflective piece of research on the impact of her biography (race, ethnicity, gender, age, social class background, and prior personal/professional experiences) on her teaching. She found that elements of her biography influenced her expertise, confidence in teaching and students (negative) perceptions of her competence. The implications that Skerrett (2006) outlines are clear: as school populations become increasingly diverse, teachers can benefit from engaging in this reflective process. It may strengthen their awareness of their teaching, change the perceptions of their students and hopefully create a strong mesosystem link between home-school microsystems.

Feelings of difference

One key area which was discussed in all of the interviews was whether or not the mothers felt different to other parents due to their heritage. Participant 4 was very forthcoming in expressing how different she felt:

Participant 4:

I felt different. I definitely felt different, in the sense that 'how will the teacher communicate with me?' compared to a White, English mother or parent. I thought they would see me differently, definitely see me differently

Not only did she anticipate being treated differently, she also felt that she experienced it in an interaction with a primary school teacher at parents evening:

Participant 4:

I went to a parent's evening and he was so excited that I was going, he thought he was doing really well, I went in and sat there and she said 'I don't know where to start'. She didn't show me any books or anything, just said that and said he was very disruptive and all the negative things about him... Not one thing said was positive 'he's not progressing, he's not doing this, he's not doing that' I was so gobsmacked at the time, I didn't know what to say... She just complained about him and I was stunned, I didn't know how to react at the situation...

she opened my eyes actually, that, you know... she viewed me as somebody different... you know... lower than her... that I didn't know anything. And I felt as though I was brainless.

This incident took place in a school which is a learning environment expected to encourage positivity and inclusion. Participant 4 felt that the teacher viewed her as somebody 'different' and she also felt 'lower than her'. A number of studies have emphasised the detrimental effects of negative treatment on both the physical and psychological welfare of immigrants (Yakushko, 2009). Experiencing discrimination can lead to depressive symptoms; one of which is a feeling of worthlessness (McGirr et al., 2007). Participant 4 notes feeling 'brainless' and that she 'didn't know anything'. These beliefs may fall under the 'feelings of worthlessness' category as a symptom of depression. There are major implications for the way in which schools and teachers communicate with parents, so not to discourage or distress them.

Such feelings of exclusion or marginalisation within schools in the West may have inadvertently contributed to the recent rise in Islamic schools. There has been an increase in the number of children attending Muslim faith schools in the UK (McCreery et al., 2007). There are various reasons or 'anxieties' behind parents' choice in sending their children to faith schools. Muslim parents feel as though consistency between home and school life is better maintained if they attend an Islamic school. This includes the provision of Halal food and perceived tolerance to customs pertaining to their culture such as children eating with their hands on occasion. This is a custom specific to both culture and religion but in a non-Muslim school it may be classed as social immaturity (McCreery et al., 2007). Furthermore, the parents in support of enrolling their children into Muslim schools liked the idea of Islamic Fiqh (understanding of Islamic law) being supported (McCreery et al., 2007). This may have influenced participant 1's decision in choosing the Islamic high school for her daughter to attend. She explains:

Participant 1:

We both said, maybe this is the right path for her, because it will give her lessons of life slightly different to normal school.

With my daughter, part of sending her to the Islamic school was because I wanted her to know things that I couldn't teach her. So I wanted school to pick up on that as well, Islamically.

Participant 1 also touches upon her expectations relating to the Islamic school:

Participant 1:

To say she went to an Islamic school and all the teachers were Muslim, it was hard interacting. I would prefer it the other way. Seriously, in the other schools if I had a problem I could bring it up and talk to them. But Islamic school was hard

This quote is important in relation to the earlier discussion. Participant 1 did not receive the expected enhanced interaction from the Islamic school her daughter attended. However, the very belief she would might have been a contributing factor in her decision to send her there. This strengthens the implication for schools to pay attention to diverse-heritage communities, their feelings and to increase their support for them. This finding also has implications for faith schools; they may not be doing enough to maintain a culture of inclusion that does not exclude any parents who decide to send their children there.

Language barrier

In response to being asked if she had any issues integrating or settling when she moved to the UK from Kenya, participant 3 recalled one particularly poignant story. She reflects on the cause of the shyness she initially felt when she began working in the UK for the first time. The linguistic differences between herself and colleagues was highlighted by others, creating an insecurity:

Participant 3:

I think I was quite shy, just like my kids trying to speak Punjabi, they get embarrassed. My way, some of the words were quite different and I always mix my W's and V's, you know the way I say... And I wouldn't notice that but somebody else would say 'what you saying?' you know... it put me off speaking in public then

The role of language in human development is a vital part of the Vygotskian framework (John-Steiner & Mahn, 1996). Sociocultural theory claims that learning second or foreign languages is situated and therefore unfolds in different ways, under different circumstances (Lantolf, 2013). Every individual, including participant 3, will have their own history. Their personal development will have taken place through participation in cultural, linguistic and historically formed settings (Lantolf & Thorne, 2006). It is widely accepted that second language (L2) learners will struggle grammatically with the new language. Both teachers of foreign languages and L2 learners acknowledge this themselves. Turuk (2008) notes that it is unreasonable and would be a mistake to assume that L2 learners acquire the new language in the same way that children acquire their first language. In the example above, participant 3 is referring to English as a language she learned at school in Kenya. However, she seldom conversed in English in comparison to Punjabi and Swahili. She claims English was rarely spoken at home:

Participant 3:

No I wasn't confident, because we never actually spoke English. We spoke Swahili or Punjabi

At home we were always speaking Punjabi and with other people we would speak Swahili so English was just like... [a school thing]

Rather than learning English through the pursuit of personal interest, participant 3 was acquiring this foreign language at school in Kenya through necessity. It is possible that within her learning context, progress was not facilitated through explicit instruction and coaching, leading to issues with pronunciation. It could also be that she suffered the attrition of her foreign language skills through lack of use (Weltens, de Bot & van Els, 1987). Regardless, her English was not perfect and Reihl's (2000: 55) statement that "language is a key mechanism for both oppression and

transformation" may ring true in this case. Although participant 3 recalls this experience from within the workplace, she said 'it put me off speaking in public then'. Participant 3's interactions with others left her feeling hesitant and reluctant to speak English. This finding has implications for those interacting in various social settings with non-native individuals. In schools, a language barrier may result in a weakened mesosystem link and subsequently pose problems for the inclusion of parents and the achievement of children.

In another example of how the language barrier can present itself, participant 4 recounted a time when her husband had to attend parents evening on her behalf. Their child also went to the event in order to translate for his father and teacher.

Participant 4:

[...] there's no translator that speaks our language in either school. I think I was in hospital one time when it was parents evening so my son went with my husband [...] he asked the questions on behalf of his dad, and if he struggled he was there

Although participant 4 describes it as 'nice' that her son was able to do that for his father, this experience still raises questions about school inclusion of non-native parents struggling with English. She explains that her husband left communication with school to her and did not get involved as much:

Participant 4:

I always got involved more, he always pushed me forward because obviously he struggled communicating...

The fact that this father felt uncomfortable liaising with school due to a language barrier is not surprising. Thao (2009) does not differentiate between nationality when explaining that immigrant parents may feel embarrassed and uncomfortable participating in school matters and talking to teachers. However, we can see the marginalising effect that a language barrier can create. Although participant 4's family is not technically classed as linguistically isolated because she speaks English, there are non-native families who are living in completely linguistically isolated households in the UK. Research has found both academic advantages and disadvantages for children living in this situation. However, little research has focused on parents and the wider societal effects they face because of it. Vygotsky is adamant that individuals cannot learn in isolation and researchers contend that without guided participation and social interaction, development will likely be hindered (McKenzie, 2000). Parents struggling to participate and interact within the wider school/community, as seen in the example above, may therefore benefit from assistance. Unassisted, they will not be able to participate or develop in their new society or be able to adapt to different cultural norms. Thus, it would be in the interest of schools if policymakers provided constructive strategies to combat this. It is not reasonable to expect every school to employ a body of bilingual staff fluent in every possible language. However, there are alternative ways to encourage participation by parents who struggle with English. Some schools can be heavily populated with diverse-heritage children from similar backgrounds, e.g. South Asian or Eastern European. Therefore, employing a translator fluent in clusters of regional dialects could aid with improved communication between parents and teachers.

Parents may also benefit from being encouraged to learn English or improve their existing skills. Linking English classes to schools is one way to facilitate language skills, communication and parental involvement. The sociocultural framework is firm in the belief that individuals learn from each other, so holding English lessons at school would be a progressive, sociocultural-based practice. The parents would hopefully feel more comfortable with both the language and the school environment and this strategy therefore has the potential to increase the type of participation and involvement valued by schools.

There has been research to support the implementation of events specifically aimed at diverse-heritage parents. A school began holding gatherings for diverse-heritage parents in order to provide them 'access to the school', the chance to discuss any concerns they may have, and details of their child's overall progress. Bilingual teaching assistants fronted the meetings so that the parents had an environment in which they could communicate in their home language. This was well received by parents and showcases the type of inclusive practices that can be put in place to help struggling parents in order to build a richer mesosystem link (Abley et al., 2004).

72

A number of potential barriers to inclusion of diverse-heritage parents have been covered in this theme. The findings offer implications for educational institutions to support their teachers with resources in order to promote interaction between the community and schools and cement strong mesosystem links. The following theme will analyse the ways in which the participants in the current study navigated the struggles their children faced at school.

Navigating issues within school

"Docile, uninterested in education and destined for arranged marriages"; this is the prevailing perception of South Asian women (Bagguley & Hussain, 2016: 1). Participants in the current study strongly challenge this stereotype and provide evidence to the contrary. A theme that emerged throughout the initial interviews and the scenario responses, however, was the initiative these women would take when it came to navigating issues within school:

Scenario 1 - Participant 1:

I'd probably want to speak to the head teacher if they were around [I would] Challenge the way the teacher put things across. Ask them when they tried to contact me. When he made all these disruptions and everything, what actions did you put in place?

Participant 2:

I went and I said "well, you've got to address this issue". The school had to address the issue, because obviously they weren't dealing with it.

Scenario 3 - Participant 3:

I would have complained about that member of staff not giving enough support. If they are there to support that young person and if they're not giving that support, I would have complained to the seniors

Participant 4:

I looked at other schools in the area [...] and I looked at the Ofsted reports for both schools

Participant 5: [On being a school governor] I did that for 10 years and I feel I did put my points across and make a difference. You know, being a part of that community and encouraging other parents to do the right thing

Decision-making

The above quotes are a mixture of actual actions and responses to hypothetical scenarios. There is a gap in the literature concerning diverse-heritage parents' involvement in school decision-making; though Crozier and Davies (2007) found that schools did not monitor the attendance or participation of immigrant parents at events such as parents evening. However, unlike Reza's (2013) findings in which none of the Pakistani parents' interviewed were part of decision-making processes within schools, one of the participants in the current study was a governor for 10 years. She reported that she was able to 'put her point across and make a difference'. It is vital that more diverse-heritage parents from an array of ethnic backgrounds have the opportunity to make their voices and opinions heard. The sociocultural approach would suggest that schools could learn from diverse-heritage parents and their input, as the importance of culture in learning and development has been established. According to Vygotskian ways of thinking, these parents have tools provided by their culture that they use to adapt to the world. Immigrants will likely have multiple cultural affiliations and identities and develop concepts about the world through the multiple cultures they have navigated (OECD, 2016). It therefore seems reasonable to not only provide guidance to these individuals, but actively seek guidance from them, too.

For the rest of the parents who have not taken active decision-making roles on school governing bodies, this could be for a number of reasons. Previous negative experiences may have tainted their view of the school or made them feel unwelcome (Reza, 2013). They were all, however, extremely forthcoming in approaching the school when issues arose; both hypothetically and in real life situations. They had no reservations about getting in touch with school staff, with most of them wanting to 'go straight to the top' (head teacher). This not only shows motivation and involvement; but it also illustrates the importance of education to these mothers. Furthermore, it suggests that the schools may have created a culture of inclusion whereby these parents felt comfortable enough to liaise with teachers and other members of staff. The mothers are willing to spend their time working with school to achieve their desired outcome/resolution.

75

Intervening in issues

According to the literature, bulling and peer victimization are major social problems (Hong & Espelage, 2012). There were not many cases of bullying recalled by participants in the current study, however there was a situation involving participant 2's son around the time of 9/11:

Participant 2:

He went through a rough period around the time of 9/11. [...] there was all that tension in the schools. He took it all personally, he used to have a fight with anybody if anybody said anything. [...] I don't think it was like attacks to him personally but he would take remarks very personally. He would fight for the whole of the Muslim Ummah (community), in his mind. He didn't know how to else to go about it. [...] In my eyes, he was getting picked on, because he was the one who lost his temper. But the others didn't, because they just started it and then backed away.

Participant 2 narrates the ongoing issues her son faced following the 9/11 attacks in America and there are two main points of concern that emerge from the details of this account. Both points pertain to the failure of the school in effectively intervening to control the situation. The first is the lack of support the school provided for the student and his family. Participant 2 implies that her son felt as though it was him against the rest of the school; singlehandedly trying to defend his religion and beliefs. This lead to participant 2 taking matters into her own hands:

Participant 2:

the school weren't doing enough in my eyes. I talked to him all about it and that's when we started having that 'boys group', you know so him and his cousins could kind of find out more about their religion and improve their own understanding. Then they could defend it with their words rather than their fists.

She organised a religious group for the boys in her family so that they could support each other and 'improve their own understanding'. The school, on the other hand,

76

did not intervene or effectively resolve the problem, in participant 2's eyes. She felt as though they were not dealing with the issue and suggests that they were not protecting her son the same way they were looking after other children, which is the second point of concern:

Participant 2:

They should've been looking after all the students, from all angles and protecting each one, and I said 'clearly you're not doing that'. Especially at such a tense time for the whole world. If the staff were encouraging it, then that's wrong.

Schools have a duty, by law, to never discriminate against anyone on the grounds of their religion or beliefs (CSIE, 2013). However, participant 2 implies that she felt the staff were encouraging the discrimination against her son; 'if the staff were encouraging it then that's wrong'. Kruzykowski (2007) raises an important point: the human race will not be able to sustain itself without teaching children tolerance. Globalisation has established the presence of many cultures in communities across the world, including schools and classrooms (Aguis & Ambrosewicz-Jacobs, 2003). Cross-cultural understanding is therefore imperative for a healthy learning climate within all schools. Aguis and Ambrosewicz (2003) describe multiculturalism as an opportunity to educate for harmony, tolerance and peace. This is in line with the sociocultural approach, which would discover the opportunity to learn from social interactions with people from different cultures, as opposed to isolating anyone. Schools are the institution in which students not only gain knowledge but also develop attitudes and academic concepts. Therefore, schools may benefit from promoting justice and equality, whilst simultaneously rejecting discriminatory views and influencing their students to do the same. (Aguis & Ambrosewicz, 2003). Regarding participant 2's situation, the school implementing a strategy to combat feelings of marginalisation by Muslims around the time of 9/11 may have eased tensions. It may also have helped to maintain strong mesosystem links and keep open lines of communication with parents of these children. As previously discussed, negative encounters within school boundaries only cause children and home-school co-operation to suffer (Andersson, 2002).

Throughout their navigation of the UK educational system, participants in the current study remained motivated in their communication with schools. They sought appropriate solutions and did not shy away from approaching the school when necessary. Bartlett, Rodriguez and Oliveira (2015) provide an explanation for this, based on sociocultural approaches to migration and education. Often, despite obstacles to inclusion, immigrants developed strategies in order to secure their desired schooling opportunity. This may be because they hold the view that higher education is a way to achieve social mobility and promotion (Shah et al., 2010). With regards to the current finding of parents intervening where school staff do not; this may be due to their aspirational capital (Basit, 2012) resulting in them employing strategies to resolve school matters and facilitate academic growth. The aspirations and needs of parents are important to assess, as Chavkin (1993) notes that educational programmes will better serve parents if such components are taken into consideration.

To summarise, the South Asian parents in the current study were able to successfully navigate issues within school; from decision-making to intervening in difficult situations. The women all offered similar advice and strategies when questioned about how they would handle tough school matters. They cited communicating with the school and 'escalating' the issue at hand. Furthermore, participant 2 stresses the importance of both educating and protecting her child, in ways that she felt the school did not. The specific issues raised in this theme have implications for macro level policies.

The final chapter is the conclusion, which aims to summarise the findings, outline the main implications, suggest areas for future research and address the limitations of the current study.

Conclusion

The final chapter will summarise key findings from the thematic analysis that was carried out and also offer implications for policy makers and educational institutions. Limitations of the present study will be discussed and recommendations for future research will be put forth.

Key findings & implications

The current study aimed to explore diverse-heritage parents' experiences and navigation of the UK educational system. There were four key themes identified from within the dataset. These themes addressed the research questions and provided a number of implications for researchers, schools and government policymakers to consider.

High parental aspirations

Parents in the current study held high aspirations for the educational achievement of their children, in line with previous research. They did, however, hold culturally different aspirations that did not align with any particular cultural norms. This may be due to the interconnection of cultures the women have experienced. In regards to actualising ethnic capital to realise their aspirations, the existing literature has found non-native parents unable to do so. This did not seem to be the case for parents in this research as one participant in particular demonstrated successfully establishing rules for study. The majority of parents in this study exhibited religious influences on their aspirations for their children's success. This influence was showcased through the participants recurring use of religious phrases. Although they maintained high aspirations they also valued the importance of happiness and did not apply pressure on their children. When their children did face difficulties with pressure, expectations and disappointment in school matters; these parents would assist and guide them.

Implications

It may therefore be valuable for schools to implement practices that represent diverse populations, such as families who hold religious beliefs. In addition, addressing the integration of religion and education with teachers in secular schools may help to strengthen the home-school mesosystem link. To further promote a strong mesosystem link, discussions between parents and schools that center around children's happiness and limiting pressure placed on them may be beneficial.

Effective parental involvement

The next theme highlighted evidence for effective parental involvement during navigation of the educational system by all participants. Previous research has found evidence for cultural differences in involvement and parenting style. The parents in this study demonstrated strong mesosystem links through their effective involvement. Their involvement was in line with all five dimensions set out in the literature. However, involvement by these parents surpassed high school and continued on to university and beyond. An explanation of this finding can be provided by the sociocultural approach, which accounts for cultural differences in norms, values and behaviour. South Asian communities value close familial ties over selfreliance related skills. During contact with school, some parents reported feelings of marginalisation.

Implications

Misconceptions may arise if schools do not work to acknowledge and encourage cultural differences in parental involvement.

Barriers to inclusion

There were a number of barriers to inclusion identified within the dataset. One participant felt as though a teacher was insensitive to her religious and cultural beliefs. Another barrier in the way of inclusion was the issue with communication

between parents and schools, which can lead to a weak mesosystem link. Some of the parents felt different and marginalised by their experiences within schools. There was also evidence of the effect of the language barrier. One participant, after feeling 'embarrassed' about her pronunciation, felt as though this had an effect on her confidence in speaking in other public contexts. Furthermore, participant 4's husband is not fluent in English and would struggle at school events without someone there to translate.

Implications

The findings relating to inclusion pose implications for educational institutions to consider factors stretching across both the community and family level. It may be helpful on a macro level to introduce guidance for teachers to support them in dealing with cultural and religious sensitivity. This will promote interaction between the community and schools. Strategies such as providing staff with such resources and teachers engaging in the reflective process may go some way in maintaining strong home-school relationships.

Not all schools can offer the provision of employing bilingual members of staff. However, the experiences of participants in the current study highlight the need to employ strategies that combat the language barrier and work toward building rich mesosystem connections between the microsystems.

Navigating issues within school

The perception of South Asian women with regards to education is unfavourable. However, the women in the current study challenge the prevailing stereotype of them in the way they navigate and deal with issues within school. One of the participants was part of school decision-making processes on the governing body for 10 years. Furthermore, they all spoke about the way in which they have and would intervene in difficult school situations concerning their children. They were motivated and

81

relentless in their communication with schools and sought what they felt were the most appropriate solutions.

Implications

Schools could benefit from promoting justice and equality whilst simultaneously rejecting discriminatory views and influencing their students to do the same (Aguis & Ambrosewicz, 2003). This may help to alleviate tension and encourage a culture of inclusion within schools.

Addressing the research questions

How do non-native parents understand the UK education system?

This research question could have been answered better. There was little interview data that focused on their conceptualization and understanding of the education system; grading, key stages, qualifications and so on. The interview guide may therefore not have been comprehensive enough with regards to the research questions. However, the participants demonstrated their understanding in their answers to different interview questions. For example, when discussing their child attending university, participant 1 mentions changes to the A-Level grading system. Although this highlights an understanding of the UK education system, further probing with other participants would have been useful for in-depth analysis.

How do these parents interact or otherwise with the education system?

This research question helped to mould the interview guide. Participants exhibited effective involvement with school matters, which was in line with the five dimensions of involvement outlined in the literature. They were relentless in communicating with schools and intervening when they thought it to be necessary. However, their interaction with the education system does differ, as involvement surpassed high school and continued on to university and beyond. This research question was

further answered through the re-interview process, where participants were given scenarios in order to discuss what they would do in similar situations. Overall, addressing this research question allowed for a number of implications to arise.

How do these parents view education and their children's participation in it?

Participants in this study were identified as having high educational aspirations for their children and had desires for their academic success. They place emphasis on the importance of education for their children. Although they view education in this way, barriers to inclusion and feelings of marginalization were highlighted by parents. Addressing this question with the analysis of key themes leads to this research stressing the importance of policymakers considering factors that stretch across the community and family level and promote interaction.

Hopefully the findings in the current study go some way in diminishing the stereotypes concerning South Asian women. They are capable, highly motivated individuals who navigate the educational system to the best of their ability and stress the importance of education for their children.

Limitations of the research

The current study had a relatively small sample size (5 participants interviewed twice). There is a perception that more interviews are 'better', when in fact the quality and care taken to analyse the data may be important (Baker and Edwards, 2012). A small number of interviews may, however, hinder comparisons across particular groups (Baker & Edwards, 2012). Baker and Edwards (2012) note that the purpose of the research plays a significant role in identifying the appropriate number of interviews to conduct. Although interviewing more participants may have enhanced understanding, the current study aimed to explore non-native parents' experiences of the UK educational system rather than compare ethnically diverse populations.

The researcher utilised a personal reflexivity journal that can help to address bias in qualitative research. A point raised by the researcher during this process was sharing the same ethnic background and religious beliefs as the majority of the participants in the study. Previous studies note that different perspectives within the analysis can emerge through choosing researchers of different 'races' (Maylor et al., 2007). Future research into the area may therefore benefit from selecting interviewers of a different background. Sharing a similar ethnic background to the participants may have increased the researcher's cultural sensitivity and contributed to the good rapport within all of the interviews. The researcher can understand and converse in Punjabi and/or Urdu if necessary, which offers the added benefit of translation. Furthermore, sharing the same religious beliefs as four of the participants provided the researcher with the ability to understand and interpret Islamic phrases and terminology with ease.

The study did not explore the socioeconomic status of each participant in depth. This is an aspect that could have been included in the interview guide and pursued further in the interviews. Discussion of SES factors may have enriched understandings of the parents' navigation of the educational system further.

Recommendations for future research

The current study recommends an increased focus is placed on the effect of parental education in relation to their aspirations. The participants all possessed varying levels and types of qualifications but not one of them went on to pursue high education. They did all mention that they wanted 'more' for their children which could suggest a link between parental education and their aspirations for children. All of the mothers in this research were employed full-time. However, information about their employment history and roles/responsibilities in their current positions were not discussed within the interview. Research into this area may provide an enhanced understanding of the way these parents navigated the education system. The study found that religious observance might exert an influence on parental aspirations. This emerged through the use of specific terminology and phrases when speaking about goals and desires. However, further research is required in order to establish

the influence of religious beliefs on parents' aspirations for success. It may be beneficial to investigate educational strategies for inclusion before implementing them in order to make sure that they are appropriate for use with the target population. Review of strategies already in place may also be constructive as it can identify room for improvement. One of the participants in the current study detailed the struggles her husband faced due to his level of English. Research has explored the academic effects of linguistically isolated households, however more attention could be given to parents and the wider societal effects they face because of it.

References

- Abley, J., Jaffar, S., & Gent, B. (2004). They will need time. Retrieved from http://www.insted.co.uk/redbridge.pdf
- Abrahamsen, B., & Drange, I. (2015). Ethnic Minority Students' Career Expectations in Prospective Professions: Navigating between Ambitions and Discrimination. *Sociology*, 49(2), 252-269. doi:10.1177/0038038514542494

Addison, J. T. (1992). Urie Bronfenbrenner. Human Ecology, 20(2), 16-20.

- ADL. (2014). Considerations for Inclusive Holidays and Observances. Retrieved from https://www.adl.org/education/resources/tools-and-strategies/considerationsfor-inclusive-holidays-and-observances
- Agius, E., & Ambrosewicz-Jacobs, J. (2003). *Towards a culture of tolerance and peace*. International Bureau for Children's Rights.
- Ahmad, F. (2001). Modern Traditions? British Muslim Women and Academic Achievement. *Gender and Education*, *13*(2), 137-152. doi:10.1080/09540250120051169
- Alshenqeeti, H. (2014). Interviewing as a Data Collection Method: A Critical Review. *English Linguistics Research*, 3(1). doi:10.5430/elr.v3n1p39
- Amer, A. (2015). Psychology@LSE Why social psychology matters in the real world: Reflections on Steve Reicher's talk. Retrieved from http://blogs.lse.ac.uk/psychologylse/2015/03/23/why-social-psychologymatters-in-the-real-world-reflections-on-steve-reichers-talk/
- Andersson, I. (2002). Relationship between Home and School. How do parents perceive their children's school-situation and the co-operation with school?
 Paper presented at the European Conference on Educational Research, University of Lisbon. 11-14 September 2002.
 http://www.leeds.ac.uk/educol/documents/00002136.htm

Aretakis, M. T. (2011). *Immigration, acculturation, and academic attitudes and performance among Latino adolescents* (Doctoral dissertation, The University of Michigan).

Anderson, C. (2010). Presenting and Evaluating Qualitative Research. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 74(8), 141. doi:10.5688/aj7408141

APA. (n.d.). Education and Socioeconomic Status Factsheet. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/education.aspx

- Arslan, H. (2009). Educational Policy vs. Culturally Sensitive Programs in Turkish Educational System. *International Journal of Progressive Education*, *5*(2)
- Ascher, M. (2015). Failure to Launch Syndrome: What You Need to Know to Help Your Dependent Adult Child | HuffPost. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/michael-ascher-md/failure-to-launchsyndrom b 6709206.html
- Asher, C. (2011). The Progressive Past. *Reference & User Services Quarterly*, 51(1), 43-48. doi:10.5860/rusq.51n1.43
- Asthana, A. (2010). Revealed: a disturbing portrait of inequality in British schools | Education | The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/education/2010/oct/10/britains-divided-schoolsystem-report
- Atkinson, R., & Flint, J. (2001). Accessing hidden and hard-to-reach populations: Snowball research strategies. *Social research update*, 33(1), 1-4.
- Awan, M., Malik, N., & Sarwar, H. (2008). Impact of education on poverty reduction. *EABR and TLC conference proceedings, Germany.*
- Bagguley, P., & Hussain, Y. (2016). Negotiating Mobility: South Asian Women and Higher Education. *Sociology*, *50*(1), 43-59. doi:10.1177/0038038514554329
- Baker, S. E., & Edwards, R. (2012). How many qualitative interviews is enough? National Center for Research Methods. Available at: http://eprints.ncrm.ac.uk/2273/
- Ball, S., Bowe, R. and Gewirtz, S. (1995) 'Circuits of Schooling: A Sociological Exploration of Parental Choice of School in Social Class Contexts', The Sociological Review 43(1): 52–78.
- Barron, I. (2007). An exploration of young children's ethnic identities as communities of practice. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 28(6), 739-752.
 doi:10.1080/01425690701610001
- Barron, I. (2009). Illegitimate participation? A group of young minority ethnic children's experiences of early childhood education. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society*, *17*(3), 341-354. doi:10.1080/14681360903194350
- Barry, P., & O'Callaghan, C. (2008). Reflexive Journal Writing. *Nordic Journal of Music Therapy*, *17*(1), 55-66. doi:10.1080/08098130809478196
- Bartlett, L., Rodríguez, D., & Oliveira, G. (2015). Migration and education: Sociocultural Perspectives. *Educação e Pesquisa*, *41*(SPE), 1153-1171.

- Basit, T. N. (1997). 'I Want More Freedom, but Not Too Much': British Muslim girls and the dynamism of family values. *Gender and Education*, 9(4), 425-440. doi:10.1080/09540259721178
- Basit, T. N. (2012). 'My parents have stressed that since I was a kid': Young minority ethnic British citizens and the phenomenon of aspirational capital. *Education, Citizenship and Social Justice*, 7(2), 129-143. doi:10.1177/1746197912440857
- Baum, S., & Flores, S. M. (2011). Higher education and children in immigrant families. *The future of children*, *21*(1), 171-193.
- BBC. (2010). Aimhigher university access scheme scrapped BBC News. Retrieved from http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education-11839774
- Becker, B. E., & Luthar, S. S. (2002). Social-Emotional Factors Affecting Achievement Outcomes Among Disadvantaged Students: Closing the Achievement Gap. *Educational Psychologist*, 37(4), 197-214. doi:10.1207/s15326985ep3704_1
- Bhattacharyya, G., Ison, L., & Blair, M. (2003). *Minority ethnic attainment and participation in education and training: the evidence*. Nottingham: DfES Publications.
- Black-Hawkins, K., Florian, L. and Rouse, M. (2008) Achievement and Inclusion in Schools and Classrooms: Participation and Pedagogy. Paper presented at British Educational Research Association Annual Conference, Heriot Watt University, Edinburgh, September.
- Blackstone, A. (2012). Sociological Inquiry Principles: Qualitative and Quantitative Methods. *Maine: Flat World Knowledge*.
- Boffey, D. (2011). Anger as £78m Aimhigher support scheme for students is axed | Education | The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/education/2011/aug/20/aimhigher-supportscheme-students-axed
- Bornstein, M. H., & Bradley, R. H. (Eds.). (2014). Socioeconomic status, parenting, and child development. Routledge.
- BPS. (2009). Code of Ethics and Conduct. Retrieved from https://beta.bps.org.uk/sites/beta.bps.org.uk/files/Policy%20-%20Files/Code%20of%20Ethics%20and%20Conduct%20%282009%29.pdf

Braun, V., & Clarke, V. (2006) Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, *3*(2), 77-101

Bryman, A. (2001). Social research methods. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bryman, A. (2008). Why do researchers

integrate/combine/mesh/blend/mix/merge/fuse quantitative and qualitative research? *Advances in mixed methods research*, 87-100.

- Brooks-Gunn, J., & Duncan, G. J. (1997). The effects of poverty on children. *The future of children*, 55-71.
- Bronfenbrenner, U. (1977). Toward an experimental ecology of human development. *American psychologist*, 32(7), 513.

Bronfenbrenner, U., & Crouter, A. C. (1982). Work and family through time and space. *Families that work: children in a changing world*

- Butt, G., MacKenzie, L., & Manning, R. (2010). Influences on British South Asian women's choice of teaching as a career: "you're either a career person or a family person; teaching kind of fits in the middle". *Educational Review*, 62(1), 69-83. doi:10.1080/00131910903519769
- Capper, C.A. & Pickett, R.S. (1994). The relationship between school structure and culture and students' views of diversity and inclusive education. The Special Education Leadership Review, 2, 102-122.
- Chavkin, N. F. (1993). *Families and schools in a pluralistic society*. Albany, NY: State Univ. of New York Press.

Choudhry, U. K. (2001). Uprooting and resettlement experiences of South Asian immigrant women. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, *23*(4), 376-393.

Christakis, E. (2013). What Traditional Societies Can Teach Us About Child Rearing | TIME.com. Retrieved from http://ideas.time.com/2013/01/30/what-thepygmies-can-teach-us-about-childrearing/

Cohen, A. (2011). Religion and culture. *Online Readings in Psychology and Culture*, *4*(4), 1-13.

- Cohen, D., & Crabtee, B. (2006). RWJF Qualitative Research Guidelines Project | Semi-structured Interviews | Semi-structured Interviews. Retrieved from http://www.qualres.org/HomeSemi-3629.html
- Cohen, L., Manion, L., & Morrison, K. (2007). *Research methods in education* (6th ed.). Oxford: Routledge.

- Coles, M. I. (2008). Every Muslim child matters: practical guidance for schools and children's services. Stoke on Trent: Trentham.
- Collier, S. (2005). 'Inshallah, today there will be work': Senegalese Women Entrepreneurs Constructing Identities through Language Use and Islamic Practice. *Gender and the Language of Religion*, 221-239. doi:10.1057/9780230523494_13
- Collins, J., & Cook, D. (Eds.). (2001). Understanding learning: Influences and outcomes (Vol. 2). SAGE.
- Corden, A., & Sainsbury, R. (2006). Exploring 'Quality': Research Participants' Perspectives on Verbatim Quotations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 9(2), 97-110. doi:10.1080/13645570600595264

Crotty, M. (1998). The foundations of social research. London: Sage.

- Crozier, G. (2001). Excluded Parents: The deracialisation of parental involvement [1]. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, *4*(4), 329-341. doi:10.1080/13613320120096643
- Crozier, G., & Davies, J. (2006). Family Matters: A Discussion of the Bangladeshi and Pakistani Extended Family and Community in Supporting the Children's Education. *The Sociological Review*, *54*(4), 678-695. doi:10.1111/j.1467-954x.2006.00666.x
- Crozier, G., & Davies, J. (2007). Hard to reach parents or hard to reach schools? A discussion of home–school relations, with particular reference to Bangladeshi and Pakistani parents. *British Educational Research Journal*, *33*(3), 295-313. doi:10.1080/01411920701243578
- CSIE. (2013a). Legislation and guidance for inclusive education. Retrieved from http://www.csie.org.uk/inclusion/legislation.shtml

CSIE. (2013b). Equality Act 2010. Retrieved from http://www.csie.org.uk/inclusion/equality-act-2010.shtml

- Cucchiara, M. B. and Horvat, E. M., (2009) Perils and Promises: Middle-Class Parental Involvement in Urban Schools. *American Educational Research Journal*. 46 (4), 974-1004
- Dale, A., Shaheen, N. Kalra, V., & Fieldhouse, E. (2002). Routes into education and employment for young Pakistani and Bangladeshi women in the UK. Ethnic and Racial Studies, 25(6), 942-986. doi:10.1080/0141987022000009386

David, M., & Sutton, C. D. (2004). Social research: The basics. London: Sage.

- Davis-Kean, P. E. (2005). The influence of parent education and family income on child achievement: the indirect role of parental expectations and the home environment. *Journal of family psychology*, *19*(2), 294
- Desai, S., & Banerji, M. (2008). Negotiated identities: Male migration and left-behind wives in India. *Journal of Population Research*, 25(3), 337-355. doi:10.1007/bf03033894
- DfE. (2016). Revised GCSE and equivalent results in England, 2014 to 2015. Retrieved from https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/ 494073/SFR01_2016.pdf
- D'hondt, F., Van Praag, L., Van Houtte, M., & Stevens, P. A. (2016). The attitudeachievement paradox in Belgium: An examination of school attitudes of ethnic minority students. *Acta Sociologica*, *59*(3), 215-231. doi:10.1177/0001699316636944
- DiCicco-Bloom, B., & Crabtree, B. F. (2006). The qualitative research interview. *Medical education*, *40*(4), 314-321.
- Dictionary. (2012). Immigration | Define Immigration at Dictionary.com. Retrieved from http://www.dictionary.com/browse/immigration
- Dimbylow, L. (n.d.). School reading schemes: what parents need to know | Reading scheme levels | TheSchoolRun. Retrieved from https://www.theschoolrun.com/school-reading-schemes-explained
- Dieronitou, I. (2014). The ontological and epistemological foundations of qualitative and quantitative approaches to research. *International journal of economics, commerce and management*, *11*(10).
- Donnelly, L. (2015). All children should receive weekly 'happiness' lessons from the age of five Telegraph. Retrieved from http://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/11412446/All-children-should-receive-weekly-happiness-lessons-from-the-age-of-five.html
- Driessen, G., Smit, F., & Sleegers, P. (2005). Parental Involvement and Educational Achievement. *British Educational Research Journal*, *31*(4), 509-532. doi:10.1080/01411920500148713

- Driscoll, A., & Nagel, N. G. (2010). Poverty and The Effects on Children and Parents | Education.com. Retrieved from https://gb.education.com/reference/article/poverty-effects-children-parents/
- Dubow, E. F., Boxer, P., & Huesmann, L. R. (2009). Long-term Effects of Parents' Education on Children's Educational and Occupational Success: Mediation by Family Interactions, Child Aggression, and Teenage Aspirations. *Merrill-Palmer Quarterly*, 55(3), 224-249. doi:10.1353/mpq.0.0030
- Dunt, I. (2014). Revealed: How immigrants feel about the immigration debate. Retrieved from http://www.politics.co.uk/blogs/2014/10/23/revealed-howimmigrants-feel-about-the-immigration-debate
- Dustmann, C., Machin, S., & Schönberg, U. (2010). Ethnicity and Educational Achievement in Compulsory Schooling*. *The Economic Journal*, *120*(546), F272-F297. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0297.2010.02377.x
- Dyson, A., Farrell, P., Polat, F., & Hutcheson, G. (2004). Inclusion and Pupil Achievement.
- Eamon, M. K. (2001). The effects of poverty on children's socioemotional development: an ecological systems analysis. Retrieved from http://www2.gbcnv.edu/library/PDFs/Poverty%20on%20Childrens%20socioe motional%20development.pdf
- Fan, X. (2001). Parental involvement and students' academic achievement: A growth modeling analysis. *The Journal of Experimental Education*, *70*(1), 27-61.
- Finders, M., & Lewis, C. (1994). Why some parents don't come to school. Educational Leadership, 51, 50-54.
- Ford, M. (2014). Primary and secondary education and the 'ethnic penalty' | Centre for Crime and Justice Studies. Retrieved from https://www.crimeandjustice.org.uk/resources/primary-and-secondaryeducation-and-ethnic-penalty
- Gardner, R. W. (1981). Macrolevel influences on the migration decision process. 59-89.
- Georgiou, S. N. (2007). Parental involvement: Beyond demographics. *International Journal about Parents in Education*, *1*, 59-62.
- Georgiou, S. N., & Tourva, A. (2007). Parental attributions and parental involvement. *Social Psychology of Education*, *10*(4), 473-482.

- Glick, J. E., Walker, L., & Luz, L. (2013). Linguistic isolation in the home and community: Protection or risk for young children? *Social Science Research*, 42(1), 140-154. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2012.08.003
- Gloor, L. (2006). From the Melting Pot to the Tossed Salad Metaphor. Why Coercive Assimilation Lacks the Flavors Americans Crave. *Hohonu-A Journal of Academic Writing*, *4*, 29-32.
- Goodman, A., & Gregg, P. (2010). Poorer children's educational attainment: how important are attitudes and behaviour? Retrieved from https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/poorer-childreneducation-full.pdf

Gray, D. E. (2014). Doing research in the real world. Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

- Great Britain. Department for Education and Skills. (2005). *Excellence and enjoyment: Social and emotional aspects of learning*. London: Department for Education and Skills.
- Haenen, J., Schrijnemakers, H., & Stufkens, J. (2003). Sociocultural theory and the practice of teaching historical concepts. *Vygotsky's educational theory in cultural context*, 246-266.
- Hadjitheodoulou-Loizidou, P. (2012). *The impact of school organisation and environment on the performance of migrant students: Raising questions from Cyprus* [PDF]. Retrieved from

http://www.eunec.eu/sites/www.eunec.eu/files/event/attachments/loizidou.pdf

Hanlon, L., & Hayes, N. (2006). Early assessment and intervention in educational disadvantage: Executive summary. Dublin: CECDE, Centre for Early Childhood Development and Education.

Heath-Abbott, D. (2016). Achievement vs Happiness. Retrieved from https://theschoolbusblog.net/2016/10/11/achievement-vs-happiness/

- Heath, A. F., & Tilley, J. R. (2005). British national identity and attitudes towards immigration. *International Journal on Multicultural Societies*, 7(2), 119-132.
- Hill, N. E., & Tyson, D. F. (2009). Parental involvement in middle school: A metaanalytic assessment of the strategies that promote achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 45(3), 740-763. doi:10.1037/a0015362

Hirsch, D. (2007). Experiences of poverty and educational disadvantage. Retrieved from https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/2123.pdf

- Hochschild, J. L., & Mollenkopf, J. (2009). The Complexities of Immigration: Why Western Countries Struggle with Immigration Politics and Policies. *Delivering Citizenship*.
- Hong, J. S., & Espelage, D. L. (2012). A review of research on bullying and peer victimization in school: An ecological system analysis. *Aggression and violent behavior*, 17(4), 311-322.
- Hornby, G., & Lafaele, R. (2011). Barriers to parental involvement in education: an explanatory model. *Educational Review*, 63(1), 37-52. doi:10.1080/00131911.2010.488049
- Horwath, J., Lees, J., Sidebotham, P., Higgins, J., & Imtiaz, A. (2008). Religion, beliefs and parenting practices. A descriptive study. Sheffield: University of Sheffield, 66.
- Huss-Keeler, R. L. (1997). Teacher perception of ethnic and linguistic minority parental involvement and its relationships to children's language and literacy learning: A case study. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *13*(2), 171-182. doi:10.1016/s0742-051x(96)00018-2
- Ijaz, A., & Abbas, T. (2010). The impact of inter-generational change on the attitudes of working-class South Asian Muslim parents on the education of their daughters. *Gender and Education*, 22(3), 313-326. doi:10.1080/09540250903289444
- Jensen, B. T. (2007). Understanding immigration and psychological development: A multilevel ecological approach. *Journal of Immigrant & Refugee Studies*, *5*(4), 27-48. doi:10.1080/15362940802179058
- John-Steiner, V., & Mahn, H. (1996). Sociocultural approaches to learning and development: A Vygotskian framework. *Educational Psychologist*, 31(3), 191-206. doi:10.1207/s15326985ep3103&4_4
- Karlsen, S., & Nazroo, J. Y. (2013). Influences on forms of national identity and feeling 'at home' among Muslim groups in Britain, Germany and Spain. *Ethnicities*, *13*(6), 689-708. doi:10.1177/1468796812470795
- Katwala, S., Rutter, J., & Ballinger, S. (2016). Immigration and integration in postreferendum Britain. Retrieved from https://www.barrowcadbury.org.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/08/British-Future-August-2016.pdf

- Katz, I., Corlyon, J., La Placa, V., & Hunter, S. (2007). The relationship between parenting and poverty. Retrieved from https://www.jrf.org.uk/sites/default/files/jrf/migrated/files/parenting-poverty.pdf
- Kenway, P., Palmer, G., (2007). *Poverty among ethnic groups: How and why does it differ?* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation.
- Kim, Y. (2009). Minority parental involvement and school barriers: Moving the focus away from deficiencies of parents. *Educational Research Review*, 4(2), 80-102. doi:10.1016/j.edurev.2009.02.003
- Kohn, M. (1977). *Class and Conformity*, 2nd ed., University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Krauss, S. E. (2005). Research paradigms and meaning making: A primer. *The qualitative report*, *10*(4), 758-770.
- Krieg, G. (2015). Muslim Americans: Political climate worse than after 9/11 -CNNPolitics.com. Retrieved from http://edition.cnn.com/2015/11/20/politics/paris-attacks-trump-carson-bushmuslims-refugees-mosques/
- Kruzykowski, K. G. (2007). Reconciling two cultures: The experience of immigrants and first generation Americans from non-western countries. *Social Sciences Journal*, 7(1), 7.
- Lantolf, J. P. (2013). Integrating Sociocultural Theory and Cognitive Linguistics in the Second Language Classroom. *Handbook of Research in Second Language Teaching and Learning*. doi:10.4324/9780203836507.ch19
- Lantolf, J. P., & Thorne, S. L. (2006). Sociocultural theory and the genesis of second language development. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Labuschagne, A. (2003). Qualitative research Airy fairy or fundamental? The Qualitative Report, 8(1)
- Leary, M. R. (1990). Responses to Social Exclusion: Social Anxiety, Jealousy, Loneliness, Depression, and Low Self-Esteem. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 9(2), 221-229. doi:10.1521/jscp.1990.9.2.221
- Lee, J. S., & Bowen, N. K. (2006). Parent involvement, cultural capital, and the achievement gap among elementary school children. *American Educational Research Journal*, *43*(2), 193-218.

- Leon, A. L. (2014). Immigration and stress: The relationship between parents' acculturative stress and young children's anxiety symptoms. *Inquiries Journal*, *6*(3), 2-5.
- Levels, M., Dronkers, J., & Kraaykamp, G. (2008). Immigrant children's educational achievement in western countries: origin, destination, and community effects on mathematical performance. *American Sociological Review*, 73(5), 835-853.
- Lightfoot, C., Cole, M., & Cole, S. R. (2013). *The development of children*. New York: Worth Publishers.
- Lim, L., & Renshaw, P. (2001). The Relevance of Sociocultural Theory to Culturally Diverse Partnerships and Communities. *Journal of Child and Family Studies*, *10*(1), 9-21.
- Lin, E. S., and Lu, Y. L. (2014) The educational achievement of pupils with immigrant and native mothers: evidence from Taiwan. *Asia Pacific Journal of Education*, 1-25.
- Link, M.W., Mokdad, A.H., Stackhouse, H.F., & Flowers, N.T. (2006). Race,
 Ethnicity, and Linguistic Isolation as Determinants of Participation in Public
 Health Surveillance Surveys. *Public Health Research, Practice, and Policy*, 3(1), 1-12.
- Lum, C. K., & Korenman, S. G. (1994). Cultural-sensitivity training in U.S. medical schools. *Academic Medicine*, *69*(3), 239-41. doi:10.1097/00001888-199403000-00021
- Luong, K. (2015). Acculturative Stress Affects International Students in Higher Education | TexTESOL IV. Retrieved from http://www.textesoliv.org/acculturative-stress-affects-international-students-inhigher-education/
- Lymperopoulou, K. (2015). Still disadvantaged? The educational attainment of ethnic minority groups. Retrieved from http://blog.policy.manchester.ac.uk/featured/2015/05/still-disadvantaged-theeducational-attainment-of-ethnic-minority-groups/
- Lymperopoulou, K., & Parameshwaran, M. (2014). How are ethnic inequalities in education changing. Centre on Dynamics of Ethnicity. Retrieved from http://www.ethnicity.ac.uk/medialibrary/briefingsupdated/how-areethnicinequalities-in-education-changing.pdf

- MacBeath, J., Galton, M., Steward, S., MacBeath, A., & Page, C. (2006). The costs of inclusion. *London: University of Cambridge, National Union of Teachers*.
- Magnuson, K. A. (2003). The intergenerational benefits of maternal education: The effect of increases in mothers' educational attainment on children's academic outcomes. *Doctoral dissertation, ProQuest Information & Learning*.
- Manzoor, S. (2014). Asian children care for their parents? That's an outdated stereotype | Sarfraz Manzoor | Opinion | The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2014/apr/22/asian-children-carefor-parents-outdated-stereotype-simon-hughes
- Maxwell, J. (2011). Epistemological heuristics for qualitative research. *Epistemologies for Qualitative Research. Tübingen: Center for Qualitative Psychology*.
- Maylor, U., Read, B., Mendick, H., Ross, A., & Rollock, N. (2007). *Diversity and citizenship in the curriculum: Research review* (819). Retrieved from DfES website:

https://www.education.gov.uk/publications/eorderingdownload/rr819.pdf

- McCreery, E., Jones, L., & Holmes, R. (2007). Why do Muslim parents want Muslim schools? *Early Years*, *27*(3), 203-219. doi:10.1080/09575140701594350
- McGirr, A., Renaud, J., Seguin, M., Alda, M., Benkelfat, C., Lesage, A., & Turecki, G. (2007). An examination of DSM-IV depressive symptoms and risk for suicide completion in major depressive disorder: A psychological autopsy study. *Journal of Affective Disorders*, 97(1-3), 203-209. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2006.06.016
- McKenzie, J. (2000). Scaffolding for Success. Retrieved from http://fno.org/dec99/scaffold.html
- Mohan, R. (2016). Academic Pressure in Children, Young People and Their Families: Expectations Vs Results - How Do We Cope? | HuffPost UK. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.co.uk/dr-ramya-mohan/academicpressure-in-children_b_9806602.html
- Navsaria, N. (2012). What our mothers want | South Asian Parent. Retrieved from http://www.southasianparent.com/site/inspire/south-asian-mothers-approachto-parenting/
- Neal, J. W., & Neal, Z. P. (2013). Nested or networked? Future directions for ecological systems theory. *Social Development*, 22(4), 722-737.

- Novick, G. (2008). Is there a bias against telephone interviews in qualitative research? *Research in Nursing & Health*, *31*(4), 391-398. doi:10.1002/nur.20259
- OECD. (2016). Global competency for an inclusive world. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/education/Global-competency-for-an-inclusive-world.pdf
- OneFamily. (n.d.). When they Grow Up by OneFamily. Retrieved from https://www.onefamily.com/hub/family/parents-aspirations-guide/
- ONS. (2015). 2011 Census analysis: Ethnicity and religion of the non-UK born population in England and Wales. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/culturalidentity/ethnici ty/articles/2011censusanalysisethnicityandreligionofthenonukbornpopulationin englandandwales/2015-06-18
- Opdenakker, R. (2006). Advantages and Disadvantages of Four Interview Techniques in Qualitative Research. *Qualitative Social Research*, 7(4).
- Osler, A., & Starkey, H. (2005). Violence in schools and representations of young people: a critique of government policies in France and England. *Oxford Review of Education*, *31*(2), 195-215. doi:10.1080/03054980500117728
- Ough, T. (2016). School grades its parents on their support of children's education. Retrieved from http://www.telegraph.co.uk/education/2016/12/02/schoolgrades-parents-support-childrens-education/
- Paat, Y. (2013). Working with Immigrant Children and Their Families: An Application of Bronfenbrenner's Ecological Systems Theory. *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment*, 23(8), 954-966. doi:10.1080/10911359.2013.800007
- Packer, M. J., & Goicoechea, J. (2000). Sociocultural and Constructivist Theories of Learning: Ontology, Not Just Epistemology. *Educational Psychologist*, 35(4), 227-241. doi:10.1207/s15326985ep3504_02
- Paquette, D., & Ryan, J. (2001). Bronfenbrenner's ecological systems theory. Retrieved from http://www.floridahealth.gov/alternatesites/cmskids/providers/early_steps/training/documents/bronfenbrenners_ecological.pdf
- Parker, S. (2015). 'Unwanted invaders': The representation of refugees and asylum seekers in the UK and Australian print media. *eSharp*, 23.
- Pierson, J. (2009). Tackling social exclusion. New York, NY: Routledge.

- Pinnock, H., & Lewis, I. (2008). Making Schools Inclusive (1st ed.). *London: Save the Children*.
- Pond Park Primary. (2013). *Pastoral Care Policy* [Word Document]. Retrieved from http://www.pondparkps.co.uk/documentlink/25/?open=true
- Powell, K. C. (2009). The role of concept of self and societal expectations in academic and career achievement. *Journal of Adult Education*, 38(2), 32.
- Raag, T., Kusiak, K., Tumilty, M., Kelemen, A., Bernheimer, H., and Bond, J., (2011)
 Reconsidering SES and gender divides in literacy achievement: are the gaps across social class and gender necessary? *International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology*. 31 (6), 691-705
- Reza, F. (2013). *Experiences and expectations of immigrant Pakistani parents regarding parental involvement in schools* (Doctoral dissertation, California State University, Long Beach).
- Riehl, C. J. (2000). The principal's role in creating inclusive schools for diverse students: A review of normative, empirical, and critical literature on the practice of educational administration. *Review of educational research*, 70(1), 55-81.
- Rogers, M. A., Theule, J., Ryan, B. A., Adams, G. R. and Keating, L., (2009).
 Parental Involvement and Children's School Achievement: Evidence for
 Mediating Processes. *Canadian Journal of School Psychology*. 24 (1), 34-57
- Rogoff, B. (2007). The cultural nature of human development. Retrieved from https://people.ucsc.edu/~brogoff/William%20James%20Award.pdf
- Rogoff, B., Mistry, J., Göncü, A., Mosier, C., Chavajay, P., & Heath, S. B. (1993). Guided participation in cultural activity by toddlers and caregivers. *Monographs of the Society for Research in Child development*, i-179.
- Rosenzweig, M. R., & Wolpin, K. I. (1994). Are there increasing returns to the intergenerational production of human capital? Maternal schooling and child intellectual achievement. *Journal of Human Resources*, 670-693.
- Rudloff, L. (2017). Failure to Launch: The Lack of Implementation and Enforcement of the Animal Welfare Act. *Syracuse L. Rev.*, 67, 173.
- Runnymede Trust. (2012). Briefing on ethnicity and educational attainment. Retrieved from

https://www.runnymedetrust.org/uploads/Parliamentary%20briefings/Educatio nWHdebateJune2012.pdf

- Ryan, R. M., Fauth, R. C., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2006). Childhood Poverty: Implications for School Readiness and Early Childhood Education.
- Sacramento, R. B. (2015). *Migrant Education and Community Inclusion* (5). Retrieved from Sirius website: http://www.sirius-migrationeducation.org/wpcontent/uploads/2015/02/SIRIUS-CommunityInclusion-FINAL.pdf
- Schensul, S. L., Schensul, J. J., & Lecompte, M. D. (1999). Essential ethnographic methods: Observations, interviews, and questionnaires. Walnut Creek, CA: AltaMira Press.
- Schwartz, S. J., Unger, J. B., Zamboanga, B. L., & Szapocznik, J. (2010). Rethinking the concept of acculturation: Implications for theory and research. *American Psychologist*, 65(4), 237-251. doi:10.1037/a0019330
- Shah, B., Dwyer, C., & Modood, T. (2010). Explaining Educational Achievement and Career Aspirations among Young British Pakistanis: Mobilizing 'Ethnic Capital'? Sociology, 44(6), 1109-1127. doi:10.1177/0038038510381606
- Shaull, S. L., & Gramann, J. H. (1998). The effect of cultural assimilation on the importance of family-related and nature-related recreation among Hispanic Americans. *Journal of Leisure Research*, *30*(1), 47.
- Sidahmed, M. (2016). Claims of hate crimes possibly linked to Trump's election reported across the US | US news | The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/us-news/2016/nov/10/hate-crime-spike-usdonald-trump-president
- Siegler, R. S., & Alibali, M. W. (2005). *Children's thinking*. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Education/Prentice Hall.
- Skerrett, A. (2006). Looking Inward: The impact of race, ethnicity, gender, and social class background on teaching sociocultural theory in education. *Studying Teacher Education: a journal of self-study of teacher education practices*, 2(2), 183-200. doi:10.1080/17425960600983213
- Smith, J. (2015). *Qualitative psychology: A practical guide to research methods*. Los Angeles: SAGE.
- Smithson, J. (2000). Using and analysing focus groups: limitations and possibilities. *International journal of social research methodology*, 3(2), 103-119.

South Asian Concern. (n.d.). Marriage and family life for South Asians. Retrieved from http://southasianconcern.org/south-asians/who-are-south-asians/family/

- Stacey, A. (2009). Why Pork is Forbidden in Islam (All parts) The Religion of Islam. Retrieved from http://www.islamreligion.com/articles/2513/viewall/why-pork-isforbidden-in-islam/
- Stebleton, M. J. (2011). Understanding Immigrant College Students: Applying a Developmental Ecology Framework to the Practice of Academic Advising. NACADA Journal, 31(1), 42-54. doi:10.12930/0271-9517-31.1.42
- Stivaros, H. (2007) An ecological perspective of children's school experiences and educational outcome. Doctoral thesis, University of Huddersfield.
- Strand, S. (2013). What accounts for ethnic achievement gaps in secondary schools in england? Retrieved from http://www.education.ox.ac.uk/wordpress/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/Insights4_Ethnic-Achievement_Strand.pdf
- Swadener, B.B., Kabiru, M. & Njenga, A. (2000) Does the Village Still Raise the Child? A Collaborative Study in Changing Child-rearing and Early Education in Kenya. Albany, NY: State University of New York Press.
- Tackey, N. D., Barnes, H., & Khambhaita, P. (2011). Poverty, ethnicity and education. *Institute for Employment Studies*.
- Tamer, M. (2014). The Education of Immigrant Children. Retrieved from https://www.gse.harvard.edu/news/uk/14/12/education-immigrant-children
- Thakore, B. K. (2016). South Asians on the U.S. screen: Just like everyone else? Lanham, MD: Lexington Books.
- Thao, M. (2009). Parent involvement in school: Engaging immigrant parents. Retrieved from http://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED511597.pdf
- Turuk, M. C. (2008). The relevance and implications of Vygotsky's sociocultural theory in the second language classroom. *Arecls*, *5*, 244-262.
- Unicef. (n.d.). Epstein's Framework of Six Types of Involvement. Retrieved from https://www.unicef.org/lac/Joyce_L._Epstein_s_Framework_of_Six_Types_of _Involvement(2).pdf

Vygotsky, L.S. (1978). Mind in Society. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Wainwright, M. (2003). Islamic reprieve for pig tales | UK news | The Guardian. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/uk/2003/mar/05/schools.books

Weinberger-Litman, S. L., Rabin, L. A., Fogel, J., & Mensinger, J. L. (2016). Body Dissatisfaction and Disordered Eating Among Jewish Women: The Role of Religious Orientation and Spiritual Well-Being. *Bio-Psycho-Social Contributions to Understanding Eating Disorders*, 181-202. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-32742-6_13

- Weltens, B., de Bot, K., & van Els, T. (Eds.). (1987). *Language attrition in progress* (Vol. 2). Walter de Gruyter.
- Wilkie, Morelli, D. S., & Gilda, A. (2000). Forest Foragers: A Day in the Life of Efe Pygmies in the Democratic Republic of Congo | Cultural Survival. Retrieved from https://www.culturalsurvival.org/publications/cultural-survivalquarterly/forest-foragers-day-life-efe-pygmies-democratic-republic
- Witte, A. (2015). Parent- teacher relationships across community types. *Public access theses and dissertations from the college of education and human sciences*.
- Yabiku, S. T., Agadjanian, V., & Sevoyan, A. (2010). Husbands' labour migration and wives' autonomy, Mozambique 2000–2006. *Population Studies*, 64(3), 293-306. doi:10.1080/00324728.2010.510200
- Yakushko, O. (2009). Xenophobia Understanding the Roots and Consequences of Negative Attitudes Toward Immigrants. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 37(1), 36-66.
- Yamamoto, Y., & Holloway, S. D. (2010). Parental expectations and children's academic performance in sociocultural context. *Educational Psychology Review*, 22(3), 189-214.
- Yoshikawa, H., Aber, J. L., & Beardslee, W. R. (2012). The effects of poverty on the mental, emotional, and behavioral health of children and youth: implications for prevention. *American Psychologist*, 67(4), 272.

Appendices

Interview 1

First of all, I'd love to know a bit about your family.

Okay, erm, so family of four. That includes a 17year-old girl and a 10year-old boy, my husband and myself.

What is your daughter currently doing education-wise?

Right. So she's in her final year of college, and in her first year she retook her Maths GCSE. That's what they advised her as she wanted to study Psychology and Law, with the aim of carrying that on at university. This year Insha'Allah she will get her results and get into university. It was Maths more than anything that she struggled with at school.

I see, so she does have hopes of going on to university?

She does at the moment and she has applied. When she got her GCSE results, with the grading everything changed and it really threw her. She didn't get the results that she wanted.

Yes... My sister was telling me the system has completely changed from when I was in school. It's now based on points?

Yeah so she missed out on her first choice of sixth form by a couple of points, and then she decided she didn't want to study. It was an absolute nightmare that year. That time of year was awful.

Was it?

Because she didn't wanna study. It threw her. Because she went to school after her results and they just said "well... not really, can't help you" She got a place Sixth Form based on her predicted grades but missed out. They just went "no".

How did you feel when she missed out on her preferred place of study, by a couple of points?

It's hard isn't it, when they change the grading in the middle of the term and they just think "this is how we're gonna grade it now". Your child's done well in their own way, the way they knew...

And you don't judge them on their grades, so it's hard when someone's telling you different...

Yeah, effectively saying that she's not good enough... But at the same time, had they not changed her grades, she would've got in

Right, so they remarked her?

No they changed the whole grading system for Maths, every child that was predicted a C was coming out with a D. It was the way the changed the whole system, the grading of Maths.

Yeah

And that changed her scoring.

So she got a D was it?

Mm.

Was that upsetting for her? Because I don't see a D as a 'negative' grade. I really don't.

But she couldn't get in, so it was negative. If she still got in, then I guess it wouldn't have been negative.

Yeah

I don't know exactly what happened in school because she didn't take me with her. She went with some of her friends.

Oh okay

And then when she came back she was like really deflated. She was like completely like 'no I'm not doing it - I'll get an apprenticeship'

That's interesting that going into the school didn't uplift her, it kind of brought her down

Yeah it brought her down, completely brought her down. I then took her to college myself and they said it's not a problem you can do what you want to do and you just resit Maths.

Was she happy with that advice?

Well, technically no, because she then didn't want to do it. She was just completely deflated and didn't want to do it. I walked in there with her and walked out with them offering her a place and she didn't want to take it up.

It might have been a self-esteem issue maybe...

Oh it definitely was – it just went down. It just went completely down because I think the reality of life struck her

Yeah

And it did at one point look like it was a failure. Complete failure. I think she just looked at herself to be a complete failure. But then I took a step back and said 'fine. If you want to do an apprenticeship, then you take an apprenticeship'.

At first did you try and persuade her in any sort of way?

Yep. I tried to persuade her, so I took her to college... We had a chat and I said 'look, we can get you a place in here, this, that and the other'. She said "no, I don't want to do it" and she walked out'. And then I left her. I thought, as a mum I'm not gonna leave – I'm gonna leave her alone. She wanted to do something apprentice-based so I said 'right – here are the websites, here are the places, go'

So you still helped her to pursue this alternate route?

Yeah. But then there were stages when I would try and take a step back. Like when she was looking at places and she had to get there – I took a step back and said 'you get there youself'

Oh okay, so you really did think about the approach that you took?

Yeah because I don't wanna hold her hand and take her there

And do everything?

Yeah, because at the end of the day, she made that decision to go into doing an apprenticeship. An apprenticeship is like a job.

Yeah

I'm not going to hold your hand. She had to do it herself. And I think the first couple of places she went herself and I think it wasn't what she wanted. But she couldn't say anything...

Because she had made the decision, she wanted to stick to it?

Exactly. So what I did was I brought my sister and my nieces, family wise, I got them involved and I said 'individually, can you all speak to her in different stages?' And they did.

Were your nieces a similar age to her?

No they were older and they were successful in their lives and everything. I guess in some way it was me trying to show her that, without studying, you're not really gonna get anywhere.

Okay

So what we did was, I took a step back, but tried to research the apprenticeship stuff she wanted. But at the same time I got the rest of the family talking to her. As it wasn't too late to change her mind about college.

I see

So my niece, one of them, in her own way she tried. She said 'I'm taking you back to college and we're accepting the offer.

Right

And she did. She came back happy and said "I've enrolled at college". And I just said 'oh, cool'

You didn't put any pressure on the situation and let her come to that decision naturally.

Yeah

That's a really good idea

Well it was an awful time, I can tell you that much. Honestly, all I ever wanted her to do was experience college life. If you don't like it that's fine, it was never for me. I wasn't one to study, I was always more hands-on. My sister studied, while I was hands-on.

So you didn't take that route, but you still wanted her to...

...to experience it. Yeah. At least. It all ended well. So Hopefully, Insha'Allah she will get her grades, continue studying and pursue her education further at university.

What are you like in terms of your children's studying? Are you more hands-on or do you take a back seat?

I take a back seat. She's like "I know what I'm doing". I don't know if it's just teenagers now but they're very much like 'I know it all' and it is hard to break into the children that think they know it all. But it's kind of like what do you know? If I tell her to set a timetable, do this, do that, she's a bit like 'no, I know what I'm doing'.

So you maybe advise her but you don't get too involved.

No, exactly.

Sometimes me and my daughter do clash.

Which mother and daughter don't at some level?

Because she thinks she knows it all, I think okay then I'll leave you to it. But she wouldn't admit it. This time around, before her exams, I got my sister round and said, you put your foot down. And she did. They looked at a revision timetable together and put in specific times for everything

So really structured?

Yeah and she was okay with that. But if I did it, she would flip.

Right... I wonder why that is...

There's a barrier, she puts it up and it does frustrate me. So I'll get my sister, because she will put her foot down and there's no messing about.

That's interesting. So one of your strategies seems to be getting help from your family...

Oh yeah. I rely on my family. I just take a step back and speak to my brothers, my sisters, even my younger generation... my nieces, my nephews, because they are a similar age. Whoever it may be, and I ask them what they think or tell them to deal with it. I say my piece to her and then carry on. Or I'll talk to them in front of her, while she's there, I'll tell them her side and my thoughts and then ask them what they think.

And they usually back you up?

Yeah

I suppose as well, when girl cousins her age, who she probably looks up to, are saying the same things as you, she might take notice

Yeah. That's exactly when she listens. It's really ironic because her dad has studied and has degrees and she still doesn't listen. She knows it all, don't worry about it.

But as soon as she's told the same thing by cousins, she listens?

Yeah

It's like when your younger and your parents bribe you to do something, like eat, because 'look – your cousin is being so good and eating' and then you would.

It's exactly that.

I'm learning so much already from you about techniques you've used. Everything has a reason behind why you do it and it seems to work out well for you.

It is hard don't get me wrong. I'm having to use her own tactics against her.

The most important thing to remember is that you always want the best for her and you are doing what you believe is in her best interest.

Exactly. I was joking with my husband saying that we need to get her married off just before uni so that headache is someone else's and not mine •laughs•. She is hard work some days

I think that's just this age. I was probably like that too but now I can see my mums point of view so much more.

Now I want to jog your memory to when you were growing up.

I was born here but I actually went abroad back to Bangladesh for most of my childhood and school years so I didn't actually get any qualifications here initially. I missed high school completely. My whole family went, but they all came back and I was the only one that stayed but I was fine with that. I was having the time of my life. Until I got back, and that's when it dawned on me and I realised I needed to do something.

What did you do?

I went into training and stuff. I did a fair bit of training and got my NVQs. There was a lot of training around in them days.

What was your English like back then?

It wasn't what it is now. I wasn't completely confident. I did take my GCSEs after a few years of being back. I decided I needed to do them for my own sake.

Do you remember how old you were taking them?

Yeah, I was 30years old. And I did it actually so I could show my children, look, even at 30 I can do this. I didn't want them to think 'you know what, I don't need to study'.

Yeah

And my daughter was another case to be honest, I don't know if I made a mistake with her or not.

No, from what I can tell, your approach was really easy going but still persuaded her in the direction you were both happy with.

I've had the rebellious act of "you want me to do good so you can tell everybody this that and the other..." but I'm really not that type of mum. I couldn't care less about what other people think. Because I never did it myself. So I guess I'm pretty chilled out with that. Because if you truly want to do something in life, you can. You go for it from whichever angle you can and I did it with my GCSE's at that age, but the question is, 'can you do it?' And that's the question I put to her. But that's a different ball game because she's not like me. I am very strong-willed and I go for what I want but she's not as confident as I am. She's really not confident.

Why do you think that is?

In the back of my mind, I think, I did it to her. She was fantastic when she was in primary school. And then I sent her to an Islamic Girls High School. I think that's when I knocked her confidence.

What do you think went on at the Islamic School that affected her so much?

Because they ran it differently to normal schools. They always expected girls to be more mature, calmer and not let anything out. And I think I did it to her by sending her there. The school itself, I mean I understand where they're coming from. But that kind of stuff comes anyway with age. But they were embedding it into a child who was carefree, chilled-out and loud...

Do you think it changed her as a person?

Yeah and I think it knocked her confidence.

Okay, and in other aspects was sending her to that school a good thing?

I do think it's beneficial, because obviously they cover Islamic knowledge, Namaz... But from what I knew of her, and I spoke to my husband about this, would I be able to handle sending her to a normal school? We both said, maybe this is the right path for her, because it will give her lessons of life slightly different to normal school.

Yeah. So what was the process of sending her to the Islamic school like?

It's independent from the council. So I went for a visit, they had an application form and we filled it in. But it wasn't very well organised. They did have the lessons and timetable structure similar to a normal school. They had recently got a new head teacher and she seemed quite nice.

So did you have direct contact with the head and other staff at the school?

You could have direct contact with it being such a small school. You knew every single teacher and who they were and what they were teaching. The biggest class one year I think was only about 25 pupils, they didn't even have massive classes. But I think, generally I would say that the governing body and the teaching quality was crap.

Right okay. So you weren't happy with that?

It was paid as well so you kind of expected a certain level

Did you go into it thinking she would get a better education?

Better. Because I was paying and my niece went there previously and Alhamdulillah she did really well, and came out with all A's. She didn't really have any issues there and it didn't affect her at all. But I think my daughter went in with an attitude of 'I'm not gonna like this'

Oh okay

And that didn't change throughout. She mellowed, she mellowed but that didn't change throughout.

So if you asked her if she was happy with her high school experience what do you think she would say?

No she wouldn't say she was happy with it

Did you ever consider as a family, moving schools?

Erm to be honest with you, at one point I did but on the other hand I thought... 'She's there now' and I had a chat with my husband and he was like "well leave her now because she's getting through it" and it was a bit of a risk in case she didn't like the new one. It's a hard one. Had I have known when she got to year 11, that the teaching would be so bad, I would've taken her out. For months on end they didn't have a Maths teacher. Obviously that had a knock on effect on her grades

How did it make you feel knowing that she wasn't necessarily the happiest at that school?

You know, she never showed it. She was always 'okay' going, coming back. But in the back of my mind I could see it and I knew it so that had an impact on me.

I can understand that. Just going back from high school to primary school... Were you involved much with the homework your children got given?

Not as much with my daughter. If I had to compare my son and my daughter, their schools were completely different.

What made you make the decision to send them to different schools?

I learnt from our experience at my daughter's school, and so I sent him to a better school. Don't get me wrong she did well in her primary school – clever girl – but I think she could have done better. The school started changing and taking a lot of erm traveller students and everything in and the quality of teaching went downhill. Because they knew that the existing children has flourished and done well so far, they stopped paying attention. They were a lot more bothered about the new children that were coming in and what to do with them. I don't have an issue with that but they should never have neglected children in the class already, it should be consistent even with the addition of new children. There were a couple of head teacher changes as well and it just got really annoying

Disruptive?

Yeah and erm staff themselves were changing mid-term and it's like, 'hold on a minute, this is ridiculous'. She had like two changes in year 6, which was the most important year of primary school, and would have an impact on high school.

So that impacted on your decision to send your son to a different school?

Yeah

Was his primary school better then, were you happy with it?

Day and night. So different.

Did they have a lot more homework?

He had a lot of homework. They would get homework every week, like on Maths and English they could do. I didn't always help him because he's a cheeky sod and would say "I've done it already, I know what I'm doing". If you ask him and say 'let's read it together', he would say "I'll read the pages and them come back to you" whereas when he was younger he used to read to me.

Laughs He doesn't need the help?

He didn't need the help. But, since I didn't help him I would always ask the teacher how he's doing. Because I think that if he's not doing it or doing it to a certain standard then they need to tell me.

Yeah

So then I can go back to him and say, 'I am helping you now'. But Alhamdulilah he's doing well.

Does he take part in any activities?

Everything... He's completely different to her, completely.

What do you put that down to?

Part of me wants to put it down to the difference in school. Part of me. If they truly wanted to help, they could. They can. It's nothing new. To say that kids can't flourish in whatever setting they are in is wrong. I don't think you need private school. I think it's more about the teaching and the quality side of teaching that's delivered. The difference between my kid's primary schools is day and night. He's more active, more involved. Technology wise they are more advanced and her school was never interested in homework and stuff. So you never really bothered. Once a week you got a book, that's fine, not a problem. I used to take her to the library but it was hard getting her into it because she never was into reading.

Yeah

Whereas with my son it's different, he's into reading. It's hard not to put part of it down to the school. He'll read two book a week and go online and read them, through the school's system. Then he will do his English and Maths tests online. There's so much technology nowadays

That's probably was gets him more interested, it's more exciting to be able to use the iPad or the computer

Yeah. And the maths and things they compete with other students online so it is fun for them and there's the intrigue of doing better. Whereas her school was different.

Can you remember what the school system in Bangladesh is like?

Erm, there is a system, as such. It's quite different to here actually. I think they've got Primary, High School, College and Uni's but what they don't have is nurseries and stuff. So you start straight at like 5 or 6. There isn't an age, like a statutory age when everyone has to start, it's like whenever parents feel like it. But both my kids went to nursery here obviously.

Okay. So when you had your children, and you looked at them, what did you want them to be?

Erm, to be fair I just wanted them to be themselves. I know there was a phase in our area where everyone was like 'my daughter's gonna be a doctor, my son's gonna be a lawyer'. But I'm not fussed really as long as they're happy and they're doing what they want. I think the only thing I would say with my son, is that in the back of my mind I always wanted him to do Hifz (*Arabic Memorisation of the Qur'an*).

Okay, so your aspirations were more Islam-based?

Yeah, I think so. I wanted him to... Because we lead two lives really don't we? We lead one life and then there's the other life, the Islamic side as well

Yeah I would agree with that

And I kind of always wanted him to follow that. Because I think in the back of my mind I wanted him to read my Janazah and everything. (Salat al-Janazah – Islamic funeral prayer).

You want him to know what to do. We know there is a life after this so you wanted him to work towards that as well?

Yes. And I think in some ways I want, in them both, I want them to know everything and both sides. With my daughter, part of sending her to the Islamic school was because I wanted her to know things that I couldn't teach her. So I wanted school to pick up on that as well, Islamically. Because it is my duty to teach her but if I'm working full-time, when do I have the time? And for my son, I think I wanted the same thing. So Alhamdulillah he has started his Hifz...

Ah Mashallah. Did they both go to the masjid (mosque) for lessons whilst growing up?

Yeah. He's still going to the normal class for now at our local mosque. At the moment he's doing Hifz in the mornings getting used to it because in September he will be going into the proper class for it.

Have they both finished reading the Qur'an?

My daughter has and my son is on 20 Para (20th Chapter).

At 10 years' old that is really good Mashallah

It's not bad but he could be further along if he stopped chatting *laughs* With the Hifz they said to start him off early because the younger he is the more he is going to remember and retain... erm, so I'm hoping Inshallah, he starts in September, he's in year 6... by year 8 or 9 he should finish. Before his GCSE's. That's the aim, that's the goal.

Have you thought academically what you want him to do, following his GCSE's?

Erm, I haven't but when we've spoken before, he says he is going to be a pilot, an engineer, an architect... I just said go for whatever you want, I'm not fussed

You don't put any pressure on it?

No

That's good

I said if you want to fly around the world, you fly around, make sure I've got a free ticket *laughs*

Laughs Was their education always particularly important to you?

It is important, and that's why I want them to achieve in whatever field they want, because it broadens their horizons and not only that but the confidence that they build from just going to college or uni... and it will be how they set their life up

Yeah. I'm just trying to think what I wanted to ask you next... Taking it back to primary school again, how did you deal with any struggles you had?

Honestly, my family

Yeah. I know you mentioned asking your family for help now, so it was the same case then?

Yeah totally. When my daughter was born, I went back to work quite quickly. I literally did nothing for her apart from breastfeed her. That was the only time that I was useful... I had so much family there, that I never had time or the chance to pick her up. So I went back to work. But when it came to school and everything... I sent her to day care twice a week, at about a year old. And then when she was 3 and a half I sent her to normal school nursery

Right

Because my nephew was already going, so I dropped them off and then someone else picked them up so I always had help with lifts. My family did help a lot because me and my husband were working similar times and were in and out at the same time. That went on for a bit, until my son was born. He then got a job at Royal Mail and that changed things

Ah, night shifts?

Yeah he was then doing night shifts, which meant I would do the drop off to school and he would do the pickup, and it's still the same now. He would look after my son on the one day he wasn't at nursery... Because I wanted his dad to be hands-on as well.

Hands-on yeah... Does he get involved with the school side of things?

Yeah. He wasn't born here but he went to uni himself a few years back and got a degree... don't ask me in what though

So he must have an interest in how they're getting along at school?

He does, but he takes a step back. He's laid back and he's like 'well they can choose what they want". He says "if they need anything they know where we are". We both say that we will guide them. Because when my daughter said she wasn't going to go back to college, he said "well it's her decision..."

But how did he feel when she eventually did decide to go back to college?

It was a relief for both of us

A relief

Because we both held our breath, and we were thinking 'this can't be happening'. I'm not against apprenticeships, but it was what she was giving up. If she started the apprenticeship, that would've been it. It would've been hard for her to come out of that and go back into studying. You get used to the money and everything, however low it is.

In your culture, would you say there was an expectation for our kids to go to university?

Erm, to be honest with you, our lifestyle is a bit different, because all of my brothers have got restaurants and they're doing well.

Business, yeah...

So their focus has never been education as such. The only two out of my six brothers and sisters who have actual jobs and are working is me and my sister. The others have businesses and are self-employed. But saying that one of my brother's kids haven't followed his footsteps at all, they have studied and gone to uni and done it that way. So I guess it's a mixture of both routes

Yeah whereas with us its more clear-cut

I think in the back of my mind I always wanted them to better themselves

But you don't mind either way?

No, because I guess the way I look at it is that you will find a way of surviving, always

That is a good way to look at it, because I'm sure your daughter, the same as many kids, will have thought her life was over after not getting a place at sixth form

Well, she wouldn't talk, locked herself up for like two days and wouldn't talk or anything. And then we did have quite a heated conversation. Because looking back, I always thought she could have done better but I didn't push her...

It's that balance

Exactly, that balance of 'it's your education, you need to do it, I can't be telling you' and when I did tell her, she would go the other way

Yeah, as much as my mum is super relaxed, I also know that I've not really pushed her. If I hadn't have gotten into sixth form when she had every expectation of me to get in, I know we would have had a similar situation as you, where she would've said the same thing 'I know you can do better than this'.

I remember talking to you mother about this last year probably talking her ear off, I was like 'what do I do?!' I don't know what happened at school that made her come back and shut everything out. Because I know something happened. She wasn't like that before, so why did she have that change of heart? All of a sudden she didn't want to go to uni or do this or that... I don't know what they did to her that was so bad that knocked her so much, that she didn't want to pursue anything anymore. Something happened. And it took us, the whole of the family...

Before she was happy to go back to studying?

Yeah and I asked her recently, she has a problem where she freezes when it comes to exams. I do that as well so I know where she's got that from. I never passed anything first go, because I always freeze the first time and then I can do it. So I guess in some ways that might be why I don't put too much pressure on her, because I know what I'm like

You can empathise with her?

Yeah, I can see myself in her, yeah. My driving test I passed second time round. My theory as well. I tell her, I know where she's coming from because I'm like that myself but she still doesn't understand that I can be like that

You can emphasise with her but she will struggle to empathise with you because you're her mum, she thinks you're the strong one. She can't imagine you ever being upset or...

Failing. Not getting it right the first time. Yeah it is that

I'm the same with my mum, I honestly think my mum is like superhuman, if I ever have any type of problem I feel like she will always be able to solve it and your daughter will feel the same

Yeah, it's pretty scary but that's how our kids see it.

I wanted to know as well if you ever felt different due to your heritage, being Bangladeshi? Interacting with any teachers or schools?

To say she went to an Islamic school and all the teachers were Muslim, it was hard interacting. I would prefer it the other way. Seriously, in the other schools if I had a problem I could bring it up and talk to them. But Islamic school was hard because it would get their back up straight away

They were more offended and defensive?

Oh man, I used to think 'what is going on here?' One year, I think she was in year 8, and erm they were supposed to give us a list of uniforms and everything. Her sports uniform was just black, and the previous years they tried to provide it. But anyway, September came and I'd gone into, I don't know, Sports Direct or wherever and I got her a full outfit: Nike. I thought it's was the smallest sign you could see and it was all black...

I already know where you're gonna go with this...

And she went in and the P.E teacher said she couldn't wear that because it had Nike on it...

Nike, yeah...

So I went in, and I said I want to speak to the head teacher, I wasn't going to speak to the P.E teacher

You went straight to the top?

I just thought 'I don't think so' and I went in and I said to her 'can you show me what's wrong with this outfit?' and she said 'why?' So I said to her, 'your P.E teacher said to my daughter that she can't wear this because it isn't appropriate, but what is wrong with this? There's only two signs, one on the trousers and one on the tracksuit top, two signs... very faint. I got my daughter that, what is the issue with it? Why did she say she can't wear it?' and she said 'oh... I apologise, I apologise'. But it was such hard work with that school. So petty. I'm not a branded person but I wanted my daughter to have something nice because she was going to school and it was for the full year...

And like you said she wasn't that confident...

Yeah and I just thought you know what... I wanted good quality for her. But I'd be happy if they said 'we're providing the P.E kit, you can buy it from us'. I would be cool with that.

Is there any Muslim or Bangladeshi teachers at your son's primary school?

I think there are a mixture of teachers. He might have one this year that's Muslim but he's not had any previously. But Alhamdulillah he's doing so well...

You don't have any concerns or anything?

No, no...

What are his parent's evenings like?

For his school you book it on the system, book yourself in and they will go through the stages of where he's at and what he should be achieving and what's expected of him. And Alhamdullilah, he's exceeded expectations this year, even though the grading changed last September. So they had a whole new year of the new system, however he still exceeded. The school is pretty good.

Is there anything you think to yourself 'I would change this about the school my child went to, so I felt more comfortable'?

I would say communication. At my daughter's school there was just no communication at all. It was their way or no way. That was a complete different attitude. Especially to say I was paying for it...I am happy with my son's primary school though as they cover whatever is on the curriculum but they do extra things like on Eid and Diwali which goes a long way in making parent's feel a bit more included. It helps. They have bilingual staff there so if I did need that it would be there. Whereas my daughter's primary school didn't offer that, and back then is when I would have maybe needed that more so than now.

So overall you think the school now is better with communication?

Definitely. To be fair, we had an issue last September and my son was going to have the same teacher for the third year in a row and a lot of the parents were experiencing the same thing so they got together and went to see the head teacher about it and asked for change.

Did you get involved in that too?

To be honest with you, I didn't have to because when I spoke to the other parents... Some of them took that leadership role and went to speak to the head teacher with the rest of our support and feedback.

So you got the result you wanted by getting involved and having your say...

Yeah. We tend to get together in the playground before school and have a chat and what have you. I try to get there as much as possible, I think it's important to get to know other parents. One of his friend's mum text me and said the kids wanted to go to watch film and I said 'yeah, fine'...

You're making friends, he's making friends...

Exactly

I think that's everything for now, and I've used your whole lunch break

God, that's gone fast

Do you have any questions for me? Or anything you would like to add?

No not really, let me know if you've got any more questions for me

Interview 2

Tell me a bit about your family.

I have a son, who is 29 years old and he is currently working as a personal trainer. He has a degree in media and business, he graduated a while back. And I have a daughter who is 21 and is in her final year of university studying nutrition.

And to what level is your own education?

Btec in nursery nursing. It's equivalent to two a-levels

Did you do that straight after your GCSE's or was it later on?

It was later on, I had already had my first child at that point.

Did your children both attend nursery?

Yes, they did. My son was two when I started studying

My next question was about the process of getting them into school and how you found it?

Well nursery for my son was attached to my course so childcare was provided and so he went to nursery and then education nursery after that, so yeah. Even following that, with school, I knew about the process of getting them into school because of the nursery nursing. I had placements at different schools and learnt things that way. From that I knew which schools were good and which I didn't want to send them to and what the procedure was. Otherwise I would've been confused I think

Do you remember much about when they were in primary school? Did they take part in any activities?

Yeah I pushed them for everything, didn't I? I used to push my son for cricket, taking him to Headingly before he was even 5.

So you were big on sport?

Big on sport, I wanted them to be busy busy busy

Why did you think that was important?

To keep them out of trouble and hanging around with bad company, that was the main purpose

What about in terms of achievement?

Yeah definitely. I think it gave them focus

Did their primary school give them much homework that you could help them with?

Oh yeah, I did always. It was reading every day and then spellings. Just 15-20 minutes every day and I always got involved with that

Can you remember any time you might have gone into school to deal with something relating to them?

Hmm. In nursery my son was quite naughty. In the early years, yeah. He used to bite people, hit, kick, punch. So I was summoned. They just would say 'he's done it again' and I would say okay I'll have a word with him

Was there anything like that for your daughter ever?

Never, no

Did that kind of behaviour carry on?

No he was fine in education nursery and reception and then obviously we went back to Pakistan when he was in year1/2.

And he attended primary school there?

Yes he did, he went for three years. I still made sure he went

What was the school system like? Were there any major differences?

Loads more homework, and I ended up doing some of it for him because there was so much. I used to say to him, 'if you do the Urdu, I'll do the English' and vice versa so he was still doing both. It was always – whatever he did in class, he had to repeat it at home. So he had the same number of books at school and at home and then everything had to be copied out. It was just copying out

Do you think it was more intense in Pakistan then?

Definitely. And not in a good way, because the way they were doing it was just copying. What was the purpose of that? He wasn't learning anything and I used to copy some of it out for him and they didn't even realise. They just wanted to see it had been done. They used to put CW is HW, every day. That meant that classwork was also homework and it was nonstop, for every single subject that was written in the diary. Classwork is homework, classwork is homework.

So what was the reason you came back?

For his education. For a better education. Because as he was growing up...

His education was important to you?

Very

But otherwise, when you went there you were planning on staying there?

Yep, which would've been a nightmare long-term.

So when did you come back?

When he was in year 5. He had his ups and downs in high school but he was okay. Then he went to college and he had bad company there but I was always on his back. I always went to see his tutors and said if he ever misbehaves, you've got to call me, before he even started.

Even at college?

Even at college.

Why was there education so important to you?

Because I wanted them to do well and have an easy life after... and be successful and professional

What do you mean by successful? Did you have a goal in mind, like university?

Definitely university, because for me, my goal was for my son to get to uni. Because that was the reason I came to England, that was the sole purpose

Did you not see that happening in Pakistan?

No, no... I didn't value the education there so I said if he's going to go to university and to England I've got to be with him and that's why I decided to move, even with his father staying over there

And what about your daughter?

She just did everything herself, she didn't need any pushing or persuading, she just did it herself. She was quite committed to everything anyway. But just I just kind of took her there, and she did it all.

So it was easier with her?

A lot easier

So when you looked at them both, when they were young, did you want them to be anything specific?

No... just whatever they wanted to be. I just thought 'as long as they get to uni and have good jobs, and can stand on their own two feet... that's it'. That was it, to make them independent.

Was it the same for both of them? Nothing differed?

Oh yeah, no no no... whatever they wanted. My daughter could've gone into dentisty, she could've gone into medicine, but I said 'whatever you're enjoying'

So you didn't try and persuade her in any sort of way?

No, I didn't. Her dad did... he wanted her to be a doctor... and she tried but she didn't like it, so that was it.

From knowing her very well, I think she's glad she didn't go down that route...

Yeah, but it's a status thing with Pakistani's, isn't it? The status of doctors... that's the only success they see. Engineers and doctors... all the others are nothing. But I wasn't bothered at all. As long as they could feed themselves, have a roof over their head... that was good enough for me

Mmm... did you have any desires for them besides their education?

Being independent, being able to look after themselves and their family... and being good people. That was the main thing for me, being good people. I don't care what they're doing for themselves, but I want them to be nice to others as well and I drilled that into them

And are you satisfied?

No I'm not satisfied yet! *laughs* I'm not satisfied, I'm never satisfied. But I want them to make a difference. I try to drill that into them all the time. You think of others more than you think of yourself. Don't be selfish, be selfless. That's my motto. And if they ever say 'oh no, somebody's doing this...' I'd bite their head off

You said you wanted them to go to university. What lengths were you willing to go to, in order to see that happen?

I was so determined for him to go to uni. So he left school with his GCSE's and went onto sixth form. At that school they knew him, they knew what he was like and they knew me. He then went onto Technology College, and I went in to see them before he started. I said 'I want him to do well'. I went to see his tutors, erm, on the opening day and I said 'this is my son, and this is what I want from him. I'm here only for his education. And if he ever misbehaves, or steps out of line, I need to know... here's my number'. And I left my number with them. Then, about... He doesn't know this, don't tell him... Erm, about three months into the course, they called me in and said he was mixing with the wrong kind of crowd and they could see him being influenced. They said 'we know how much this means to you and how hard you're working for him', that's what they said, it was a female and a male member of staff. They said 'we're just going to move him to a different group'. It was the same course but just a different group, to get him away from that influence. They said to me "he doesn't know why, we're just telling you" and I said 'that's fine' and he was over 18, so they didn't have to tell me or do that, but they did. I think because I went in and made my feelings clear at the start. So anyway, I said 'yep that's fine, go ahead and do it', so they did. He came home fuming

Really?

Yeah

You just pretended you didn't know anything?

Yeah I just pretended I didn't know anything about it. He said "why have they moved me? I had loads of friends in that group..." *laughs* "...and now I don't know anybody! They said there's no space in the other one but why did they move me and nobody else?" He was so annoyed. So I said 'well they must have their reasons... it doesn't matter, you'll make some new friends' *laughs* and so yeah, he was fine. It worked out for the best and I was really grateful and appreciative for what those tutors did.

So you did find yourself getting involved even up until college?

Yeah and he did okay and then he got into the uni following that. Even there I was kind of checking up on him all the time...

Were you?

Yeah

Like getting involved with the tutors?

No... I couldn't really do that, I think he would've kind of killed me if I did, but I did phone up a few times and just say 'by the way... how is he doing?' you know... that kind of thing... so yeah

Very involved. Was this more so because he moved out?

Mmm... Yeah. I always had his friend's numbers, so people he was staying with. And if he didn't ring me every day I would call them and say 'he's not answering his phone, where is he?'

How many years did he move out for?

I think about two years. First and second, and then he wasted one year didn't he, in the middle...

And then he resat?

He resat that one, mm.

I see, did you have any other issues that you had to resolve with school?

Hmm, let's see... there's plenty of stories involving my son. He went through a rough period around the time of 9/11.

Oh did he?

Yeah... he hated that.

At school?

At school... obviously there was all that tension in the schools. He took it all personally, he used to have a fight with anybody if anybody said anything, he would thump them

Did people say things directed at him?

I don't think it was like attacks to him personally but he would take remarks very personally. He would fight for the whole of the Muslim Ummah, in his mind. He didn't know how to else to go about it. He actually threw a chair at somebody once.

How did you deal with that?

I was called in... I went and I said 'well, you've got to address this issue'. The school had to address the issue, because obviously they weren't dealing with it. They should've been looking after all the students, from all angles and protecting each one, and I said 'clearly you're not doing that'. Especially at such a tense time for the whole world. If the staff were encouraging it, then that's wrong.

Were the people making remarks getting told off as well, or was it just him for reacting in that way?

In my eyes, he was getting picked on, because he was the one who lost his temper. But the others didn't, because they just started it and then backed away. So I think he was on report for a week after that. I remember that, piece of paper

That's not long at all compared to some kids, they can be on report for months

Really? Well for him it was awful, I really hated it. I thought that was the worst thing that could ever happen. And I made him feel like that as well. You know, 'it was the worst thing that could happen to our family', that's what I said. I said, 'nobody's ever been on report before you and nobody ever will again'

Did that make him change?

Oh yeah, mm, yeah he did think about it. He begun to control his temper after that, because he knew how bad it was. I said to him, 'next time you're on report we're going back to Pakistan – what's the point of staying here? If you're not going to try'

How did the situation change you? Did it make you get more involved with school?

Not really, I was more concerned about managing his anger and making sure he wasn't rising, because the school weren't doing enough in my eyes. I talked to him all about it and that's when we started having that 'boys group', you know so him and his cousins could kind of find out more about their religion and improve their own understanding. Then they could defend it with their words rather than their fists.

Was this at the beginning of high school?

No it wasn't right at the start, but in the first year he was beaten up

Really?

Mmm, I was driving down Thorn Lane and there was a fight in the middle of the road and in the middle of all that was my son and this other boy

Was it a racial attack?

No, no... I think they were just trying to stand up to each other and er, take control

Did you see him then?

I stopped the car in the middle of the road and ran out and said 'get yourself off him!' There was a crowd around them, my son was on his own against this group. I told him to get in the car and I said in front of everyone that I was calling the school, and I was calling the police. And they all ran away.

Did you call the school and the police?

I called the school but not the police. I brought him home and he was fuming. He was on his own which made it worse, he wanted to get his uncles and cousins involved because he thought it was unfair. But nothing else did happen with that situation, it didn't escalate any further thankfully.

They didn't have any more run-ins?

No they didn't, luckily. He said he thinks it's because he stood up to him, that he backed off. Otherwise, the boy would've kept on picking on him, but he wasn't going to let that happen. So he defended himself and everyone saw him as strong after that.

Was he hurt or anything?

No, no. There were no cuts or bruises, it was more of a scuffle. I think I came at the right time Alhamdullilah. So yeah, it is hard work, having kids. But you've done a good job

No I haven't

Even just seeing how involved you were in college, in making sure he stayed on the straight and narrow...

I wouldn't even leave him now! Somebody phoned after his interview, and I told her that he wasn't in, he was at work. And she said 'I just wanted to give him some good news following up from is interview', so I said, 'I'm his mum, can I take the message?' and she said 'oh yeah, he's been offered this, this and this'. I said, 'oh that's really good, how did he do in the interview?!' *Laughs* I said, 'he'll kill me for

asking, but how was he?' and she said he was the best candidate, and I said 'really? He came back saying that it wasn't good at all...' and she said 'no honestly he's really good and he's very popular wherever he goes, all the sports centres wanted him, so that's why I've had to put him in three different centres because they all wanted him'. I was so pleased

Laughs still babying him at 29!

Still doing it *laughs* I shouldn't really, but when he gets married it will be over to her. From one nest to the other.

Is there anything else you want to add?

I think my target was just to educate him and make him a good person. I wanted the balance and I worked my socks off to do that. And that's it really. Only Allah (God) will be the judge how I've done. Because your kids can take you up there or down there *laughs*

Interview 3

Were you born in this country or abroad?

No, I was born in Kenya, Nairobi

Oh wow, and when did you move here?

I moved here... gosh... in 88... 87?

So how old were you? I was around 26 or 27 when I moved here.

So were you educated in Kenya then?

Yeah

What's the system like there?

Erm... hard. It's different. And you know, back in the day, and where we lived... it was just assumed that you get to a certain point – you do your O Levels and then...

That's it?

That's it

For women...? Or for everyone?

For women. And you know, that's it. It's time for you to get married and you know, you're not doing anymore studying. But my parents were quite broadminded, and I did my A Levels there as well. And after my A Levels I went to work over there

What kind of job was that? Similar to what you're doing now?

Erm no, it was completely different... I started off with teaching in college

So you didn't need to go to uni to pursue that?

No, no... I just did some training and then started working in the college

Did you not want to carry on teaching when you got here?

Hmm, no, I thought... it was hard, because I came here, got married and I needed a job. Because my husband was living with his brother and we needed a house and wanted to move out. So there wasn't that thing – maybe if he had his own place and was set up here... you know... he had just come here as well. Maybe then I could've thought about doing something I liked, you know. But when I got married we were living with his brother and then when my first daughter was born, we were still living there

Ah right

So we didn't have a place of our own and we just wanted a job so we could buy a house

And be independent?

Yeah

Okay. Were your parents born in Kenya as well?

Right let me have a think... My dad was born in Kenya, Nairobi and my mum was born in India... yeah and they moved to Uganda, so my mum came from Uganda and my dad came from Nairobi. But my grandad came in 1914 I think, when they were building the great railway. So they brought all these people from India, to build the railway. But he wasn't building the railway, he worked in the Met department, you know, telling about the weather and all that. So he had quite a good post, and that's where he was but he moved around East Africa. He had 10 children, so my dad had lots of siblings. They weren't all all born in Nairobi, he stayed there a few years and then he moved to Tanzania, Arusha... And then Uganda. So all of his kids were everywhere.

I see... Have you been back since you moved here?

I've been...

Because 26 is not long ago, that must still feel like home for you?

Yeah it is still home. When I first came here I really missed it. Because the weather there is beautiful, we didn't have to... work was more like pleasure and not for bills. It wasn't a headache and pressure to go and work to pay bills. It was just like pocket money for me really because my dad took care of me in that sense. I've been back four times I think...

Oh wow, have the kids ever been?

Yeah, they all have but when they were very young we took them for a holiday for about 3 weeks. We went all over, the safari parks and such. Because both mine and my husband's family were still there. The first time I went was when was my mum was really poorly so I went to see her erm, when she was in ICU. Then I went... My dad kept saying "since you've been married you've never been with your husband and kids", so we went for a holiday after that. Then... it was like a week... we had just come back on the Friday and on the Friday my dad passed away

Aww...

So I hadn't even like unpacked properly, so, just packed my bags and I was off to Kenya again. And then after that I went for my brother's wedding. Then, the last time was when I took my son with me, he was just a few months old. Now he's 16, so the

last time I went was about 15 years ago. There was two weddings then as well. But yeah those are the only times I've been back really...

Have you got any plans to visit again any time soon?

Erm, I don't know...

Because you've been to India more recently right?

Yeah that was about 5/6 years ago. Time just goes doesn't it. But with Kenya, it's just like... with my mum and dad not being there, it's not the same. Such a big house and they're not there. What would we do there? Stay inside?

It's probably changed quite a lot since you were last there

Yeah, it has. So I haven't really thought about going but I probably will eventually for a little holiday when I can afford it *laughs* I still have to get a visa if I want to go and then on top of flight prices, it gets expensive.

You don't have dual-nationality?

No, they don't do it over there. I don't know what it's like in Pakistan for you guys, do you get a card or something?

Yeah you apply for a national ID card, and with that you don't have to pay for the visa on entry. It saves a lot of money in the long run, as they last for around 10 years I think. I got mine recently.

Yeah that's good

So, let's see... next questions... You got your A Levels, but what about your children? You're oldest two have both been to uni right?

Yeah, my first daughter did Human Geography at uni, like regeneration planning and all that.

Ah, did she enjoy it?

She did, but she didn't get a job out of it

She didn't? What kind of job was she looking for?

No, well she did get one for about 18 months, like project work. But after that the funding finished.

Is she still looking in that sector now?

Yeah she is looking. She did get a job offered, a few days ago in York, but she's had to... It was only for two months. She doesn't want to leave her current job in Tesco, because if she leaves that, after the two months, they won't take her back

Even though she's been there a while? Would they not let her just for two months?

No, no... they're very, no. Plus we added up the travel costs and everything and the tax and what not. We thought it's not worth the stress, we sat down and decided that she should decline it. There was a possibility that they would extend it beyond the two months but now she's getting married...

Congratulations by the way

Thanks *laughs* so we thought there was no need for the extra stress

Is she working full-time at Tesco?

No, no, just part-time. They don't give you full-time there but she will take overtime if there is any. It's hard, you know. She's got work experience with a big company. She's going in September for a month, they called her in. Because every interview she goes to, when she asks for feedback, they're like "you had a very good interview but you don't have the experience that the other candidates have. So she started looking into getting that, and Keepmoat have offered her the experience.

Brilliant... And your second daughter, she's doing a Masters now?

Yeah she's finishing that in two weeks

And how is she finding it?

Hard, you know...

Yeah, what was it she did her degree in?

She did Psychology and Society and now she's doing the Psychology Masters because I think she wants to become an Educational Psychologist but I think there's something after this she has to do

Oh right, has she been getting experience in schools as well?

Hmm, not really, I think because she's been so busy working as well, 6 days a week. She leaves home at 10am and doesn't come back until 2am

No way, that's such a long day

Yeah, because she says she can't concentrate at home so she does it all in the library. She's more of a night person, she prefers to do it then. She's always had a job so she's used to it. But it is hard because she comes home and she's so tired. She will have a break for an hour or so and then she says "I'm off to uni". So I make her dates with almonds

Ah yeah, they are really good for prolonged energy, which is why we have them so much in Ramadan when we're fasting. They really kept me going this year

Yeah she loves them, so I made her them to keep with her to keep eating when she's on the go

Yeah, that's such a good idea. Just going back to when you moved here. What was your English like? Did you learn it over in Kenya?

I did, yeah. Because English was compulsory, so our language that we had to learn was Swahili. But English was actually our first language.

So Swahili was second?

Second, yeah. It was compulsory but English was your first language there. So they worked on the same system as here, because it was a British colony. You know, if anything changed here, it would also change there. Like GCSE's and other curriculum changes.

I see, so would you say that you were fairly confident speaking English once you came here?

No I wasn't confident, because we never actually spoke English. We spoke Swahili or Punjabi

Yeah

At home we were always speaking Punjabi and with other people we would speak Swahili so English was just like

Like a school thing?

Yeah, so I wasn't really confident when I came here

Yeah... so when you had your first child and you were ready to apply for school places, were you more confident?

Oh yeah, yes, especially working with the council. I started working there soon after I moved here.

How did you feel applying for that job?

It was hard. Before moving to Leeds I was in Leicester, and I joined a temping agency. I was doing all sorts of jobs, anything really.

Yeah. So did all your children go to nursery before school?

Yeah

And can you remember the process of getting them into school?

I didn't get the first school we wanted

So did you appeal or anything?

Let me think... Yes, we did appeal for my first daughter and we still didn't get it. It was just that... We were living in the old house and they were both the same distance. But because people were saying it was a good school and I had it in my mind that right next to it is the high school I wanted them in...

Were you still happy with the primary school as a whole?

Yeah, yeah...

Did they take part in any activities or anything like that?

I know my son did, he played Dhol but I can't remember what the others did. They will have done but I can't really remember. All I can remember is my youngest going for the Dhol lessons and paying for them *laughs*

Has he carried that on?

He has, yeah, he plays on and off, yeah

That's good. Can you remember if you ever had to go into the primary school for anything in particular?

The only time I can remember is when we wanted to go to India for a month and it was Easter holidays. I wanted to take my son out of school for an extra two weeks, he was in reception. Was it Mr. *****? He rejected, and said "you're not taking them out". Whereas, my daughter was in high school, in year 7 or 8, we applied the same and they just signed it off. So that's when I went to see the deputy... Erm I went into school to see the head but he was off sick, so I met with Mrs. ******. He was off sick, so she had to... I had to write a long, long letter you know

Did you?

I put it all about... religious stuff... I had to put loads about how their grandma wanted to take her grandson to Amritsar, you know...

Yeah, yeah

You know, we had to put a lot of stuff in

But you got in sorted in the end?

Yeah, she... I spoke to her, high school they gave and not reception? Luckily the head was on sick so we asked her and said 'we haven't got a response' but the airfare was going up, so we had to chase them about a response. So she said "right, I will find out what I can do", and she approved it, but she said she spoke to him as well, over the phone. But it was a nightmare

Did you get involved with other school related things, like the kids' homework?

Yeah I always helped them with their homework, I think they got a normal amount compared to some people I know. My husband's nephew gets loads of work, so much, but the work he does is more higher level than my son, and he is younger than him as well. That's what I noticed, things that my son hadn't even learned yet.

Did they ever come to you for help with certain subjects?

I think most of the time they got on with it themselves, but if they needed help they would come and ask. I think it was just Maths and English. Then we would work through it together

Yeah... And did you ever read to them or anything like that?

Er, yes. I read to them when they were younger. I remember, as they grew older, technology changed. With my son, we did very little because by the time he was growing up there was so much technology, so

Yeah that's true. Can you remember the main differences between school here and in Kenya?

Yeah, getting whipped *laughs* yeah, punishment was way worse. Or if you were naughty you go and clear the field, picking litter up

Did that ever happen to you?

Oh yes, once I remember the whole class was on detention, so we were all over the field picking litter up

How old were you?

It was secondary school

So like teens?

Yeah, I can't remember exactly...

You can't imagine that happening here can you... It just wouldn't

Yeah... and I can't really remember primary school... all I remember is that I used to not want to go and I used to get told off by my dad everyday

Laughs

He would say "you have to go, you have to"

He valued your education?

Yeah, a lot

Can you remember if your kids had any issues at school, maybe where they had detention or anything like that?

Hmm, yeah for my son. The girls were okay but I think boys are a bit more... There were a couple over the years that I can remember, yeah

Was it anything serious or was it resolved easily?

Resolved easily... yeah

Were you more defensive over him or did you want to speak to the school about it?

I always wanted to speak... and ask them 'why?' because I knew whatever he would tell me would be the truth, because he knew that if he told me porkies or anything then there would be no way I could help. He would tell us what had happened and what I was going in for so I knew a bit about the situation and I would go with an open mind and hear what they were saying

But you would get involved in the situation?

Yeah we've always been... I know my relative they say 'we've never been to parent's evenings, because we thought there was a problem' but problem or not, I've always... we've always... one of us has always been to the parent's evenings for the kids. But the school is good in that sense because I know if you don't sign up they will text you or ring you up and say 'you haven't signed up'. I remember once we didn't put in for one subject and they sent a message saying 'you haven't booked a meeting for this', which is good that they do that

Yeah it's changed a lot from being paper-based and if you lost that piece of paper with all the times of meetings... But they text parents now to keep them updated. Do you feel like you are in the loop with what's going on at school?

Oh yeah, oh yeah. Because text... I get a text and immediately I forward it to my son and he says he knows but I still send it to him so we both know what is happening. I don't have any complaints about either school to be fair

Was your daughters' education particularly important to you?

Oh it was... Because I always felt that I've reached this point... I've done A Levels... But I wanted them to do more

More, yeah...

I know the older two have, and my son, he might take a different route and might not go to uni. I think we will respect his choice, if he says that apprenticeship is for him and uni is not for him.

You'll probably help him still, with that alternate route. I know my mum always forwards me any opportunities she thinks I might be interested in

Yeah, yeah... that's what I'm like with my eldest, I will send her any jobs I come across, so...

So when you looked at them when they were really young, did you ever want them to be something specific?

Erm... not really, not really. I never, you know forced them to do something they weren't really confident in. I just let them decide what they wanted to do

A lot of emphasis is put on the sciences, did you ever try and sway them in that sort of direction?

Hmm, well with my eldest, when she was applying, we did look at the top sector jobs, you know, and the degree she did did come in the top sectors, but now when we look at it, it's nowhere to be seen. Now it's mostly finance, IT, medical stuff that is at the top. But the degree she did, when we looked at it originally, it was one of the top degrees.

So how did you deal with the fact that she was struggling to find a job? Was she upset?

Oh yeah, she used to be upset all the time. We used to say, you know 'don't be upset. If you wanna further your education, go study something. If you feel that this is not for you, go into something completely different'. Because it wasn't as if we were asking, you know she didn't have to pay the mortgage or anything. With her wedding, we're funding it ourselves. It would have been nice if she was working fulltime as well, but there was that thing where we didn't want her to feel as though, you know, she doesn't have a job and feel depressed. So we just said to her, 'what are you worrying for? You don't have to pay the mortgage, it's fine, we're not asking you for anything'

Yeah, so you didn't put any pressure on her to find that job?

Yeah, there was no pressure at all. Even now, there's no pressure to find a job. If she finds it then that's great but if she doesn't -

-you're still there for her?

We're still there and we will remortgage the house *laughs*

Let me see if I've got any other questions... Did you have any other desires for your children as they were growing up? What did you want from them in life?

Apart from education, because you know I wanted them to have a good education...

Yeah...

I always felt that maybe they should do something else, like on the side. With my eldest we did quite a lot, because she was the first born, so we took her to karate lessons and she learned how to play the harmonium. She did swimming and there was something else she did... So our week, we used to come from work and it was just like doing things with her. And then I think it was getting too much for her. She was doing all these extra activities outside of school, and we thought 'right, we need to stop doing that' because we're putting so much pressure on her. So I think she stopped the karate after a year... But swimming they both got gold, erm, the highest. So then with my second oldest girl we didn't... she just went swimming. With my son he didn't want to go swimming. But yeah, I was thinking, maybe they should do something extra, and they used to learn Punjabi as well

Oh did they? Do they all speak it?

Yeah, they speak it but they're not very fluent. Because of grandma they understand and speak it but they aren't very fluent, they don't know half the words. They understand what's being said but my eldest is the only one who is probably fluent.

Yeah, erm, I was going to ask, did you put emphasis on your cultural side?

Just Punjabi, we wanted them to learn Punjabi... My eldest did go and do a GCSE in that. The other two did go for lessons but they didn't take it up, we never pushed them *laughs* they just weren't interested. With school work and with us working there wasn't the time really. Maybe if we were working part-time or something, I don't know...

Yeah, you could've taken them and stuff. I think that's most of my questions covered... Did you know about the education system here because of your job?

Yeah because I worked for the council

So like getting your kids into school, you weren't worried because you knew the system?

The system, yeah

Did the fact that you moved here in your 20s ever pose any issues for you? Integrating or settling?

I think I was quite shy, just like my kids trying to speak Punjabi, they get embarrassed. My way, some of the words were quite different and I always mix my W's and V's, you know the way I say... And I wouldn't notice that but somebody else would say 'what you saying?' you know... it put me off speaking in public then

Interview 4

So... Again, you don't have any questions or anything before I start do you?

No, no, that's fine, go ahead

So I want to know a bit about your family... But even before that, about you. Where were you born?

Born in Pakistan but I moved here when I was young

Do you have many brothers and sisters?

Yeah I have 2 brothers and 5 sisters

Oh wow, mashallah, big family

Yeah

Okay, so... to what level is your education, if you don't mind me asking?

I think it was O Levels then, which is like GCSE standard I think

Do you remember what subjects you did?

I did History and Geography, oh now you're asking *laughs* History, Geography and the general one and then for language I did German

Oh wow... Do you remember any German?

Just bits and bats of it, but not really. I just did not grasp French at all

Tell me a bit about your children...

I have 2 boys and a girl

And how old are they?

18, 16 and my little girl is 12. She just started year 8 today

Ah right, how did she find year 7?

She loved year 7, she loved every minute of it

That's good, I love when kids enjoy school. It can be quite scary for them

Absolutely, and if they enjoy it they're gonna do well

Exactly. And then your son that is 16, has he just done his GCSE's?

Yeah, just done his GCSE's, with your sister

Oh right! They're starting sixth form today?

Yeah he went in at 9:30 this morning

Was he excited?

Oh, I don't know... I said 'get back to reality, you're going to school this morning' but I haven't actually seen him properly as I start here at 8, but I rang home and he said, yeah, he's gone

Aw, and how did he do in his GCSE's, did he do well?

He did well, he got 2 C's, 1 A and 5 B's, so he got his 9 GCSE's

That's really good, well done to him. How hard did he work for them?

D'you know , it surprises me. I would tell him to revise and I would get "oh I'll do it tonight" and he used to start at 10 o'clock at night

Oh no

And that's how he was and he was up until 2/3 in the morning so I don't know how he was doing it, because I can't stay up every night. I would say to him 'you've got the day' but he would do everything he wanted to do in the day, relax, chillax, and then revised at night! Having said that, I think he still came out okay. But he needed a B in Maths and he got a C

Right, for one of his subjects he needed that? Or just to get into sixth form?

For Chemistry he needed that B, so he couldn't do Chemistry

So that must've been... Was he a bit upset about that?

He was, yeah... He was a bit disappointed that he got a C

Especially when you have your heart set on certain subjects

Yeah, he's doing Biology and Geography. He got an A in geography, he loves Geography so he'll just sail through it, little effort, just sail through it. But through his erm Sciences, he did very well, so he is doing Biology. But I went into school and I pushed that he takes Chemistry cos that opens... you know if he wants to go into Pharmacy, that's what he wants to do at the moment, so... and they said "no, no no"

Really? So after he got his results, you went in and they said no?

Yeah, they said no because he got a B in, no he got a C in Maths "and we require a B" but they said that loads of kids that get A's and B's in Maths drop out of Chemistry in the first year

Hmm

So I said well, you know, I don't know

Have you had any other times when you've had to deal with school?

Well I had to go in one time because I thought it was ridiculous that my son, the one that just did his GCSE's, had two exam based subjects and a BTEC course. But you know, to go to uni, they want three A Levels

Yeah

You know, they would ultimately turn around and think, 'he's done two exam based, why a BTEC course?' So I had to go in and argue my corner and show my interest with that issue

What was the BTEC?

Well they're saying, the Applied Science BTEC. But then they said 'go away and have a look at what your uni course requires' and I said 'well I have looked... uni's do not look at erm BTEC courses in the same way as standard ones'

Yeah, they might ask him to do a foundation course or something before the actual degree

Exactly, and they suggested that he do that and look into different routes to get in erm but that is just prolonging it...

Yeah

So I really pushed for it, it took half an hour...

Well at least you tried

But yeah that was the only other time I can't remember having to go in for anything like that

Yeah, but otherwise you went in for the parent's evenings and what not...

Always parents evening, always the information evenings and erm always presentation evenings, I've been there

Yeah... do you think it's important to know how your children are doing?

I think it's very important, yeah to go in. It's like, when you go into these parent teacher evenings... subject evenings... and then you know how well your child is doing and how well that teacher knows your child

Yeah, that's such a good way of thinking about it.

Oh yeah, definitely, I always go to see how well that teacher knows my child. And if they know my child how I know my child, then I know that my child will do well and progress. I hear that with my son sometimes, you know, about the teachers but you don't really know until you meet them. That was the other thing... I've had a lot more dealings with them than the other two schools my children went to

Ah did they go to different schools?

Yeah my eldest went to grammar school. But my son that didn't, he was doing very well in Science, but they underestimated him and put him in a lower group

Hmm

So they had him in a lower group, this is what he was telling me, he was in a lower group but they were teaching him the higher

Just him out of the class, or the whole group?

Just him! Because they didn't have any space to put him into the higher... And he was saying that he's not progressing because the class was moving at a slower pace than he was. So I emailed, I said 'come on, give me the email of your teacher' and I emailed the science teacher Mrs. Snow, and she said 'unfortunately, that we will make sure that he does the higher element of the paper'

Yeah cos they do foundation and err, linear?

Yeah, and she said 'we don't have any room in the other class so we're keeping him there'. So she had this full class and then you had my son. But I think they underestimated him in a lot of subjects...

Which isn't nice to know...

Which isn't nice but when he did his tests he was performing well above what they expected

That's a hard one as well because as a mother... Because regardless of if the class is full, if he is at that level then he should be in there

He should be in there, absolutely. So I had to communicate through that, with the school

Yeah, you went straight to the teacher

Yeah

So your eldest son...

Yeah he was just doing his A Levels but he'll be going to university

What course is he doing?

Erm, biomedicine, it's a new one

Ah, and how did he do in his A Levels?

He got BCC, he struggled a bit

A Levels are really hard. But uni is a totally different environment

Is it? That's what I've heard

Yeah, I wouldn't worry, he will do well

Oh that's good

Just going back to primary school, did they start out at reception?

They all went to nursery and then reception, yeah

Can you remember the process of getting them into school? Was there any difficulties or was it quite straightforward?

I think with my eldest, he went to nursery and ultimately I wanted him to get him into the same primary. But that was quite a battle...

Hmm...

Because they were saying it didn't come into our catchment area... So I looked at other schools in the area

Did you have a few you could have chosen from?

It was very limited, what I could choose from... There wasn't much of a choice, yeah... It was just to do with catchment areas and that went through to my youngest. But, I didn't actually go for the school within my catchment area. I actually went outside of my catchment area, for a different one and that wasn't in my catchment area but the only reason they allowed me to go there was because they had spaces

Right... did you do your research on both schools?

I did, and I looked at the Ofsted reports for both schools, yeah

And once they were in primary school, can you remember if they took part in any activities or anything?

Er, yes... My eldest joined the after school football club, chess club

Oh wow

Yeah he loved that, and cricket club

So he was busy?

Yeah and my younger son was never the sporty type, he never, I did always push him but through his own choice he wasn't interested in taking part in anything. He always wanted to come back to his comfort zone... and my daughter, she's in the rounders club, competing with other schools since year 7. She's very sporty, sportier than her brothers are and she's also joining the hockey club

She's a busy one as well

She really is

Can you remember going into primary school for any issues in particular?

Yes... With my eldest one, erm, I went to a parent's evening and he was so excited that I was going, he thought he was doing really well, I went in and sat there and she said 'I don't know where to start'. She didn't show me any books or anything, just said that and said he was very disruptive and all the negative things about him... Not one thing said was positive

Was he with you?

No, thank God. He would have been devastated, as a child. He was in year 4

Really young

Yeah and erm, 'he's not progressing, he's not doing this, he's not doing that' I was so gobsmacked at the time, I didn't know what to say... She just complained about him and I was stunned, I didn't know how to react at the situation... I just sat and listened and when I came away I thought to myself, 'I could've said this, or that'. But I thought to myself, she didn't show me any books or targets or anything whatsoever. I know that he was doing some tuition work and I was putting him forward for the grammar school test and he did and he passed and he went forward into grammar school. So it was a complete contrast to what school and that teacher was telling me

Yeah

So I had to go back and I was trying hard to meet the head teacher but she was so busy I didn't get to meet her

What do you put that down to? What the teacher was saying

I think, erm, it must have been the teacher herself. Just not a positive kind of person. That kind of negativity from a teacher can devastate a child and thank God he was not with me, he was waiting in the car with his dad

Kids never went in did they, especially in primary school

Absolutely, and when I went back he was so excited and he was like 'what did the teacher say about me?' and I said 'well she said you're doing very well' and I just left it to that and spoke to my husband later

Hmm

And I can remember a point when my younger son was at primary and they were combining year 3's and 4's and they were experimenting... And I thought to myself 'this is his prime foundation, this is where they learn and progress further' I went into a parents meeting, and there were two Maths teachers sharing the class, teaching different halves of the week. I went in there and asked how we was doing in Maths, and they both looked at each other and they were clueless. I went back and looked at the Ofsted reports and what they were saying about the school, and it wasn't positive whatsoever. So I knew by the time he was getting ready to leave for high school, he might not be ready like his other peers. They weren't keeping track, there were no handover notes, just not keeping track, you know or recording. So if I didn't go in and ask the right questions, I wouldn't have known

Did you do anything to help catch him up?

Well I used to ask at home time, how he was doing and pop in to the class for a 5-minute chat.

Did they give him much homework?

No, hardly any. Exactly, parents started to demand to see more homework given

Did he want it at that age?

Yeah he never said he wanted it but my daughter said she wanted more. We got a good head teacher at one point there, I've forgotten her name now but she turned the school around and got the Ofsted score from a 4 to a 2, which was good.

I can kind of tell that your kids' education was always important to you

Yeah definitely, I thought I'd give them a chance that I never had. I wanted them to have more of an education that I did. If I had a choice I think I would've gone further with my own education but marriage and kids, as lovely as it is, was kind of a hindrance of progressing further in the education field. Maybe because I didn't have the chance, we thought let's give them that chance.

Did you ever want them to be something specific when you looked at them?

No not really, my middle child, when I ask him what he enjoys... When I see them all going through school I will notice what they're doing well in but it is down to them. With my eldest his teachers always told me that his strengths were in the sciences so I knew instantly that it was the medicine field so I kind of like steered him that way and told him to stay focussed and think about what he wants to do and what he enjoys. You know, 'do you like working with people or on your own?' you know like kind of guide them but leave them to the open choice

Yeah

Whereas with my other son, let's see how he does with his A Levels. I don't know where I stand with him... He's quite bright but you know... whereas my daughter she's brilliant she's the opposite to the other two. She always has her bag ready the night before and is always on time

My mum said that too, with my brother you would be lucky if he had a pen but with my sister she would have a pencil case full with everything you could ever need and more *laughs*

laughs exactly, opposites

So after biomed will he do medicine?

Yeah that's a full 3 year BSc honours degree course. He was going to do something else at Bradford and then go straight into Leeds, but that's no guarantee. And he would just have a clinical degree at the end of it, but this one is better prospect-wise if he doesn't carry onto medicine. He wants to do molecular medicine, so he can either go to pharmaceutical companies after doing a Masters or go on and do a further 4 years and become GP

Did you have any other desires for them?

No really, I don't think so, because I know that there's so many things out there. You know, Asian parents are like... the only two things Asians think about is Engineer, or Doctor. But there's so many things out there, we're so lucky in this country

Did you fit that stereotype of wanting them to follow that engineer/doctor path or did you feel as though they could make that decision and you would be happy either way?

Exactly that, I never said they had to be anything like that

You must be really proud of them all for doing so well. The last kind of topic I wanted to cover was, culture and language...

I will say... with their dad, he's not a fluent English speaker. He does understand it but he will ask his children what they mean *laughs*

How did he find it education wise? Not being a fluent English speaker?

Erm I've never asked him really... I always got involved more, he always pushed me forward because obviously he struggled communicating...

Yeah, I can imagine because the whole education system is built for English speakers

Exactly. And there's no translator that speaks our language in either school. I think I was in hospital one time when it was parents evening so my son went with my husband, which was nice because then he asked the questions on behalf of his dad, and if he struggled he was there

Yeah, did you ever feel any differences or similarities to other parents, being that you are of a different cultural background?

I felt different. I definitely felt different, in the sense that 'how will the teacher communicate with me?' compared to a White, English mother or parent. I thought they would see me differently, definitely see me differently

Mmm. Did you ever feel they treated you differently?

Erm, er I think with the incident with my son... I think she viewed people the way she wanted to view them. At that particular time, I thought... she opened my eyes actually, that, you know... she viewed me as somebody different... you know... lower than her... that I didn't know anything. And I felt as though I was brainless. I know I didn't say much and I didn't speak much but I was really shocked and it was an eye opener. I thought, next time I go to parents' evening I want to know the teacher. It's always nice to know, because I always listen to my children when they come home and say they don't like a teacher or that they can't control the class... You know, I hear it all. And I try and listen to them because I think it's quite important

They know they can speak to you

Exactly. And sometimes I hear my youngest, when they were both at the same high school, talking to her brother about it and asking him. I pick things up because he doesn't speak about anything

Interview 5

So I really want to know a bit about you and your family. Where were you born?

I was born in Pakistan. But we came here when I was still little

To what level is your education?

I have a diploma in childcare and a diploma in counselling, which is in between a degree and A Levels

Okay

I've also got a certificate in adult education, but that's years old

And do you have any children?

I've got one son

And to what level is his education?

A Levels

Is he planning on going on to university?

He is, he has been working but is applying for universities at the moment

Right okay. I want to take you back to when he was at primary school, and even before. Did he go to nursery?

He went to part-time nursery

And then obviously into reception and so on... can you remember the process of getting him into school? How was that for you?

It was very easy, not back then it wasn't too hard. It was harder when it came high school. He didn't get into the high school he wanted to, because it wasn't in the catchment area but primary education was fine

For high school did you appeal?

Yeah and I lost the appeal

How did that make you feel?

Well I think it had a massive effect on where he is today. I think if he went to the school I wanted him to go to, I think he would've gone straight on to university and I think because of that, the school he was at, didn't do anything for him. I think it had a big impact on his way of thinking and his attitude

Sorry back to primary school, I keep flitting, but when he was there, can you remember if he did many activities or anything like that?

No it's fine, well it was hard because he was quite a poorly child, so he missed quite a lot of primary education, he was in and out of hospital and what not

Oh okay

Sometimes he would be off for weeks

Can you remember, I don't know, maybe going into school for anything in particular?

Yeah loads of times. I had problems with one of his teachers... yeah... Massively, she was just a horrible bully. She was an NQT, she was newly qualified... the head teacher didn't do anything, I went in over and over again to speak to him about her. He just listened but didn't do anything about it erm and she was just a horrible bully. She was a bully to my son basically...

Aw, in primary school?

In primary school... she was horrible. I mean if you were the brightest kid in the class, and you know, a certain... you fit her tick box then you were fine but if you didn't then... because if you compare my son's school photographs from when he was in different classes he's bright-eyed, perky, he's got a smile on his face... the picture in her class... erm he just looks terrible, he looks sad and like he's gonna cry. He was only 6 or 7... I should've fought harder for I, but it was hard

Did you try to speak to her?

Yeah, yeah... but no she was a bully to me as well, she was horrible

Did you think it was for a certain reason?

To be honest, I don't know... one of the problems was... there was a reading scheme he was on and in one of the books, there was a character and the character was a pig. Erm, he was just over and over, on the same book all the time. All he was doing was just reading about pigs all the time and it just got a bit tiresome. It just was like... isn't there anything else other than pigs? You know?

Yeah of course

Isn't there anything else he can progress to? And erm, I spoke to her and she said 'if he doesn't read this he's not gonna learn to read' you know, basically saying that if he didn't read that he can just pack up and go home, it was that book or nothing. The head teacher was no good as well, it just got... really angry and drained about the whole situation. I was really upset about it, because it was like pig, pig, pig all the way through I know what you mean, being muslim... I would never even say that word I would be too scared so I would spell it out. As a kid, you think you're doing something really wrong. She should've been more sensitive really

She just wasn't culturally sensitive at all. I wish I had been stronger and stood up to her now but it's hindsight. She was his form tutor and because it was a one form entry it would've meant him moving to another school and I didn't really want that, to upheave him. She was just horrible

Not good memories with her

No

Did you erm, feel like any of the other teachers were culturally insensitive or was it just her?

No, it was just her, everything else was fine. I was a governor at that school and it put me in a really difficult situation because I didn't want to be seen to be pulling rank or anything, erm, but I think... if I remember rightly there were other murmurs of parents not being happy with the way she was. She was just ignorant and it was an issue with her rather than the entire school or other teachers. I think even the head teacher was scared of her. I've never actually asked my son about it now that he's all grown up, I don't know... I might ask him but I might not because I don't wanna rake all that up for him

Yeah... Being a governor, was that just in primary school?

Just in primary school yeah

What were your motives going in for that?

Just to support the school... because I went there, it was mine and my brother's primary school and then my son went there and you know, it's a lovely school so I wanted to support the school

Yeah, can you remember the system with homework?

Yeah, yeah I mean it was a decent amount. I reckon it was alright, yeah

Have you been back to Pakistan at all?

No, prior to 2003, before that I used to go all the time. But then I got married again, second time, erm and after that I only went back one and it was 2005 and I haven't been back since. But to be honest with you I don't really wanna go, I don't fancy it and I used to love going every year and seeing family and doing things

Have you got much family there?

I have yeah, but it's just not the same anymore

No I can understand that... Was your son's education particularly important to you?

Oh it was top priority for me, it was really top priority for me... But unfortunately, I think as the years progressed, partly due to his illnesses, he wasn't that academically inclined. He struggled a lot at school and I think, you know I even got him a maths tutor and tried to support him as much as possible but he just didn't seem to catch up with the other kids, erm and it was really hard, and looking back, you know, you do think 'oh I could've done things differently and I could've supported him in this way'.

Yeah

After primary the school he went too.. it was the worst thing ever for him. He was this close to slipping off the rails and maybe going into bad company, but he was always a good boy. He didn't really do anything bad bad. And then he left high school with only 1 GCSE, it was terrible, and not wanting to do A Levels or go to university or anything. But then college basically kind of saved his life at that point.

Oh right

They took him on and he basically started from scratch. It took him two years to do his GCSE's there and it was a massive jump to A Level, which he managed to do. He was actually one of the oldest pupils to leave there, he was 19/20 when he left. He was totally burnt out after that, because he was there about 4 years

Yeah

Because obviously they don't normally keep kids on that long, but they were great with him

That's really good

And they said they'll keep him

Did you go in and sort that out for him?

Yeah, yeah... I mean towards the end he was losing interest. We had to drag him through A Levels

Did he pass them?

He did, I can't remember what he got but he got there in the end

Back to high school briefly, you know you said he was close to going off the rails... did you find yourself having to go into school much?

Not that much, no. He didn't get into trouble, trouble. There was one blip but apart from that one blip I had to go in for, he was alright. He didn't really hang out with the bad bad boys

Yeah

But there was a lot of peer pressure going on

No of course and it's really hard to steer clear of that, because then they might seem like the outcast. With the blip... did you find yourself really involved in sorting it out?

Yeah no me and my husband went in and sorted it out

Yeah... what were the teachers like?

Yeah they were great, the deputy was really good and erm yeah it was resolved

That's good, he must know he can rely on you

Yeah and come to me... and he does

Even now that he's older?

Yeah... We're close because obviously I was a single parent for a long time, until he was 11/12 it was just me and him

You must have a close bond then

We were very, very close and then I got married. But I didn't remarry until I got my son's approval. I said 'I'm not gonna marry him until you meet him and you like him'

Aww, yeah

And in the beginning there were a few teething problems but now my son sees my husband as his dad... that's his dad

That's nice

You know, he doesn't feel any different

Yeah, he's raised him from 11

11, yeah and my husband thinks of him as his son. He doesn't have any other children, no kids at all and he's been an amazing father. He's done a better job than I think his actual father would've ever done and they're very close, yeah

That's sweet. Do you think that helped when he was having issues at school?

Yeah, because he was in high school when I got remarried... but the thing is I wish I met my husband a bit earlier, so that he was with with my son through primary education

When he was ill and whatnot?

Yeah, so that by the time he got to high school, he could've had more of a positive influence. Because my husband comes from a very high achieving family, really high achieving... like overwhelmingly high achieving. They're all really like... dentists and lawyers and professors...

And that can be a bit daunting

Very daunting, they're all like very high achieving and my husband is one of five brothers and all his brothers are high achieving in terms of Mensa, high IQ's... so if he had been there from before high school I reckon my son would've gone straight into university... because you know, all the kids in their family go to university and it's a given. They all pass with high honours, you know...

In your opinion, do you think that going onto university is what defines success or achievement?

I really did want him to go to university straight away, I had high expectations and I really wanted him to go... My husband was the one that said 'look, university isn't for everybody'...

Yeah, even coming from his high achieving family

Yeah, he said that it just might not be for my son, he told me to look at what he's been through and he said 'if he goes to university now, it's just going to be for you, not for himself... let him decide when or if he goes'... because he said that if he did go he would get even more burnt out and come out hating everything and life... so he was like 'let him be and find his own way and he might go back to uni' and look at him now

Yeah it's never too late... I was going to ask you, when he was dealing with GCSE's, and A Levels, was your husband pushing him in the same direction you were?

Yeah, I mean my husband wasn't really familiar with the schools like I was, I knew about this college and I knew that was the place he needed to go. When he left school with literally nothing, what do you do with a child like that? It was... it was horrible. There was no way I was going to send him to some of the other colleges, because I've heard some of the stuff that goes on there and it just beggars belief... But I knew that this one was well respected because it's got discipline... you know it's a Catholic college and a lot of the Catholic values are very similar to Islam and the way we are with our families and children... some parents might disagree but that's what I see. It is a very coveted place

Mmm

So it was great for him but I just wish I'd picked a different high school for him

Yeah, how did you feel on results day?

It was sad... sad

And how did he feel? Was he expecting more?

I'm sure he was disappointed, but he was just knackered... and he couldn't wait to get out of there

Yeah the school has a massive effect

But college was great for him, there was a lot more freedom and flexibility with his lessons and things but there were a few teachers there he didn't get along with. But we would go in for meetings and talk through any issues that he had with anyone...

Yeah

There was one teacher that he didn't get on with and it was hard but you know, we went in and spoke to his other teachers and tried to find strategies to deal with it

Right, okay

But again, towards the end he just couldn't wait to get out, he had had enough. But this particular teacher that he didn't get along with had had a stroke... and he'd come back to work after having a stroke, but he had a speech impairment. It was the teacher that was probably getting frustrated with himself because he couldn't talk properly and it was, you know, it's nice for the college to take him back but I think my son just probably didn't know how to deal with that. The teacher just couldn't talk properly, I was finding it difficult to understand him, so yeah it was a challenging time for him

Yeah, I can imagine... so when you looked at your son from a young age, what did you want him to be?

Erm, I think the usual Asian dream... Doctor... Lawyer *laughs* solicitor *laughs*

Laughs

Yeah, just... just... I wanted him to be happy and achieve high.

Yeah, besides education, did you have any other desires for him?

I think because he was erm quite a poorly child from an early age I just wanted him to be healthy, I wanted him to be well and enjoy life without having to worry about you know his illness and be able to lead a normal life like other kids... just what other kids take for normal, just for him to be normal so that was my aspiration and anything else was a plus really. He did have his struggles

Yeah

But when he left college, he really came into himself. He changed a lot for the better

Scenario 1 - Participant 1

I was stunned. I didn't know how to react. I thought of so many things I could've said, once I got home. But in the moment, the way the she was speaking to me, I felt lower than her... I felt brainless. It was parents' evening for an 8-year-old. She didn't show me any evidence, classwork or targets to back up her complaints that my son was disruptive and not doing well at school. I didn't have the heart to tell my son all the negative and unhelpful comments his teacher had made. I told him he was doing great. What else do you say to a little boy, so excited to know what his teacher had said about him? He would've been devastated.

What are your feelings about that scenario?

Erm, gosh... If it was me I would've bombarded her with questions really

Yeah

Where's his progress report? Where's the evidence? What actions have you taken and why am I only being told now? You can't just throw a bombshell on someone now that they've come to see you. How am I involved? If he's so disruptive... what are the reasons for it? What have you tried? You know...

How does it make you feel knowing that she felt so low and 'brainless'?

Well angry, really, because it sounds as if the teacher had made their mind up as to how they were going to approach this and not give a fair chance

And have you ever experienced anything like that?

No, love... (laughs)

You say it how it is; you wouldn't have tolerated that!

No I wouldn't, and I think sometimes, my personal view is that, sometimes they use parents as dummies and act like we don't know. Teachers have a power complex sometimes... they know it all thought don't they? And the thing is, with the Asian market, they don't always seem to think we do enough for our kids anyway. They already have the perception in their minds, yeah

How else would you react in this situation, aside from what you've already told me?

I'd probably want to speak to the head teacher if they were around

So you think it is something worth escalating?

Oh, definitely, definitely, I would want to know more about my child and why I was treated the way that I was treated

Yeah

And for me, if that my my son, I'd be asking to see his books and for them to show me what he's done. If he's not achieving anything then you're not doing your job right

What would your advice be to a mother in this situation?

Several things. Challenge the way the teacher put things across. Ask them when they tried to contact me. When he made all these disruptions and everything, what actions did you put in place? Who knows about it? Is it just you and your class that know about it or is the head teacher aware? And if so, why wasn't I informed? What the hell is going on there?

Scenario 2 - Participant 2

They underestimated him. They had my son in the lower group, but eventually started teaching him higher level stuff. The class was moving at a slower pace than he was. The teacher said that there was no room in the higher class, so they were keeping him there. Is it a good standard of teaching if the they're teaching one student one thing, and the rest of the class another? My son was in the wrong science class. Regardless of if the class is full, if he's at that level, then he should be in there. What do I do? They didn't seem to take it seriously.

What are your feelings about that scenario?

I just don't think that is fair of the school to do, I think being around similar ability pupils would push children to work harder. It might make him lose motivation if he's not working to his full potential. It's really not fair and I wouldn't be happy either.

How would you have reacted in that scenario?

Personally, I would have asked for a meeting with the student's teacher and tutor to see if there was anything they could do. Erm, I would make sure that at home he was still pushing himself with the higher-level work and if I felt he could progress more, I would get a tutor if I had to. If a child was disruptive or not doing well they would make sure they had help and would move classes. So why is it so hard to get pupils in the right class who are doing better than others?

How does it make you feel knowing that she felt they didn't take it seriously?

It annoys me, as parents are made to feel like they don't have a say in these matters and that they are usually over-reacting. I feel like teachers can usually be dismissive of parents concerns as they are busy, but it ends up being your children who fall through the cracks as a result.

And have you ever experienced anything like that?

No, (laughs). My son had a very relaxed approach to studying and did everything last minute so the teachers were usually the ones chasing him and not the other way round. On the opposite scale my daughter was always in set one and put a lot of pressure herself to stay in those classes so wasn't a problem I had.

So do you think you would take a dismissive response?

No, it's sad but if the teachers don't have a good relationship with you or if the child doesn't speak up they tend to brush these issues away. So if a mother had a language barrier or didn't have the confidence to keep pursuing it, they don't take the issue seriously.

What else would you do?

Erm, If I didn't feel it was taken seriously I would probably take it higher up and ask

to meet the head teacher.

So you think it is worth taking further?

In my opinion, yes. The higher class being full is something head teachers have a say in. Teachers should not make parents feel like they don't have a voice that is what has happened here. At least the next time this parent has a concern the teachers will know to listen.

Okay...

I think it's important for parents to feel important and not undermined with their child's education.

What would your advice be to a mother in this situation?

Erm (pauses) even though I haven't been through it myself I would say to this mother to chase it. Ask the teacher what they have done, have they asked the higher class if they have space? Have they highlighted the issue to the head of year? Ask her to keep it in writing and chase a result. I would recommend getting it in writing so they know you would take it higher up if you have to. Make sure you keep regular contact?

Scenario 3 - Participant 3

She was one grade off being accepted into her preferred choice of sixth form. They wouldn't let her in. They just went "no". It was so negative. I don't know what they said to her. I don't know what happened. She was really deflated when she came back. It completely brought her down. She wouldn't talk, locked herself away for two days. All of a sudden she didn't want to go to university. I don't know what they did to her that knocked her so badly. It took my whole family to convince my daughter to carry on her education beyond her GCSEs.

So how does that story make you feel?

Well, just deflated, you know, for the girl. And just disappointed with the school system. They hadn't really done enough, they could have done something for her and given some career advice and helped. You know, there's so much out there. I know not everything is possible at the same school, but they could have given advice. They have careers advisors on school site at times like this, they should have given her the advice. And maybe the mum should've gone with her daughter

Yeah, she said that at first her daughter just wanted to go with her friends, but as soon as she came back and they realised what had happened she got involved and went with her to try and get into college and what not. Have you ever experienced anything similar?

Erm, let me think... No, not really, no.

If you can put yourself into that mother's shoes, how do you think you would have reacted in that situation?

Similar to what I've explained, I would explain to the school. How they should have given her more avenues to explore rather than to put her off everything completely and shutting her down.

Would you have escalated it as an issue to the school, or not?

It's a difficult one, unless you're in that situation you just really don't know. I would have complained about that member of staff not giving enough support. If they are there to support that young person and if they're not giving that support, I would have complained to the seniors... because they're there to help the young person progress and you know, if they haven't done that and they're negative... Alright if they can't offer the place over there but they should be able to help the young person and tell them exactly where to go and what they can do with their grades rather than what they can't

Yeah of course... what advice would you give to the mother or the daughter?

Erm, I think, go with a parent... So the parent knows the situation and exactly what's happened

Yeah... Did you always go with your children to results days?

Results days, no, no... they didn't want me to.

At that age they just want to go with their friends

Yeah they just wanted to go with their friends, so no not on the results day. But maybe these parents should have gone with the daughter when she went to find out what options she had. Parents know these days what is out there so they could have supported her better than the school did.

Scenario 4 - Participant 4

My son was in Year 2 and following a reading scheme set by the teacher. She kept him on the same book for the longest time. She was asking him to read the same story over and over and over again. He was reading it at school, he was reading it at home. The main character was a pig. The book was about pigs. Pigs, pigs, pigs. Isn't there anything else other than pigs? Another book he can progress to? You know? Why the same book over and over? I was told that if my son didn't read this book, he wasn't going to learn to read. It was the book about pigs or nothing.

I just want to know about your thoughts on the story?

Well, erm, my thought about that is that it is unfair to say that they have to go over and over and over it again because it bores children and children switch off.

Yeah, have you ever experienced anything similar to that kind of story?

Not really no, when my children were in school it was the biff and chip book and they covered a variety of stories.

This mother did express to me that she found it more uncomfortable because as a Muslim the book about pigs over and over... If you were in that situation, as a Muslim how would you feel?

I would feel the same way... if there was something going on with the school and the parent and then the scenario you just explained I would really be offended. And I would question why it was being forced to read the book over and over again. It will switch the child off and I would think that there was something going on

Do you think you would make contact with the school or the teacher if this happened to you?

Yes I would definitely I would question why this book is still in the book bag of the child and why hasn't he changed? I would see it as patronising. It would be overpowering and I don't feel that every parent would go in and confront the teacher. I think in a way she's patronising but even if she did say something the book would remain in the child's book bag for so long and would make him read it and not give another chance to move on. And that child wouldn't get the chance to explore other books which is the while point that he enjoys the reading

Yeah

This is enforcing it on the child, and bringing the child down in a way that you're not worth progressing forward until you learn the word pig. And if you are a Muslim it can be patronising.

Have you ever felt in any school that you've sent your kids to that you've been patronised?

Yes I have definitely my sons teacher at parents evening I felt really patronised and the teacher looked down on me and that I don't know anything and my child is brainless and it's pointless for him to come. I felt very patronised at one point.

If you were to give any advice to another mother who felt similar to how you felt at that parents evening, and how would they move on?

The advice that I would give, erm, and if you ever go to a parents evening, is that if you ever go to a parents evening not feeling confident speaking English or asking questions is that take someone along with you. Erm, just as a second back up and then after the meeting you feel the same way and make sure they felt the same way after the meeting.

Yeah because they aren't always translators

Yeah exactly and if you're not happy don't sit on it and think why, why, why when you come out sometimes you're not in the right frame of mind and maybe then take it up with the head teacher or the year leader. Don't drop it in a way. If it happened to your child it can happen to another child. It needs to be brought to the attention of the school that something isn't right here

Do you think in this situation it would be appropriate escalating it to the head teacher?

Definitely, I would say so it's brought to attention.

Scenario 5 – Participant 5

He went through a rough period around the time of 9/11. There was tension in school. There were remarks being made, remarks he was taking personally. The school weren't addressing the situation and the staff didn't seem to be discouraging it. In his mind, he felt he had to fight for the whole of the Muslim ummah. He threw a chair once. I was called in, because apparently my son was the one with the issue. They weren't dealing with it. They should've been looking after all the students. And they should've been fulfilling their purpose: educating.

So that's the end of the scenario. How do you feel about it?

It's interesting. To be honest, it rings true, because my son was actually around the high school age when that happened

Yeah

So, erm, we used to talk about it, when he came home, we sat down and we would talk about it and we would talk about how he felt. I think he used to keep himself out of... But it did have an impact on him and I just felt helpless really. I think everybody at that time tried to come to grips with it and understand what was happening...

Yeah

You know, the parents, the schools... the government, everybody... you know, what was happening? How to deal with it... and everything was a bit of a knee-jerk reaction. Erm and I think, like everything you just need time to settle down and reflect on it and then kind of deal with it. But you know, that kind of thing is just unprecedented really wasn't it

So did you son deal with similar issues to those in the story?

Yeah, I mean he's very calm and he just kind of internalised it, didn't talk about things, just kept it to himself and bottled it up. But if you sit with him and take the time to talk to him he will slowly open up and talk about things. He's just not the type to blurt things out straight away. I knew that there was stuff going on obviously, I kept an eye on him but it was frustrating... I think for a lot of young Muslim people they didn't really know was going on

Yeah... The boy in the story felt like he needed to defend his religion and was very very offended by what comments were being made...

...I'm sure my son was offended too, I think he just doesn't show it in a physical manner you know and throw a chair or get angry or start fights, he was just more insular and he would look at things and take things in and absorb them, erm... But now at this age when I see him getting angry it does scare me as a mother, you just want to protect them. So I am pleased he didn't get too involved in what was happening back then

The mother also said that she didn't feel as though the school handled it correctly, do you feel like the school your son went to handled it better?

2001... I'm just trying to think... he would have been in year 7. He was so young, so so young and I don't actually think he was ready for high school

Right

He was grappling with just being at high school and all of that I think. He did used to talk to his cousins about it though, it was good they had each other

How would you react if you experienced the exact same situation? How would you deal with it?

I would be very angry. I probably would've gone to school and spoken to the principle. You know, I would be very upset. But I would have to stay calm and show him how to react, and try to deal with it in a calm manner. Because if we start shouting what is it showing them? And the teachers are just gonna think it's another parents mouthing off...

The mother said that she helped to organise a boys Islamic group so they could learn more about their religion and to defend it with words instead. What do you think about that?

Oh, absolutely. I was thinking of that. I'll be honest, it's not something I would personally do. You know, I could set up a focus group, get the community and the local mosques and local councillors involved, organise community events to show solidarity and all of that stuff. But the truth is, it isn't something I thought to do at the time. Maybe because my son wasn't as badly affected by it where it was turning physical and what not. If it escalated further and got out of hand, I probably would have done those things. Also, it depends on what else is happening in your life at the time, you need the energy and the capacity to be able to do that

You were a governor at the primary school

Yeah I suppose you're right, I did that for 10 years and I feel I did put my points across and make a difference. You know, being a part of that community and encouraging other parents to do the right thing...

If you had any advice to a parent in a similar predicament, what would you say?

I would say, you know, you need to always take a deep breath and sit down and think about how you're going to tackle the situation. Being argumentative with the school isn't going to get you anywhere, and your child is going to look at you and think it's okay to behave in a similar way. Whatever you do, will make an impression on them. Just be very careful about how you do things, you know you don't want to pump up his confidence in doing things in the wrong direction. From the minute you know about something happening like this, every minute counts. You have to make sure you're doing the right thing and taking the right steps. Give him some time away from the school and the area, because peer pressure is enormous. Try to calm him down and destress him. It just depends how big the problem is really, because obviously it's not encouraged to take kids out of school during term time. But if it had the potential to explode into something massive then it's worth thinking about. I would say you just need to make sure you have a grip on your own child, you don't want the ripple effects. It's important to keep cordial relationships with the school and with other parents as well. Every parent is going to look out for their own child and that's just life.

So do you think a situation like this is worth escalating further?

Absolutely, I would take it to the top because sometimes it just doesn't get addressed when it's at a lower level. They just brush it under the carpet. I would go to the top I always do but if I can't I would go to the deputy. I wouldn't leave it at lower level, no. Teachers don't have the power, and it's something the head should know about, take on board and deal with. Especially if the harmony and peace of the school is being affected.